Republic of Iraq Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research AL- Nahrain University College of Science Department of biotechnology



# Alteration of Biochemical Immunological and Molecular Markers of Chronic Lymphocytic leukemia in Sample of Iraqi Patients

# A Dissertation

Submitted to the College of Science/ Al-Nahrain University as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctorate of Philosophy in Biotechnology

By

# Haider Sadiq Abdul Hassan Al-Dahery

B.Sc. Biotechnology/ AL-Nahrain University /2003 M.Sc. Biotechnology AL-Nahrain University / 2007

Supervised by

Dr. Saleh A. Wohaieb (Prof.) Dr. Alaa F. Alwan (Prof.)

June 2016

Ramadan 1437

مسم الله الرحمن الرحيم وَٱللَّهُ أَخْرَجَكُم مِّنْ بُطُونِ أُمَّهَا تِكُمُ لَا تَعْلَمُونِ شَيْئًا وَجَعَلَ لَكُمُ ٱلسَّمْعَ وَٱلْأَبْصَرَ وَٱلْأَفْئِدَةُ لَعَلَّكُمْ تَشْكُرُونَ ٢ حدق الله العظيم سورة النحل: (78)

Acknowlodgoments

In the Name of Allah, with Whose Name nothing on the earth or in the heaven can cause harm, and He is the All-Hearing, the All-Knowing. I begin by expressing thanks, gratitude and praises to Allah SWT for His permission, Strength and patience given to me that made it possible for me to complete this work. I also thanks a lots of people as compliance with the sayings of the Prophet Mohammad "Allah blessings and peace upon our Prophet Mohammad and his family" Said: 'Whoever, does not thank people (for their favours) has not thank Allah (Properly), Mighty and Glorious is He!', my main supervisor,

# Prof. Dr. Saleh A. Wohaib, and Co-Supervisor, Prof. Dr. Alaa F. Alwan.

I wish to specially thank my beloved wife for her continuous support, patience and care the family while I have been away and busy with this study.

Finally yet importantly, I would like to offer warm and sincere thanks to my parents, and all my family. Thanks also to all postgraduate friends and all of those who supported me in any respect throughout this research.

Haider

#### Summary

Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (CLL) is a monoclonal malignancy characterized by an accumulation of small and mature looking B lymphocytes in the blood, bone marrow and other tissues. The Blymphocytes developed in a wrong way lead to an immune disorder, and are typically characterized by expression of some of CD markers as (CD5,CD38 and ZAP-70) determined by immunophenotyping. The aim of this study was to investigate the extent to which immunological, biochemical, and molecular parameters are altered in CLL patients, and the potential of applying these alterations as biomarkers for CLL in Iraqi patients.

This study was conducted on randomly selected 55 CLL patients referred to the National Center for Blood Diseases, AL-Mustansiyria University for evaluation and treatment during the period extending from Oct. 2013 to Sept. 2015. CLL patients included 18 newly diagnosed untreated patients (12 males and 6 females), with a mean age of  $55\pm12$  yr and age range of(40-80)yr. According to the Binet staging system for CLL, 10 of these patients were in stage B and 8 in stage C. Besides, this study includes 37 already diagnosed CLL patients who are currently receiving treatment. They included 28 males and 9 females, with a mean age of  $57\pm9$  yr and on age range of 45-71 yr. Twenty three 23 patients of this group were in stage B and 14 patients in stage C. Nineteen apparently healthy subjects were also involved in this study. They included 9 males and 10 females, with a mean age of  $61 \pm 17$  yr. and an age range of 30-90 yr.

A Complete peripheral blood picture examination in the untreated newly diagnosed CLL patients revealed absolute lymphocytosis, mild anemia, decreased platelet count and elevated ESR level as compared to controls. A Follow-up analysis of the data obtained from those patients in response to combination therapy (rituximab, fludaribine, cyclophosphamide(RFC)) for 1-8 months (median 4.5 months) normalized WBC, and Lymphocytes counts and anemia, but failed to correct the lowered platelet counts or the elevated ESR values.

The significant biochemical changes observed in the untreated CLL patients were those of slight elevations of albumin and uric acid levels, which were not corrected by RFC therapy. Nevertheless, these values remained within the reference values. Serum levels of the major antioxidant, glutathione (GSH) showed a significant decline and serum levels of malondialdehyde (MDA) were significantly elevated in untreated CLL patients. RFC therapy failed to normalize these values, suggesting the presence of sustained increased endogenous oxidative stress in CLL patients.

Furthermore, five out of the (18) (27.8%) newly diagnosed CLL patients were diabetic, and showed hyperglycemia and elevated HbA1c levels.

The immunological profile of the newly diagnosed CLL patients revealed the presence of increased expression of CD5, CD 38, and ZAP-70. Similarly, the levels of IL-6 and IL-10 were elevated in the serum of untreated CLL patients. RFC therapy managed to normalize only the expression of ZAP-70.

Real Time-PCR results showed the presence of mutated in immunoglobulin heavy-chain variable region (IgVH) in 3 out of 8 untreated and 4 out of 8 treated CLL patients, while healthy controls did not show any mutation in IgVH.

Another 37 old CLL patients who were previously diagnosed and received therapy for a range of 4 months to 8.5 years (median 21.5 months) showed comparable results to those obtained after a median 4.5 months of RFC therapy. Furthermore, 11 out of 37 (29.7%) old treated CLL patients were diabetic and showed hyperglycemia and elevated

iv

HbA1c levels compared to euglycemic old treated patients and control subjects.

In conclusion, CLL patients of the present study showed various immunological, biochemical, and molecular changes. The interesting finding that 16out of 55 CLL patients (i.e. 29%) had hyperglycemia and elevated HbA1c levels deserves further studies to assess its clinical significance and whether or not it may be utilized as a potential risk factor for the incidence of CLL in Iraqi patients.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Subject	Page
List of Abbreviations	i
Summary	iii
List of Contents	vi
List of Figures	xiv
List of Tables	xvi
Chapter 1: Introduction and Literature Review	V
1 Introduction	2
<b>1.1</b> Objectives of the study	4
<b>1.2</b> Literature Review	5
<b>1.2.1</b> Definition of Chronic Lymphoid Leukemia (CLL)	5
<b>1.2.3</b> Etiology and Pathogenesis	5
<b>1.2.4</b> Pathophysiology of malignant B-cell CLL	6
1.2.5 Staging systems for CLL	10
<b>1.2.6</b> Complications of CLL	10
1.2.6.1 Autoimmunity	10
1.2.6.2 Infectious complications	11
1.2.7 Biomarkers for CLL	11
<b>1.3</b> Flow cytometry immunophenotyping (FCI)	11

1.4	Alteration in the immune system in CLL:	12
1.4.1	CD-5	13
1.4.2	CD-38	14
1.4.3	70-kDa zeta-associated protein(ZAP-70)	15
1.4.4	Cytokines in CLL	15
1.4.4.	1 Interleukin-6 (IL-6)	16
1.4.4.2	<b>2</b> Interleukin-10	16
1.5	Oxidative Stress (OS) in CLL	17
1.5.1	Alteration in tissue antioxidant defense mechanism	19
1.5.1.	I Glutathione(GSH)	19
1.5.1.2	2 lipid peroxidation	20
1.6	Biochemical changes in CLL	21
1.6.1	Liver function in CLL	21
1.6.2	Renal function in CLL	22
1.7	Genetics of CLL	23
1.7.1	IGHV.	23
1.7.2	Molecular investigation by Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)	24
1.8	Treatment of CLL	24
1.9	Remission and Minimal Residual Disease	26
	Chapter 2 : Subjects, Materials and Methods	J L

2.1	Subjects:	28
2.1.1	Research protocol: (Case- control study)	29
2.1.2	Studied Parameters in the present protocol:	31
2.2	Materials	31
2.2.1	Apparatus	31
2.2.2	Chemicals	32
2.3	Methods	33
2.3.1	Blood sample collection:	33
2.3.2	Measurement Hemoglobin,PCV, White Blood cell, Red Blood Cell, and Platelets.	32
2.4	Measurement of biochemical profiles:	35
2.4.1	Determination of Fasting Blood Glucose (DiaSys, Germany)	35
2.4.1.1	Principle of the assay	35
2.4.1.2	Blood glucose assay procedure:	35
2.4.1.3	Calculation of the results	36
2.4.2	HbA1c Determination. (Bio-Rad D-10 <sup>TM</sup> Dual)	36
2.4.2.1	principle of operation	36
2.4.2.3	B HbA1c assay procedure:	36
2.4.3	Determination of Cholesterol Total	37
2.4.3.1	principle of the assay	37
2.4.3.2	Cholesterol Total assay procedure:	37

<b>2.4.3.3</b> Calculation of the results	37
<b>2.4.4</b> Determination of Ttriglycerides (DIALAB, Austria)	38
2.4.4.1 Principle of the assay	38
<b>2.4.4.2</b> Triglycerides assay procedure:	38
<b>2.4.4.3</b> Calculation of the results	38
<b>2.4.5</b> Determination of Urea (GLOBE Italy)	39
2.4.5.1 Principle of the assay	39
2.4.5.2 Urea assay procedure:	39
<b>2.4.5.3</b> Calculation of the results	40
<b>2.4.6</b> Determination of Creatinine (DIALAB, Austria)	40
2.46.1 principle of assay	40
<b>2.4.6.2</b> Creatinine assay procedure:	41
<b>2.4.6.3</b> Calculation of the results	41
<b>2.4.7</b> Determination of AST (Aspartate aminotransferase)	41
2.4.7.1 Principle of the assay	41
2.4.7.2 AST assay procedure Bireagent procedure:	42
2.4.7.3 Calculation of the results	42
2.4.8 Determination of ALT (Alanine Aminotransfera	as <b>42</b>
2.4.8.1 Principle of the assay	42
<b>2.4.8.2</b> ALT assay Bireagent procedure:	42

2.4.8.3 Calculation of the results	43
<b>2.4.9</b> Determination of Total bilirubin (DIALAB, Austria)	43
<b>2.4.9.1</b> Principle of the assay	43
<b>2.4.9.2</b> Total bilirubin assay procedure:	43
<b>2.4.9.3</b> Calculation of the results	44
<b>2.4.10</b> Determination of Albumin (GLOBE Italy)	44
<b>2.4.10.1</b> Principle of the assay	44
<b>2.4.10.2</b> Serum Albumin assay procedure:	44
<b>2.4.10.3</b> Calculation of the results	45
<b>2.4.11</b> Determination of uric acid (DIALAB, Austria)	45
<b>2.4.11.1</b> Principle of the assay	45
<b>2.4.11.2</b> Uric acid assay procedure:	45
<b>2.4.11.3</b> Calculation of the results	46
<b>2.5</b> Antioxidant enzymes	46
<b>2.5.1</b> Glutathione (GSH) (Cusabio, U.S.A.)	46
<b>2.5.1.1</b> Principle of the assay	47
2.5.1.2 Kit components for detection glutathione (GSH)	47
2.5.1.3 Preparation of Solutions	47
2.5.1.4 GSH Assay Procedure	48
2.5.1.5 Calculation of the result	49

2.5.2 Malondialdehyde (MDA)	50
2.5.2.1 Principle of the assay	50
2.5.2.2 Kit components for detection of Malondialchehyche	51
2.5.2.3 Preparation of Solutions	52
2.5.2.4 MDA Assay Procedure	52
<b>2.5.2.5</b> Calculation of the result:	53
<b>2.6</b> Immunophenotyping:	54
2.7 Interleukins	57
<b>2.7.1</b> Interleukin 6 detection (R&D Systems USA)	57
<b>2.7.1.1</b> Principle of the assay	57
<b>2.7.1.2</b> Kit components for detection Interleukin-6	57
2.7.1.3 Preparation of Solutions	58
2.7.1.4 Assay Procedure	58
2.7.1.5 Calculations	59
<b>2.7.2</b> Interleukin 10 detection (R&D Systems USA)	60
2.7.2.1 Principle of the assay	60
<b>2.7.2.2</b> Kit components for detection Interleukin-10:	61
2.7.2.3 Preparation of Solutions	61
2.7.2.4 Assay Procedure	62
2.7.2.5 Calculations:	63
2.8 Molecular study	63

2.8.1	Separation of mononuclear cells (MELTINYI BIOTEC)	63
2.8.2	Total RNA Isolation	64
2.8.3	Determination of RNA Purity and concentration	66
2.8.4	Partial IgVH Region Amplification and Sequencing	66
2.8.5	Agarose Gel Electrophoresis	68
2.8.6	DNA Sequencing	69
2.9	Statistical Analysis	69
Chapt	er 3 : Results and Discussion	
3.	Results and Discussion	71
3.1	Age, Gender and Binet stage distribution in CLL patients	71
3.1.1	Age, Gender and Binet stage	71
3.2	General features	73
3.2.1	General features in newly diagnosed CLL patients	73
3.2.1.1	Hematological profile	73
3.2.1.2	Biochemical Profile	74
3.2.1.3	Antioxidant profile	77
3.2.1.4	Immunological profile	79
3.2.1.4	.1CD Marker	79
3.2.1.4	.2 Interleukins	81

3.2.2	General futures in the treated CLL patients:	83
3.3	Molecular Profile in CLL patients	88
3.3.1	DNA Sequencing	91
3.3.2	Molecular analysis of genetic using RT-PCR	95
3.4	Evaluation of laboratory Data	95
Conclusions and Recommendations		
Ι	Conclusions	100
II	Recommendations	101
	References	104
	Appendices	130

# **List of Figures**

Subjects	Page
<b>Figure(1.1):</b> The normal development of a B lymphocyte	7
<b>Figure(1.2):</b> The assumed putative relationships between normal B-cell differentiation and B-lineage neoplasms	9
<b>Figurer(1.3):</b> Types of oxidants and antioxidants which imbalance will lead to Oxidative Stress	17
Figure (2.1): Research protocol.	30
Figure (2.2): Standard curve of total glutathione (GSH)	50
<b>Figure(2.3):</b> Standard curve of Malondialdehyde (MDA)	54
<b>Figure(2.4):</b> The forward and side scatter light signals	56
Figure(2-5): Standard curve of Interleukins-6.	60
Figure(2-6): Standard curve of IL-10.	63
<b>Figure(2-7):</b> Isolation of mononuclear cells from blood sample	64
Figure(3-1):Gender distribution of CLL patients of the current study.	72
<b>Figure(3-2):</b> The forward and side scatter light signals of the (CD5, CD38 and ZAP-70) in patients with CLL and helthy control.	79
<b>Figure(3-3):</b> Gel electrophoresis for PCR amplification of IGHV gene showing band with molecular size (240bp). Electrophoresis was performed on 1.5 % agarose gel and run with a 100-volt current for 2 hrs. Lane M:100bpladder, -ve: negative control. From 1 to 15 lane were patients and	89

control samples	
Figure(3-4): Mutated and unmutated IGVH in CLL patients and control	91
<b>Figure(3-5):</b> Sequence analysis summary of IGVH in the healthy control(IgBLAST)	92
Figure(3-6): Sequence analysis summary of IGVH in the newly diagnosed untreated CLL patients(IgBLAST)	93
<b>Figure(3-7):</b> Sequence analysis summary of IGVH in the treated CLL patients (IgBLAST)	94

## **List of Tables**

Subjects	Page
Table(2-1):   Apparatus used and their manufactures	31
Table(2-2):   Chemicals materials used in the	32
present study	
Table(2-3):   Primer   Sequence   used   for   GSTM1   deletion	67
detections.	
Table(2-4): Mixture A component	67
Table(2-5): PCR program for mixture A.	67
Table(3-1):   Age distribution of CLL patients of the present	71
study	
Table(3.2): Distribution of CLL patients according to Bin	73
staging	
Table(3-3): Hematological profile in control and newly diagnosed	74
(pretreated and treated) CLL patients: A follow	
up study.	
Table(3-4. A): Biochemical profiles in control and newly	75
diagnosed (pretreated and treated) CLL	
patients: A follow up study.	
Table(3-4.B): Fasting blood glucose and HbA1c in control, and	76
newly diagnosed CLL patients	
Table(3-5): Antioxidant profile in control , newly diagnosed	77
CLL patients: a follow up study	

<b>Table(3-6):</b> Immunological profile in control and newly diagnosed	79
(pretreated and treated) CLL patients: A follow up	
study.	
Table(3-7): Proinflammatory Cytokines in control and newly	81
diagnosed (pretreated and treated) CLL	
patients: A follow up study.	
Table(3-8): Hematological profile in control, pretreated newly	83
diagnosed and old treated CLL patients (for a	
median 21.5 months).	
Table(3-9.A): Biochemical profiles in control, pretreated newly	84
diagnosed and old treated CLL patients (for a	
median 21.5 months).	
Table(3-9.B): Fasting blood glucose and HbA1c in control,	85
Diabetic, and euglycemic old treated CLL	
patients.	
Table(3-10): Antioxidant profile in control, pretreated newly	87
diagnosed and old treated CLL patients (for a median	
21.5 months).	
Table(3-11): Immunological profile in control, pretreated newly	88
diagnosed and old treated CLL patients (for a	
median 21.5 months).	
Table(3-12): Proinflammatory Cytokines profile	88
Proinflammatory Cytokines profile in control,	
pretreated newly diagnosed and old treated CLL	
patients (for a median 21.5 months).	

AITL	Angioimmunoblastic lymphoma
AML	acute myeloblastic leukemia
АМРК	Activated monophosphate kinase
BL	Burkitt Lymphoma
classical HD,	classical Hodgkin's disease
CLL	Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia
CML	chronic myelogenous leukemia
CD	Cluster of differentiation
DCs	dendritic cells
DM	diabetics mellitus
DLBCL	Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma
dNTP	Deoxynucleotide tri phosphate
FL	Folicullar lymphoma
HL	Hodgkin's lymphoma
IFN-γ	Interferon – gamma
IL-	Interleukin
IgVH	immunoglobulin heavy-chain variable region
LMW	low molecular weight
MALT,	mucosa- associated lymphoid tissue
MCL	Mantle cell lymphoma

MF	mycosis fungoides
NCBI	National Center for Biotechnology Information
NK	Natural Killer
NHL	Non - Hodgkin's lymphoma
NF-κB	Nuclear factor- kappa B
NLPHD,	nodular lymphocytepredominant Hodgkin's disease
OS	Oxidative stress
РВ	Peripheral blood
PTCL	Peripheral T-cell lymphoma
PLL,	prolymphocytic leukaemia
RAPD	Random amplified polymorphic DNA
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
RT-PCR	Reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction
SLL	Small Lymphocytic Leukemia
Tregs	Regulatory T cells
ТМВ	TeteraMethylBenzidine
TNF-a	Tumor Necrosis Factor –alpha

## **1. INTRODUCTION**

Chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) is the most common type of leukemia in the Western world accounting for 40% of all leukemia characterized by the clonal proliferation and accumulation of Blymphocytes. It affects mainly elderly patients as the median age of diagnosis is about 72 years and the male to female ratio is 2 : 1. So far, Rai and Binet staging systems are used for predicting CLL patients' outcome. The symptoms and signs of the disease arise from a clonal excess of B- cells caused mainly by defects that prevent programmed cell death (apoptosis). Diagnosis in hematopathology depends mainly on cytomorphology and histologic features with the application of by immunophenotypic flow (FCM) analysis cytometry and immunohistochemistry (Cherie, 2004; Jurisic, et al., 2008). The overlapping morphological and immunophenotypic features of mature B-cell can be solved by flowcytometric or immunohistochemical immunophenotypic techniques. Flow cytometric Immunophenotyping has become a necessary diagnostic tool in the last 15 years (Poeta, et al., 2001; Abdel-Ghafar, et al., 2012). In addition, flow cytometry can be used to identify expression of targets for potential antibodydirected therapy and provide some prognostic information (Fiona, 2008).

Which have been established but mainly concern symptomatic CLL patients, are lymphocyte CD38 expression and CD5, presence of ZAP-70, immunoglobulin heavy (IGHV) gene mutation status, and cytogenetic profile (Rassenti, et al., 2004; Krober, et al., 2006). In symptomatic patients the presence of unmutated Ig heavy chain variable region, the presence of ZAP-70, and CD-38 expression predict worse clinical outcome (Kyrtsonis, et al., 2013).

Interleukin 2 (IL-2) and its receptors have been shown to play a central role in the mechanism controlling the growth of neoplastic B cells (Malavasi, et al., 2011). On the other hand, the leukemic cells in B-CLL can themselves express and secrete some cytokines including proinflammatory cytokines, such as TNFa (Jablonska, et al., 2005; Schulz, et al., 2011), and (IL-6) and IL-10 receptors (DiLillo, et al., 2010). IL-6 is of special interest in B-CLL, because this cytokine acts as a B-cell stimulatory factor. The production of IL- 6 *in vitro* varies significantly among patients with different stages of CLL. (Gorgun, et al., 2009).

Cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-  $\alpha$ , interleukin IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10 and interferon (IFN)- $\alpha$  have been proposed to play a role in the activation, growth and apoptosis of leukemic B-cells. (Burger, et al., 2005).

This genetic diversity of cancer cells is essential for progression of the disease (Calin, et al., 2005). On the other hand, accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) from antioxidant deficiency, mitochondrial dysfunction, inflammation, phagocytosis (myeloperoxidase activity), exogenous stress (exogenous oxidants, redox cycling agents, UV irradiation, chemicals, endotoxins, and hyperoxia) result in a state of redox imbalance known as oxidative stress. ROS alter biological macromolecules (DNA, carbohydrates, proteins, and lipids). which contributes to genomic instability. Previous analyses have demonstrated an impairment in the antioxidant defense system and an enhancement in the damaged DNA base 8-oxo-2deoxyguanosine (8-oxo-dG) in both the preleukemic state of monoclonal B-cell lymphocytosis and CLL(Oltra, et al., 2001; Collado, et al., 2012).

Immune cell functions are linked to ROS production and antioxidant defense. Therefore, antioxidant deficiency can be one cause of immune function suppression, affecting both innate T-cell-mediated immune response and adaptive antibody response. Tumor lysis syndrome was observed in some CLL patients (Hileman, et al., 2001). Tumor lysis syndrome is characterized by a series of metabolic disorders induced by rapid tumor cell death and release of toxic cellular contents into circulation. It is defined by abnormal elevation in serum uric acid, potassium, phosphate and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), leading to serious complications such as neurological abnormalities, kidney damage, cardiovascular events, and potentially death (Tiu, et al., 2007; Tosi, et al., 2008; Blum, et al., 2011). Tumor lysis syndrome is typically rare in CLL (Cheson, 2009; Gertz, 2010).

## **1.1 Objectives of the study:**

- a) Assessment of hematological and biochemical profile in CLL patients and healthy subjects.
- b) Assessment of lymphocytes immunophenotyping (CD5, CD38, and ZAP-70) using flow cytometry.
- c) Estimation of serum proinflammatory cytokines (IL-6/IL-10).
- d) Assessment Of antioxidant defense mechanisms in serum of CLL patients and healthy subjects such as glutathione (GSH), and malondialdehyde (MDA).
- e) Determination of IGHV mutational status using Rt-PCR and DNA sequencing.
- f) Assessment of glycemic evaluation in CLL patients.

### **1.2 Literature Review**

#### 1.2.1 Definition of Chronic Lymphoid Leukemia (CLL)

Chronic lymphocytic leukemia is a disease in which mature lymphocytes become cancerous and gradually replace normal cells as functionally incompetent lymphocytes in the blood, bone marrow, liver, spleen and lymph nodes as a result of prolonged lifespan with impairment of normal apoptosis in CLL due to over expression of the Bcl-2 gene product, which is an anti-apoptotic protein. (Poeta, et al., 2001; Mir, et al; 2013). CLL is the most common type of leukemia in North America and Europe. It is rare in Japan and Southeast Asia, which indicates that heredity plays some role in its development (Wierda, et al., 2007). CLL is characterized by the progressive accumulation of mature, monoclonal CD5+ CD19+ CD23+ B lymphocytes in the peripheral blood, lymph nodes, spleen and bone marrow (Chiorazzi, et al., 2005). CLL cells can present with absence of mutations in the immunoglobulin variable region genes (IgVH) and can over-express zeta-chain TCR-associated protein kinase 70 kD (ZAP-70) which both are correlated with the aggressiveness of the disease (Burger, et al., 2009). The common chromosome abnormalities with CLL patients are deletion of 13q14, trisomy 12, deletions at 11q22-q23, NOTCH1 and structural abnormality of 17p involving the p53 gene (Dohner, et al : 2000; Pospisilova, et al: 2012).

#### 1.2.3 Etiology and Pathogenesis

One study noted an increase in CLL in some rural communities, suggesting that an environmental agent(s) associated with farming plays a role (Zent, et al, 2008). However, other studies found that the incidence of CLL apparently was not associated with exposure to

pesticides, sunlight, ionizing radiation, or known carcinogens (Byrd, et al.,2014). Also, a few studies noted an increase in CLL among persons chronically exposed to electromagnetic fields. Some studies found a relatively high prevalence of infection with type C hepatitis virus (HCV) in patients with CLL compared with that of the general population, suggesting a possible pathogenic role. Women noted a nonsignificant trend toward reduced risk of this leukemia with increasing parity, prompting speculation that pregnancy lowers the risk for CLL. However, hormones have not been demonstrated to play any role in the development of this disease (Lichtman, et al., 2007).

Recent data suggest that familial CLL may more commonly show somatic hypermutation of the immunoglobulin heavy-chain variable region, suggesting a more indolent disease course. Monoclonal B-cell lymphocytosis (MBL) has been identified recently as a likely precursor to CLL (Brown, et al; 2008).

#### 1.2.4 Pathophysiology of malignant B-cell CLL

Basically tumorigenesis is a multi-step pathway but the earliest events in lymphoid neoplasia are difficult to recognize, although histological progression is a well-recognized feature of many lymphoid neoplasms. No"benign neoplasms" in the lymphoid system had been recognized, and this is a fact that may be related to the propensity of lymphoid cells to circulate or home, and not remain confined to a single anatomic site (Muller. et al., 2001).

These naive B cells undergo clonal expansion in germinal centers (GCs) which are found in the cortex of lymph nodes (Küppers, 2004; Swerdlow, et al., 2008). In the lymph node GC, the immunoglobulin genes are further modified by somatic hypermutation, a process by

which cells undergo rapid mutations and class- switch recombination (Jaffe, 2009; Swerdlow, et al., 2008).



# Figure(1.1) The normal development of a B lymphocyte (Estella, et al., 2007).

A diagrammatic representation of the journey of the normal B-cell from the bone marrow to the lymph node crossing peripheral blood and its evolution is shown in (figure 1.1) demonstrating a haemopoietic stem cell in the bone marrow which gives rise to a B-cell precursor and then to a naive B cell which migrates either to secondary lymphoid tissues such as a lymph node primary follicle or medulla. If the B cell is presented with antigen by a dendritic cell or macrophage, further development occurs. A naive (IgM- or IgD-expressing) B cell in the primary follicle responds to antigen by class switching and migration to the mantle zone (Dooley, et al., 2006). The mantle zone B cell then migrates back into the germinal centre and transforms to a centroblast and then a centrocyte within what is now a secondary follicle containing a germinal centre (Merbl, et al., 2007). These germinal centre cells undergo somatic hypermutation before migrating to the marginal zone and then the blood stream. Postgerminal centre B cells become memory cells in blood or tissues or plasma cells in tissues. Tumors corresponding to almost all stages of B-cell development have been found in humans. Most lymphoid tumors have gene rearrangements characteristic of the cell type from which they arose (Swerdlow, et al., 2008).

Consequently, all mature B-cell lymphomas have rearranged immunoglobulin genes and usually express (surface or cytoplasmic) immunoglobulins. They represent the malignant tranformations of cells that were able to recognize antigen via their B-cell receptors (Swerdlow, et al., 2008).

Somatic hypermutations of the immunoglobulin genes occur in the germinal center, lymphomas carrying mutated IGHV genes are regarded as germinal center or post- germinal center neoplasms whereas lymphomas without IGHV mutations represent the pregerminal center neoplasms. Likewise, IGH class switching is a typical germinal center process so that lymphomas that express IgG are considered to stem from B cells that have already passed the germinal center (Kantor, et al., 1997).

The assumed relationships between normal B-cell differentiation and B lineage neoplasms is demonstrated in figure (1.2) showing the malignant B-cells neoplasms with their normal counter-part B-cells during their evolution.



# Figure (1.2) The assumed putative relationships between normal B-cell differentiation and B-lineage neoplasms (Estella, et al., 2007).

The specificity of cytogenetic aberrations nowadays is a key feature in mantle cell lymphoma, Burkitt lymphoma and follicular lymphoma (Chaganti, et al., 2004). Chromosomal abnormalities, along with immunophenotypic data, have helped define and categorize CLL (Chaganti, et al., 2004). Immunophenotypic data are frequently included to improve the diagnostic specificity (Jaffe, 2009). Nevertheless, currently immunophenotypic is the defining diagnostic future in CLL only (Jaffe, 2009).

#### 1.2.5 Staging systems for CLL

The two widely accepted systems are those of Rai (1975) and Binet (1981).

Rai's staging system takes the view that CLL cells accumulate first in the blood and bone marrow, then in lymph nodes and spleen, finally leading to bone marrow failure. The chances of a patient surviving will depend largely on the stage at which he or she presents to the physician 's attention. This is used more often in the United States.

Binet system: this is used more widely in Europe (Catovsky, et. al., 2011).

Binet staging system: This divides CLL into 3 stages (Binet, 1981):

- 1- Binet stage A: Fewer than 3 areas of lymphoid tissue are enlarged, with no anemia or thrombocytopenia.
- 2- Binet stage B: 3 or more areas of lymphoid tissue are enlarged, with no anemia or thrombocytopenia.
- 3- Binet stage C: Anemia and/or thrombocytopenia are present.

## **1.2.6** Complications of CLL

#### 1.2.6.1 Autoimmunity

Autoimmune complications are well recognized in CLL, occurring in 10% to 25% of patients at some time during their disease course. Autoimmunity in CLL predominantly targets blood constituents, and autoimmune hemolytic anemia is the most common form of autoimmune disorder. Auto-antibodies in CLL are polyclonal and differ in specificity and isotype from the immunoglobulins secreted directly by CLL cells (Dearden, 2008).

#### **1.2.6.2 Infectious complications**

Infections continue to be one of the major causes of morbidity and mortality in patients with CLL. Organisms causing infections to CLL patients are changing from common bacterial organisms to less common opportunistic pathogens such as Pneumocystis, Listeria, mycobacteria, herpesviruses, and Candida (Wadhwa, 2006)

#### 1.2.7 Biomarkers for CLL

Biomarkers for CLL range from general markers that are measured in serum or blood, to protein markers detectable using flow cytometry. Biomarkers can aid in prognostication and therapy selection (Hallek, et al., 2008). Two of the most reliable molecular prognostic markers, both of which are offered in routine diagnostics, are the immunoglobulin heavy chain variable (IGHV) gene mutational status (FISH) and fluorescence *in situ* hybridization detection of prognostically relevant genomic aberrations (e.g. 11q-, 13q-, +12 and 17p-). In addition to these markers, a myriad of additional biomarkers have been postulated as potential prognosticators in CLL, on the protein (e.g. CD38, ZAP70, TCL1), the RNA (e.g. LPL, CLLU1, micro-RNAs) and the genomic (e.g. *TP53*, NOTCH1, SF3B1 and BIRC3 mutations) level (Bain, 2010).

## 1.3 Flow cytometry immunophenotyping (FCI)

Flow cytometry immunophenotyping (FCI) evaluates individual cells in suspension for the presence and absence of specific antigens (phenotype) (Fiona, 2008). The currently used FCI are new multicolor (detecting many CD markers inside and on the surface of the same single malignant cell) and multiparametric (combining studying many physical characters of cell size and granularity alongside the multiple CD marker). Flow cytometry remains an indispensable tool for the diagnosis, classification, staging, and monitoring of hematologic neoplasms (Jurisic, et al., 2008). Flow cytometry analysis requires the identification of the cells population of interest by gating, a process by which events (cells) are electronically selected based on predefined criteria. Gating may be based on light scatter and/or fluorescence (i.e. antigen expression such as CD45) (Pettitt, et al., 2012). Interpretation of antigen expression by these gated events is generally performed manually, operator-guided and interactive, and, as such, is highly subjective (Pettitt, et al., 2012). Flow cytometric immunophenotyping is a useful tool in diagnostic hematopathology. Various types of specimens are suitable for Flow cytometric immunophenotyping which include peripheral blood, bone marrow, aspirates, and core biopsies, and all types of blood fluids (Jurisic, et al., 2008).

Flow cytometry immunophenotyping studies can recognize CLL which is similar in immunophenotype to normal mature lymphoid cells (surface immunoglobulin on mature B cells) and lack of antigenic features of immaturity, such as expression of CD34 or weak intensity staining for CD45 (Matutes, 2000). Furthermore, FCI can be used to identify expression of targets for potential antibody-directed therapy and provide some additional prognostic information such as CD38 and ZAP-70 expression in CLL (Zent, 2010).

## 1.4 Alteration in the immune system in CLL:

CLL is not a static disease that results simply from accumulation of long-lived lymphocytes but is rather likely to be a dynamic integrative process composed of cells that proliferate and die albeit at reduced levels compared to normal cells (Chiorazzi and Ferrarini, 2006). The microenvironment is necessary and/or plays a pivotal role in maintaining the enhanced survival of CLL cells *in vivo*. Human bone marrow stromal cells (BMSC) have been demonstrated to support the survival of CLL cells when both cell types were co-cultured *in vitro* (Panayiotidis, et al., 1996; Lagneaux, et al., 1998; Kay, et al., 2007). Further investigation has suggested that CLL B-cells need to have intimate contact with BMSC in bone marrow (Lagneaux, et al 1998), T cells in lymph nodes (Kater, et al 2004), and nurse-like cells (NLC) in lymphatic tissues (Burger, et al 2000, Tsukada, et al 2002) to maintain survival. Among the adverse prognostic factors for CLL patients, accumulation of mature monoclonal CD5, CD38 (Deaglio, et al 2003, Deaglio, et al 2007), ZAP-70 expression (Chen, et al 2002), and the immunoglobulin variable heavy chain region (IGHV) mutational status (Lanham et al., 2003).

#### 1.4.1 CD-5

It is a 57 kD glycoprotein which is encoded by a gene situated on the long arm of chromosome 11(Wojciech, 2010; Ortolani, 2011). CD5 has a role as a regulator of cell death and as a receptor for pathogen associated molecular patterns. In addition to its function as an inhibitory receptor it is implicated in the proliferative response of activated T cells and in T-cell helper function (Soldevila, et al., 2011). CD-5 is expressed on most mature T lymphocytes, but not on all of them. CD-5 can be considered a T-associated antigen, but not a T-specific molecule (Simons, et al., 2013). It is expressed on the membrane of a subset of peripheral blood B lymphocytes, ranging between 17% and 25% of all B lymphocytes (Sandes, et al., 2013). CD5 is expressed either by "typical" or "atypical" B-CLL its increased expression is correlated with deletion of the long arm of chromosome

13, also it is expressed on element of B-CLL in plasmacytoid transformation (Wojciech, 2010).

#### 1.4.2 CD-38

CD38 is a 46 kD glycoprotein encoded by a gene situated on chromosome 4. CD38 is a multifunctional ectoenzyme (cyclic ADP ribosylhydrolase) widely expressed in hematopoietic cells. It plays a role in the regulation of cell activation and proliferation regulating the intracytoplasmic concentration of calcium, but it also behaves as a receptor, modulating cell to cell and cell and co-operating in transmembrane signal transmission. CD38 is expressed on different cellular types, particularly on 50% of adult bone marrow B cells and germinal center B cells. CD38 is also expressed at high levels on plasma cells. It is expressed in committed hematopoietic stem cells and other hematopoietic precursors during early differentiation and activation (Ortolani, et al., 2011; Sandes, et al., 2013).

14% to 56% cases of B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia (B-CLL) c, CD38 is expressed in at least 30% of the cells. CD38 is not generally expressed in hairy cell leukemia (HCL); however, a report exists in which in a less than 50% of cases, the antigen is expressed on at least 20% of the cells (Ortolani, et al., 2011).

In B-CLL, evaluation of CD38 antigen expression is exceedingly important, as it represents a bad prognostic indicator (Damle, 1999) and correlates with the presence of unfavorable indicators including the presence of trisomy 12, deletion of the long arm of chromosome 11 and deletion of the short arm of chromosome 17 (Athanasiadou, 2006).

#### 1.4.3 70-kDa zeta-associated protein (ZAP-70)

The zeta-chain associated protein of 70 kD (ZAP-70), an intracellular tyrosine kinase which play an important role in T-cell receptor signaling, natural killer cell activation, and early B-cell development (Schweighoffer, et al., 2003). ZAP-70 protein is not expressed in most normal mature B-cells, but is expressed in various B- and T-cell lymphomas (Wiestner, et al., 2003; Admirand, et al., 2004). ZAP-70 protein expression measured by flow cytometry was associated with unmutated immunoglobulin heavy chain variable region (IGHV) genes (Kipps, 2000; Chen, et al., 2002), a prognostic factor in CLL that participates in early B-cell differentiation (Schroeder, et al., 1994; Crespo, et al., 2003). Other studies have found that ZAP-70 is associated with enhanced signaling by the cell-surface immunoglobulin receptor in CLL B cells (Crespo, et al., 2003; Chen, et al., 2005). In a larger series of patients, Rassenti et. al., (2004) have shown that an increased expression of ZAP-70 by CLL is a more significant predictor of need for treatment than the presence of unmutated IgVH gene. Moreover, the expression of ZAP-70 appears to be constant over time.

#### 1.4.4 Cytokines in CLL

Cytokines are low molecular weight (less than 80 kD) glycoproteins produced by a number of cell types, predominantly leukocytes that regulate immunity, inflammation and hematopoiesis. They are produced from various sources during the effector phases of immune responses and regulate a number of physiological and pathological functions including innate immunity, acquired immunity and inflammatory responses (Ghosh, 2012).

The source of cytokines in CLL appears to be polyclonal B cells rather than the leukemic cells. (Lee, et al., 1998). In regard to survival,

some investigators (Kitabayash, et al., 1995) suggested that IL-6 and IL-10 prevents apoptotic death of CLL cells (Aderkaet, 1993; Reittie, et. al., 1996).

#### 1.4.4.1 Interleukin-6 (IL-6)

IL-6 is a protein of 26 kD, with 183 amino acid forming the mature protein; its coding gene located on chromosome no. 7. Interleukin-6 is a pleiotropic cytokine produced by a variety of cell types, including fibroblasts, endothelial cells, monocytes, normal hematopoietic cells, and lymphocytes. IL-6 is an IL-1 inducible and represents the best marker of biologically active IL-1 (Van, 1990; Fayad, et al., 2001).

IL-6 is of special interest in B-CLL, because this cytokine acts as a B-cell stimulatory factor (BSF-II), mediates B-cell differentiation and can stimulate the growth of B-cell lymphoid malignancies such as myeloma (Aderka, 1993). In contrast, it has been proven that IL-6 is also able to inhibit TNF-a induced proliferation of B-cells from CLL patients (Van, et al., 1993).

#### 1.4.4.2 Interleukin-10

IL-10 is a protein of 35 kD. It is produced by several T-cell subpopulations, such as Th2, NK cells, and a variety of cell types, including macrophages, dendritic cells and B cells (Banchereau et al., 2012). IL-10 production has strong immunosuppressive effects via inhibition of Th1 type cytokines, including interferon-gamma and interleukin-2. Secretion of IL-10 from Treg cells, macrophages and other leukocytes followed by subsequent binding to IL-10 receptors on macrophages and dendritic cells has been linked to a reduced antigen presentation and an increased T-cell anergy (Shalev *et al.*, 2011). Additionally, IL-10 has been demonstrated to be effective in decreasing the levels of some pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-2, IL-6,

IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-12, GM-CSF TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$ ) (Tang, et al., 2011) . IL-10 prevents apoptotic death of CLL cells, whereas others suggest that it enhances them (Flckiger, et al., 1994).

## 1.5 Oxidative Stress (OS) in CLL

Oxidative stress (OS) results when there is an imbalance between the generation of oxygen-free radicals or reactive oxygen species (ROS) and response from the antioxidant defense systems figure (1-3) (Finkel and Holbrook, 2000). Free radicals are molecules or molecular fragments that contain one or more unpaired electrons which make them highly reactive (Jones, 2008).



Figurer (1.3) Types of oxidants and antioxidants which imbalance will lead to Oxidative Stress (Finkel and Holbrook, 2000).
ROS are endogenous and exogenous factors generated by the mitochondria, (Valko, et al., 2006) that alter biological macromolecules (DNA, carbohydrates, proteins, and lipids) (Kumar, et al., 2008). Moreover, production of ROS, reactive oxygen intermediate (ROI) and reactive nitrogen intermediate (RNI) are part of human body's physiological processes (Nathan, 2003). OS additionally attenuates immune responses by leading to dysfunctions and even apoptosis of NK- and T-cells, suggesting a role in tumor immune-escape. ROSrelated lesions that do not cause cell death can stimulate the development of cancer, Alzheimer's disease, Huntington's disease, and multiple sclerosis as well as atherosclerosis, heart failure, and myocardial infarction (Poschke, et al., 2011). The interaction between growing cancer cells and the host immune response also generate OS (Renschler, 2004; Weinberg, 2009). Production of ROS, reactive oxygen intermediate (ROI) and reactive nitrogen intermediate (RNI) are part of human body's physiological processes (Nathan, 2003). The Chronic OS results from little oxidative damage which accumulates during the life cycle of the cell and subsequently disrupts essential cellular functions and triggers many cancers. OS has been recognized to play a role in CLL development and treatment response (Renschler, 2004; Weinberg, 2009).

Oxidative stress contributes to genomic instability in CLL, but its relationship with the acquisition of specific chromosomal abnormalities is unknown (Haferlach, et al., 2010; Rossi, et al., 2013). CLL cells might contribute to the cancer-associated oxidative stress (Ristow and Zarse, 2010; Kumar, et al., 2014) and malignant lymphocytes from CLL patients have been demonstrated to produce abundantly superoxide anions (Finkel, 2000). This metabolic condition is regularly seen in cancer patients and results from accumulating

reactive oxygen species (Valko, et al., 2007). The Chronic OS results from little oxidative damage which accumulates during the life cycle of the cell and subsequently disrupts essential cellular functions and triggers many cancers. OS has been recognized to play a role in CLL development and treatment response (Renschler, 2004; Weinberg, 2009). ROS-related damages in lymphocytes from patients with monoclonal B-lymphocytosis and CLL reported increased levels of oxidatively modified DNA and lipids in the sera of untreated CLL patients due to increased oxidative phosphorylation in CLL cells (Jitschin, et al., 2014.). Many chemotherapeutic drugs have been shown to exert their biologic activity through induction of OS in affected cells (Udensi and Tchounwou, 2014).

#### 1.5.1 Alteration in tissue antioxidant defense mechanism

Under normal circumstances the effect of reactive species is balanced by the antioxidant action as enzymes like superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT), glutathione peroxidase (GPx), glutathione reductase, monoamine oxidase (MAO) and non-enzymatic action as glutathione (GSH),  $\alpha$ -tocopherol, cysteine, thioredoxin, and vitamins which are acts as ROS scavengers (Halliwell, 1999; Jones, 2008). Essentially cellular functions, such as gene expression, are influenced by the balance between OS and antioxidant conditions. Antioxidant defenses are extremely important as they represent the direct removal of free radicals (pro-oxidants), providing maximal protection for biological sites (Arrigo, 1999).

#### 1.5.1.1 Glutathione (GSH)

GSH is considered to be one of the main antioxidant agents preventing damage to important cellular components caused by ROS

(Pompella et al., 2003). GSH is a tripeptide with a gamma peptide linkage between the carboxyl group of the glutamate side-chain and the amine group of cysteine (which is attached by normal peptide linkage to a glycine). Thiol groups are reducing agents. Glutathione reduces disulfide bonds formed within cytoplasmic proteins to cysteines by serving as an electron donor. In the process, glutathione is converted to its oxidized form, can be reduced back by glutathione reductase, using NADPH as an electron donor (Landry, 2013; Narciso, et al., 2013). The ratio of reduced glutathione to oxidized glutathione within cells is often used as a measure of cellular toxicity (Pompella, et al., 2003).

Patients who suffer from cancer have a significantly decreased amount of GSH in the blood and tumor, given a complete response to the treatment (Peklak-Scott, 2005; Lyakhovich, et al., 2006). Lymphocytes from acute lymphocytic leukemia and B-cell CLL patients contain decreased levels of total GSH activities; however, GSH protein expression is increased in serum from leukemia compared with that from healthy control subjects (Nishiura, et al., 1992).

#### 1.5.1.2 lipid peroxidation

Whenever a free radical interacts with another molecule, secondary radicals may be generated that can then produce yet more radical species. The classical example of such a chain reaction is lipid peroxidation, and the reaction will continue to propagate until two radicals combine to form a stable product or the radicals are neutralized by chain breaking antioxidant (Zwart, et al., 1999). These antioxidants scavenger radicals in membranes and lipoprotein particles are crucial in preventing lipid peroxidation (Esterbauer, et al., 1991). As an indicator of lipid peroxidation, malondialdehyde (MDA) is made up by free radicals during tissue damage when (ROS) degrade polyunsaturated lipids, and used in the measurement of oxidative stress (Halliwell, 2007).

A recent study evaluating ROS-related damages in lymphocytes from patients with monoclonal B-lymphocytosis and CLL reported increased levels of oxidatively modified DNA and lipids in the sera of untreated CLL patients due to increased oxidative phosphorylation in CLL cells (Jitschin, et. al., 2014).

#### 1.6 Biochemical changes in CLL

The clinical course and biology of CLL is heterogeneous; some patients die within months of diagnosis, whereas others live longer than 20 years (Rozman, 1995). The Rai and Binet staging systems help identify patients who have more advanced disease and require treatment (Rai, et al., 1975). Because most patients present with earlyor intermediate-stage disease, additional markers are needed to stratify patients who are at increased risk of disease progression with concomitant decreased survival. Although renal involvement in advanced haematological malignancies is common, glomerulonephritis associated with lymphoproliferative disorders is rare, and the related pathogenetic mechanisms are still poorly understood (Da'as, et al., 2001). CLL is more commonly associated with membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis and membranous nephropathy (Lien and Lai, 2011). Tumor lysis syndrome is typically rare in CLL (Cheson, 2009; Gertz, 2010), but its occurrence with advanced disease stage, characterized by bulky tumor burden, elevated white blood cell count and  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin, and reduced albumin level (Tosi, et al., 2008; Blum, 2011). With the increased development of targeted therapies,

Tumor lysis syndrome is becoming more prevalent and is now observed more commonly in diseases that were previously characterized as low risk for Tumor lysis syndrome, such as CLL (Cheson, 2009; Gertz, 2010).

#### **1.6.1 Liver function in CLL**

The liver may be involved in systemic diseases that mainly affect other organs. Patients with CLL often show mild to moderate liver enlargement and extensive lymphocytic infiltration in the portal tracts, with functional impairment of the liver in late stages (Schwartz and Shamsuddin 1981; Wilputte, et al., 2003). Even in the absence of liver metastasis, renal cancer causes hepatomegaly and abnormal liver function test results. Following tumor resection, however, these liver abnormalities return to normal, suggesting that the previously observed abnormalities were caused by a hepatotoxic hormone secreted from the tumor (Guevara, 2007).

#### 1.6.2 Renal function in CLL

Renal infiltration with leukaemic cells is a common finding in patients suffering with chronic lymphocytic leukaemia . CLL is characterized by a progressive accumulation of monoclonal incompetent lymphocytes and is similar to peripheral B-cell neoplasm small lymphocytic lymphoma (Yogo, et al., 2009). Acute renal failure in CLL patients can be associated with acute tubular necrosis, uric acid nephropathy, light chain nephropathy, obstructive nephropathy, amyloidosis, hypercalcemia, glomerulonephritis, and cryoglobulinemia (Boudville, et al., 2001). Though a large proportion of patients with CLL will have significant renal infiltration (60–90%), rarely does this result in renal impairment and the infiltrate characteristically spares the tubules (Barcos, et al., 1987; Blum, et al. 2011). Although the mechanism of renal failure in CLL is not clear it may be associated with intrarenal obstruction and ischemia which occurs secondary to the compression of the tubular lumen with CLL cells (Junglee, 2012). Renal involvement by CLL cells could be nodular or diffuse and may cause fibrosis in the same areas. Kidney size can be either increased or normal and proteinuria has been generally mild (Hewamana, et al., 2009).

#### **1.7 Genetics of CLL**

Development of leukemia is affected by a number of factors including environment and genetic background (DeVita, et al., 2009). CLL is a common hematological malignancy in Western countries and it is very rare in Asian countries (Rai and Keating, 2000). Furthermore, Asians including Japanese immigrants to USA continue to have a low incidence of CLL (Gale, et al., 2000; Pan, et al., 2002). Cytogenetic analyses of CLL identified chromosomal abnormalities including del11q23 affecting the ATM gene, tri12, del 13q14, and del17p13 affecting TP53 gene (Stilgenbauer, et al., 1998). In addition, gains and losses in Xp11.2-p21 and Xq21- qter (Summersgill, et al., 2002). Molecular studies on CLL identified three genes: IgVH, CD38 and ZAP-70 that correlate with CLL prognosis (Rosenwald, et al., 2001; Del Principe, et al., 2006). A CLL-specific microRNA signature was also identified, suggesting that microRNA deletion could be involved in CLL, and it is relatively intact with fewer aberrations than other types of leukemia (Calin, et al., 2005).

#### 1.7.1 IGHV.

(IGHV) somatic hypermutation of the B cell receptor (BCR) variable region is a physiological event during antigen driven maturation of B cells in secondary lymphoid tissue. It can be measured by comparing the clonal (IGHV) sequence to known germline sequences in the clinical laboratory. CLL clones that utilize an unmutated IGHV have decreased time from diagnosis to first treatment and poorer survival than those who express mutated IGHV genes (Hamblin, et al., 1999; Damle, et al., 1999; Tobin, et al., 2003). Moreover, the IGHV1encoded (IgH) expressed in CLL commonly have stereotypic motifs in the third complementarity determining region, resulting from the rearrangement and restricted reading-frame-use of certain IGHD and IGHJ gene segments (Mauro, et al., 2000; Robak, 2007; Tsimberidou, et al., 2009). The prevalent use of unmutated IGHV1 and nonstochastic pairing with light chains suggests that plays a role in the development and/or progression of CLL (Rai, et al., 1975; Binet, et al., 1981).

#### 1.7.2 Molecular investigation by Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)

The polymerase chain reaction is an *in vitro* technique which allows the amplification of a single or a few copies of a piece of DNA, and rapidly produce thousands to millions of copies of a particular DNA sequence in a matter of only few hours. The Requirements of PCR reaction are Template, Deoxy nucleotide triphosphate (dNTPS), Primers, PCR buffer and DNA polymerase, Magnesium concentration (Pherson and MØller, 2001).

In Reverse Transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) an RNA strand is first reverse transcribed into its DNA complement using the enzyme reverse transcriptase, and the resulting cDNA is amplified using traditional or real-time PCR (Hamblin, 2000; Bustin, 2002). RT-PCR is widely used in expression profiling, to determine the expression of a gene or to identify the sequence of an RNA transcript. (Troutt et al., 1992).

#### **1.8 Treatment of CLL**

The clinical course of CLL is highly diverse; some patients have indolent disease, never needing treatment, whereas others have aggressive disease, requiring treatment at initial presentation. The aim of treatment in CLL is to improve symptoms and put the disease into a remission, this requires measures to reduce the number of abnormal CLL cells in the body (Pettitt, et al., 2012). Prognostic factors, including clinical and laboratory features, have been correlated with clinical outcomes (Lobetti, et al., 2013; Cuthill, et al., 2013).

The most comman protocol used in treatment of CLL is immune chemotherapy consumed as a combination of Rituximab, Fludarabine and Cyclophosphamide (RFC). Fludarabine is the purine analogue. Cyclophosphamide is an alkylating agent. The rationale for using it in combination with fludarabine is based on the ability of fludarabine to inhibit the excision repair of DNA interstrand cross-links induced by cyclophosphamide and therefore to potentiate its cytotoxic activity in CLL cells (Yamauchi, et al., 2001). Rituximab also has the ability to down-regulate the expression of the antiapoptotic protein Bcl-2, thereby enhancing the sensitivity of CLL cells to fludarabine-induced apoptosis (Wierda, et al., 2007). R-FC is the treatment of choice for most fit people with CLL because it has been shown to result in improved survival. Chlorambucil works well in some people, especially people with a milder form of the disease, while bendamustine as an initial treatment for people with stage B or C disease who cannot have fludarabine. (Hallek, et al., 2008; Catovsky, et al., 2011; Pettitt, et al., 2012), Pentostatin has the potential advantage of being less myelosuppressive than fludarabine (Robak, et al., 2000). Rituximab combined with bendamustine (R-B), might be a useful treatment in people who are less fit and who relapse early after being treated with chlorambucil or in fitter people who cannot have R-FC because of kidney problems (Pettitt, et al., 2012).

#### **1.9 Remission and Minimal Residual Disease**

Recent therapies for CLL, such as monoclonal antibodies and stemcell transplantation, reduce CLL cells to a much lower level than previously possible. Modern techniques, such as four-color flow cytometry for the unique combination of B-CLL immunophenotypic allele-specific polymerase chain reaction for the antigens or immunoglobulin-gene rearrangement, can detect as few as a single CLL cell in 100,000 normal cells (Jurisic, et al., 2008). The ability to detect extremely low levels of CLL and to eradicate CLL to below this level allows us to address whether the lack of improved survival for purine analogs compared with alkylating agents is primarily due to lack of efficacy. The most appropriate patients in whom to address the correlation of minimal residual disease (MRD) negative remissions and survival are those with the worst prognosis (Vassilakopoulos et al. 2001). Although recent advances in our understanding of the biology of CLL, such as the adverse impact of p53 dysfunction, 17p deletions or ataxia-teleangiectasia gene mutations, germ-line immunoglobulin genes, or ZAP-70 expression, allow the identification of patients at diagnosis with a poor prognosis (Moreton and Kennedy, et al., 2005).

Chapter Two

# Subjects, Materials and Methods

### Chapter Two Subjects, Materials and Methods

#### 2.1 Subjects:

This study was conducted on 55 adult Iraqi patients referred to the National Center of Hematology, AL-Mustansiyria university for evaluation and treatment during the period extending from Oct. 2013 to Sept. 2015. They were diagnosed as having Chronic Lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) based on physical examination by a specialist, morphological assessment of peripheral blood films and bone marrow smear by aspirate (BSA) examination (in difficult cases), as well as flow cytometric immunophenotypic profile.

CLL patients included 18 newly diagnosed, untreated patients (12 males and 6 females), with a mean age of  $55\pm12$  yrs. and an age range of 40-80 yrs. According to the Binet staging system for CLL, 10 patients were in stage B and 8 in stage C. Another 37 previously diagnosed, and treated CLL patients (28 males and 9 females), with a mean age of  $57\pm9$  yrs. and an age range of 45-71 yr. Twenty three patients of this group were in stage B and 14 patients in stage C.

Five patients (2 in stage C and 3 in stage B) of the newly diagnosed untreated (5/18) group and eleven patients (7 in stage C and 4 in stage B) of the treated (11/37) group had type II diabetes mellitus with an oral hyperglycemic medication. Collectively, 16 out of the 55 CLL patients (i.e. 29.1%) reported a history of type II diabetes mellitus.

Nineteen healthy subjects were also involved in this study. They included 9 males and 10 females, with a mean age of 61±17yr. and an age range of 30-90 yrs.

Two males patient was excluded from the study. They were only patients with stage A among all patients of the present study.

The treatment given to CLL patients consist of the following combination therapy Rituximab, Fludarabine and Cyclophosphamide (RFC), Rituximab was given at 375 mg/m<sup>2</sup> on day one (or over 2 days), Fludarabine given at 30 mg/m<sup>2</sup> on day one to day three, , and Cyclophosphamide at 300 mg/m<sup>2</sup> on day one to day five (Hallek *et al.*, 2008; Catovsky *et al.*, 2011; Pettitt *et al.*, 2012).

#### 2.1.1 Research protocol: (Case-Control Study)

The effects of RFC combination therapy on the various studies parameters were followed up in the newly diagnosed untreated patients. Peripheral blood samples were obtained from these patients during their second visit to the center for evaluation of their clinical response to the initial therapy. The follow-up period range between 1-8 months, with a median of 4.5 months (mean  $\pm$ SD; 4.78 $\pm$ 2.36) months. Only 14 patients of the untreated newly diagnosed patients (14/18) managed to revisit the center.

Unlike the newly diagnosed CLL patents, the other already treated 37 CLL patients lack a pretreatment values for the current studied parameters. Instead, those patients received treatment for a period range between 4 months to 8.5 yrs. with a median of 21.5 months (mean±SD; 28.16±22.41) months. Accordingly, the obtained data served to reflect the effect of RFC therapy on the various study parameters after a median duration of 21.5 months.

Collectively, the present research protocol encompass two groups of CLL patients. First, 18 newly diagnosed patients with pre-treatment values, and followed up for a median of 4.5 months RFC therapy. Second, 37 already treated CLL patients with a median of 21.5 months of therapy; as illustrated in figure (2.1).



Figure (2.1) Research protocol (Case-Control Study).

#### **2.1.2 Studied Parameters in the present protocol:**

1- Complete Blood Picture: (conducted by the National center for blood diseases)

2- Biochemical Profile: (FBS/HbA1c, lipid profile/cholesterol, triglyceride, Blood urea, Creatinine, AST, ALT, Total bilirubin, Albumin, uric acid and Antioxidant status; Glutathione (GSH) and Malondialdehyde (MDA).

- 3- Immunological Profile:
  - A-Immunophenotyping: (CD5, CD38, and ZAP-70).
  - B- Proinflammatory Cytokines: (IL-6/IL-10).
- 4-Molecular Profile: (IGHV mutational status and DNA sequencing).

#### 2.2. Materials

#### 2.2.1: Apparatus

Apparatus used in this study are listed in table (2-1).

#### Table (2-1) Apparatus used and their manufactures

No.	Item	Company	Origin
1	Blood collection plain	AFMH	England
	tubes		
2	Blood collection plastic can	AFMH	China
	tubes		
3	Blood collection Pyrex test	AFMH	=
	tubes		
4	Cooling centrifuge	Tomy Seiko company	Japan
5	Distillator	American	USA
6	EDTA containing tubes	AFMH	England
7	Eppendorff bench	Netherland and Hinz	Germany
	centrifuge	Gbm 2000	
8	Eppendorff tube	Eppendorf	=
9	Balance	Eppendorf	II
10	Flow cytometry	Apogee	England
11	Gel electrophoresis system	Thermo	USA
12	Gel Imaging System	BioRad	=

13	Incubator	Fisher	Germany
14	Magnetic stirrer with hot	Lassco	India
	plate		
15	Microfuge	Eppendorf	Germany
16	Micropipette	Eppendorf	=
17	Microwave	Showinc	Thailand
18	NanoDrope Spectrometer	Thermo	Germany
19	Oven	Chilipison	U.K
20	Plastic syringes; 10ml	Meheco	China
21	Plastic wares	-	=
22	Rack	-	=
23	Refrigerator	Samsung	Korea
24	Spectrophotometer	Shimadzue	Japan
25	Tips	Eppendorf	China
26	Thermocycler	BioRad	USA
27	Ultra Violet Ray	Zhejiang	China
28	Vortex	Stuar Scientific	Germany
29	Volumetric cylinders	Volac	England
30	Volumetric Flasks	Volac	=
31	Water bath Memmert	Memmert	Germany
32	Vortex	Vortex 2 gene	USA
33	5- Part Differential Auto Analyzer Hematology	Convergence	Germany

#### 2.2.2 Chemicals

Chemicals used in this study are listed in table (2-2).

<b>Table (2-2)</b>	Chemicals	materials	used in	the preser	nt study
--------------------	-----------	-----------	---------	------------	----------

NO.	Item	Company	Origin
1	Absolute Ethanol	Sigma	U.S.A
2	Agarose	Promega	=
3	Albumin Kit	GLOBE	Italy
4	alkaline phosphatase (ALP) Kit	GLOBE	=
5	Creatinine Kit	DIALAB	Austria
6	Ethidium bromide	Sigma	U.S.A
7	ELISA kit for quantitative	R&D Systems	=
	determination of Interleukin 6(IL-6) in		
	serum or plasma		
8	ELISA kit for quantitative	R&D Systems	=
	determination of Interleukin 10(IL-10)		

		-	
	in serum or plasma		
9	Glucose Kit	DiaSys,	Germany
10	Normal Saline	ADWIC	U.S.A
11	Nuclease free water	Partec	Germany
12	Ficol-Histopacue	Sigma	U.S.A
13	FITC Mouse Anti_Human CD4	Partec	Germany
14	AST/AST – L Kit	DIALAB	Austria
15	ALT/ALT – L Kit	DIALAB	
16	Human Glutathione (GSH) ELISA Kit	Cusabio	U.S.A
	(cat.CSB-E09495h)		
17	Human Malondialchehyche (MDA)	Cusabio	=
	ELISA Kit (Cat.CSB-E08557h		
18	Separation of mononuclear cells	Meltinyi biotec	=
19	PE Mouse Anti_Human CD8	Partec	Germany
20	Pro. Anti_Human ZAP- 70	Cusabio	U.S.A
21	Total Cholesterol Kit	DIALAB	Austria
22	Triglycerides Kit	TECO	U.S.A
23	Urea Kit	DIALAB	Austria
24	Uric acid Kit	DIALAB	=
25	6X Loading dye	Promega	U.S.A
26	10X TAE buffer	Promega	

#### **2.3 Methods**

#### **2.3.1 Blood samples collection:**

Before blood sampling, all participants were informed about the study objectives and their consents were obtained.

Blood samples were obtained from patients and control subjects, in a fasting state, by venepuncture using a 10ml disposable syringe. Three ml of blood were obtained and dispensed in EDTA tubes and submitted to the lab. for evaluation of complete blood picture using (5- Part Differential Auto Analyzer Hematology) and measurement of HbA1c (D-10<sup>TM</sup> Dual Program Testing System). Another 3 ml were dispensed in plain tubes and left for around an hour to clot at room temperature. Then, it was centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 30 minutes to collect serum. The serum was divided into aliquots (250µl) in Eppendorff tubes and stored in the deep

freezer (-20°C) until use for measuring glutathione (GSH), and malondialdehyde (MDA), cytokines (IL-6 and IL-10) and other biochemical profiles. Another 2ml were obtained in (EDTA) tubes for the lymphocytes separation. The last 2ml of the blood sample were obtained in (EDTA) tubes was placed in a cool box and transferred to private lab for determination of lymphocyte phenotyping (expressions of CD5, CD38, and ZAP-70) using flow cytometry (Dhot *et al.*, 2003; Yaghmaie *et al*; 2008).

## 2.3.2 Measurement Hemoglobin, PCV, White Blood cell, Red Blood Cell, and Platelets.

Three ml of blood were obtained and dispensed in EDTA tubes which was submitted to the lab for complete blood count by (5- Part Differential Auto Analyzer Hematology).

#### - Principles of operation :

five-part differential Auto analyzer uses a combination of methods to provide measurement results.

✤ Volumetric impedance is used to determine the cellular concentration and volume distributions of (WBC), (RBC), and (PLT).

 Photometric measurement of light absorbance is used to determine hemoglobin concentration.

♦ Optical measurement of light scattering and diffraction is used to determine five part leukocyte (LYM.%, MON.%, NEU.%, EOS.%, and BAS.%) differential parameters.

#### 2.4 Measurement of biochemical profiles:

#### 2.4.1 Determination of Fasting Blood Glucose (DiaSys, Germany)

#### 2.4.1.1 Principle of the assay

Determination of glucose was done after enzymatic oxidation by glucose oxidase. The colorimetric indicator is quinoneimine which is generated from 4-aminoantipyrine and phenol by hydrogen peroxide under the catalytic action of peroxidase (Trinder's reaction) (Barham *et al.*, 1972).

Glucose +  $O_2 \xrightarrow{GOD}$  > Gluconic acid +  $H_2O_2$ 2  $H_2O_2$  + 4-Aminoantipyrine + Phenol <u>POD</u> > Quinoneimine + 4  $H_2O$ GOD=glucose oxidase; PDO = hydrogen peroxide.

#### 2.4.1.2 Blood glucose assay procedure:

**a.** An aliquot  $(10\mu l)$  of the serum was added to tubes containing 1ml of Reagent R, then it was mixed well and incubated at 37°C for 10 min. (sample)

**b.** An aliquot (10 $\mu$ l) of the standard was added to tubes containing 1ml of Reagent R, then it was mixed well and incubated at 37°C for 10 min (Standard)

**c.** An aliquot 1 ml of reagent R was added to the tubes and incubated at 37°C for 10 min (Blank).

**d.** The samples and standard were read at (500 nm) wavelength against the Blank. The color is stable for at least 1 hr.

#### **2.4.1.3** Calculation of the results

The concentrations (mg/dl) of Glucose tests were calculated as in the sample as follows:

Glucose [mg / dl] =  $\frac{(A)sample \ x \ 100(standard \ conc.)}{(A)standard}$ 

#### 2.4.2 HbA1c Determination. (Bio-Rad D-10<sup>TM</sup> Dual)

#### 2.4.2.1 principle of operation

The Bio-Rad D-10<sup>TM</sup> Dual Program is based on chromatographic separation of the analytes by using ion-exchange high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC).

#### 2.4.2.3 HbA1c assay procedure:

- 1- One ml of whole blood was added into EDTA tube for each patient and control.
- 2- The EDTA tube was left on the shaker for two min.
- 3- The sample tubes were loaded into the D-10 sample rack and placed in the D-10, The samples were automatically diluted on the D-10 and injected into the analytical cartridge.
- 4- The D-10 delivered a programmed buffer gradient of increasing ionic strength to the cartridge where the hemoglobins were separated based on their ionic interactions with the cartridge material.

#### 2.4.3 Determination of Cholesterol Total (DIALAB, Austria)

#### **2.4.3.1 Principle of the assay**

The measurement is based on the following enzymatic reactions:

cholesterol esters + H<sub>2</sub>0  $\xrightarrow{CHE}$  Cholesterol + fatty acids Cholesterol + O<sub>2</sub>  $\xrightarrow{CHOD}$  Cholest-4-en-3-one + H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> POD 2 H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> + hydroxybenzoate + 4-Amminoantipyridine  $\xrightarrow{POD}$  red complex + 4 H<sub>2</sub>O

#### 2.4.3.2 Cholesterol Total assay procedure:

**a.** An aliquot (10µ1) of the serum was added to tubes containing 1ml of Reagent R, then it was mixed well and incubated at 37°C for 10 min. (sample)

**b.** An aliquot  $(10\mu l)$  of the standard was added to tubes containing 1ml of Reagent R, then it was mixed well and incubated at 37°C for 10 min (Standard)

**c.** An aliquot 1 ml of reagent R was added to the tubes and incubated at 37°C for 10 min (Blank).

**d.** The samples and standard were read at (510 nm) wavelength against the Blank. The color was stable for at least 1 hr.

#### 2.4.3.3 Calculation of the results

The concentration (mg/dl) of cholesterol total tests were calculated in the samples as follows: (Bachorik, 1995)



#### 2.4.4 Determination of Ttriglycerides (DIALAB, Austria)

#### 2.4.4.1 Principle of the assay

The ddetermination of triglycerides was done after the enzymatic splitting with lipoprotein lipase. Indicator is quinoneimine generated from 4-aminoantipyrine and 4-chlorophenol by a hydrogen peroxide under the catalytic action of peroxidase.



#### 2.4.4.2 Triglycerides assay procedure:

**a.** An aliquot (10µ1) of the serum was added to tubes containing 1ml of Reagent R, then it was mixed well and incubated at 37°C for 10 min. (sample)

**b.** An aliquot  $(10\mu l)$  of the standard was added to tubes containing 1ml of Reagent R, then it was mixed well and incubated at 37°C for 10 min (Standard)

**c.** An aliquot 1 ml of reagent R was added to the tubes and incubated at 37°C for 10 min (Blank).

**d.** The samples and standard, were read at (510 nm) wavelength against the Blank. The color is stable for at least 1 hr.

#### 2.4.4.3 Calculation of the results

The concentration (mg/dl) of triglycerides tests were calculated in the samples as follow:

Triglycerides (mg/dL) =  $\frac{\text{Sample}}{\text{Standard}} \times 200$  Standard,Conc.

#### 2.4.5 Determination of Urea (GLOBE Italy)

#### 2.4.5.1 Principle of the assay

Urease hydrolyzes urea into ammonia and carbon dioxide. Glutamate dehydrogenase catalyzes the reaction of ammonia with 2ketoglutarate and oxidizes NADH into NAD+.

```
Urea + 2 H<sub>2</sub>O \frac{\text{Urease}}{2} 2 NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> + 2 HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>
2-Ketoglutarate + NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> + NADH \frac{\text{GLDH}}{2} L-Glutammate + NAD<sup>+</sup> + H<sub>2</sub>O
```

GLDH= glutamated dehydrogenase

#### 2.4.5.2 Urea assay procedure:

- **a.** An aliquot (10μl) of the serum was added to tubes containing (10μl) of Reagent A1, then it was mixed well and incubate for 5 minutes at 37 °C., then (200μl) of Reagent B was added and mixed well and incubated for 30 seconds at 37 °C, then A1 of sample was read. After precisely 60 seconds, the absorbance A2. (sample) was read.
- **b.** An aliquot  $(10\mu l)$  of the standard was added to tubes containing  $(10\mu l)$  of Reagent A1, then it was mixed well and incubated for 5 minutes at 37 °C. Then (200µl) of Reagent B was added. Mixed well and incubated for 30 seconds at 37 °C then A1 of standard, after precisely 60 seconds read absorbance A2. (standard) was read.
- c. An aliquot 1 ml of reagent A1 was added to the tubes and incubated at 37°C for 10 min (Blank).
- **d.** The samples and standard were read at (340 nm) wavelength against the Blank.

#### **2.4.5.3** Calculation of the results

The concentrations (mg/dl) of Urea tests were calculated in the samples as follows:

$\Delta A = [(A_1 - A_2) \text{ sample o}]$	r standard]-[(A <sub>1</sub> -A <sub>2</sub> ) Blank]
Urea, mg/dl =	$\Delta A \text{ sample} \rightarrow \Delta A \text{ standard} \times 50$

#### 2.4.6 Determination of Creatinine (DIALAB, Austria)

#### 2.4.6.1 Principle of the assay

Serum and urine Creatinine reacts with Picric acid in alkaline solution yielding a yellow-orange coloured compound. The intensity of the colour is directly proportional to the Creatinine concentration present in the sample (REAGENT A:Sodium hydroxide and REAGENT B: Picric acid).

#### 2.4.6.2 Creatinine assay procedure:

**a.** An aliquot (50 $\mu$ l) of the serum was added to tubes containing (1000 $\mu$ l) of Reagent 1, then it was mixed well and incubated for 5 minutes at 37 °C. Then (250 $\mu$ l) of Reagent 2 was added. Mixed well and incubated 1 min at 37 °C and A1 was read, incubated for exactly 2 min again. (sample)

**b.** An aliquot  $(50\mu l)$  of the standared was added to tubes containing  $(1000\mu l)$  of Reagent 1, then it was mixed well and incubate for 5 minutes at 37 °C. Then (250 $\mu$ l) of Reagent 2 was added and mixed well and incubated for 1 min at 37 °C and A1 was read. Incubated for exactly 2 min again.(standard)

**c.** An aliquot 1 ml of reagent R1 was added to the tubes and incubated at 37°C for 10 min (Blank).

**d.** The samples and standard were read at (490 nm) wavelength against the Blank.

#### 2.4.6.3 Calculation of the results

The concentrations (mg/dl) of Creatinine tests were calculated in the samples as follows:



## 2.4.7 Determination of AST (Aspartate aminotransferase) (DIALAB, Austria)

#### 2.4.7.1 Principle of the assay

NADH (Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide) is oxidized to NAD+, the resulting decrease in absorbance at 340 nm is directly proportional to the activity of AST in the sample.

 $\begin{array}{r} & \text{AST} \\ \text{L-Aspartate} + 2\text{-}Oxoglutarate} & \overleftarrow{\leftarrow} \rightarrow & \text{L-Glutammate} + Oxalacetate} \\ & \text{MDH} \\ \text{Oxalacetate} + \text{NADH} + \text{H}^+ & \overleftarrow{\leftarrow} \rightarrow & \text{L-Malate} + \text{NAD}^+ \end{array}$ 

#### 2.4.7.2 AST assay procedure Bireagent procedure:

- a. An aliquot (100μl) of the serum was added to tubes containing 1ml of Reagent A, then it was mixed well and incubated at 37°C for 5 min. (sample)
- b. (100µ1) of the Reagent B was added to tube sample after first incubation, then it was mixed well and incubated at 37°C. After 1 minute the absorbance (A) was read at 340 nm. The absorbance was read again 1, 2, 3 minutes thereafter
- **c.** An aliquot 1 ml of Reagent A was added to the tubes and incubated at 37°C for 1 min (Blank).

**d.** The samples and standard were read at (334 nm) wavelength against the Blank.

#### 2.4.7.3 Calculation of the results

The concentrations (mg/dl) of AST tests was calculated in the samples as follows:

```
Calculate \Delta A/\min, Factor (F)= 1905
AST (U/l) = \Delta A/\min x (F)
```

#### 2.4.8 Determination of ALT (Alanine Aminotransferase) (DIALAB, Austria)

#### 2.4.8.1 Principle of the assay

NADH is oxidized to NAD+ . The resulting decrease in absorbance at 340 nm is directly proportional to the activity of ALT in the sample.

 $\begin{array}{r} \text{ALT} \\ \text{L-Alanine} + 2 \text{-} \text{Oxoglutarate} & \overleftarrow{\leftarrow} \rightarrow & \text{L-Glutammate} + \text{Pyruvate} \\ \\ \text{LDH} \\ \text{Pyruvate} + \text{NADH} + \text{H}^+ & \overleftarrow{\leftarrow} \rightarrow & \text{L-Lactate} + \text{NAD}^+ \end{array}$ 

#### 2.4.8.2 ALT assay Bireagent procedure:

- a. An aliquot (100µl) of the serum was added to tubes containing 1ml of Reagent A, then it was mixed well and incubated at 37°C for 5 min. (sample)
- b. (100µl) of the Reagent B was added to tube sample after incubation, then it was mixed well and incubated at 37°C. After 1 minute the absorbance (A) read at 340 nm. The absorbance was read again 1, 2, 3 minutes thereafter
- **c.** An aliquot 1 ml of Reagent A was added to the tubes and incubated at 37°C for 1 min (Blank).

**d.** The samples and standard were read at (340 nm) wavelength against the Blank.

#### 2.4.8.3 Calculation of the results

The concentrations (mg/dl) of ALT tests were calculated in the samples as follows:

Calculate  $\Delta A/\min$ , Factor (F)= 1905 ALT (U/l) =  $\Delta A/\min x$  (F)

#### 2.4.9 Determination of total bilirubin (DIALAB, Austria)

#### **2.4.9.1 Principle of the assay**

Bilirubin is formed from the heme portion of hemoglobin released by aged or damaged red blood cells. It is then converted in the liver to bilirubin monoglucuronide and bilirubin diglucuronide. Free bilirubin is not soluble in aqueous solution and requires solubilization dimethylsulfoxide and ethylene glycol used as asolvents for the total bilirubin assay. The absorbance of bilirubin at 555 nm is directly proportional to the bilirubin concentration in the sample.

#### 2.4.9.2 Total bilirubin assay procedure:

- a. An aliquot (100μl) of the serum was added to tubes containing (1000μl) of Reagent 1, then (10μl) of Reagent 2 was added and mixed well and incubated for 2 min at 37 °C and the absorbance. was read (sample).
- **b.** An aliquot (100μl) of the Calibrator was added to tubes containing (1000μl) of Reagent 1, then (10μl) of Reagent 2 was read mixed well and incubate 2 min at 37 °C and read absorbance was read (standard)
- c. An aliquot 1 ml of reagent R1 was added to the tubes and incubated at 37°C for 5 min (Blank).

**d.** The samples and Calibrator were read at (555 nm) wavelength against the Blank.

#### 2.4.9.3 Calculation of the results

The concentrations (mg/dl) of total bilirubin tests were calculated in the samples as follows:



#### 2.4.10 Determination of Albumin (GLOBE Italy)

#### 2.4.10.1 Principle of the assay

Albumin binds with Bromo Cresol Green (BCG) at pH 4.2 causing a shift in absorbance of the yellow BCG dye. The blue-green colour formed is proportional to the concentration of albumin, when measured photometrically between 540–630 nm with maximum absorbance at 625 nm.

#### 2.4.10.2 Serum Albumin assay procedure:

- a. An aliquot (5µl) of the serum was added to tubes containing 1ml of Reagent R, then it was mixed well and incubated at 37°C for 5 min. (sample)
- b. An aliquot (5µl) of the standard was added to tubes containing 1ml of Reagent R, then it was mixed well and incubated at 37°C for 5 min (Standard)
- **c.** An aliquot 1 ml of reagent R was added to the tubes and incubated at 37°C for 5 min (Blank).
- **d.** The samples and standard, were read at (546 nm) wavelength against the Blank. The color is stable for at least 60 minutes.

#### **2.4.10.3** Calculation of the results

The concentration (g/dl) of Albumin tests was calculated in the samples as follows:



#### 2.4.11 Determination of uric acid (DIALAB, Austria)

#### **2.4.11.1 Principle of the assay**

Uric acid is oxidized by uricase into an allantoin with a production of hydrogen peroxide which, under the catalytic influence of peroxidase reacts with 4-aminofenazone and N-ethyl-N-(hydroxi-3-sulphopropil)-ptoluidine (ESPT)

> Uric Acid + 2  $H_2O$  +  $O_2 \frac{URICASE}{POD}$  > Allantoine +  $CO_2$  +  $H_2O_2$ TBHBA + 4-AAP +  $H_2O_2 \frac{POD}{POD}$  > Chinonimine + 2  $H_2O$  + HBr

#### 2.4.11.2 uric acid assay procedure:

- a. An aliquot (25µl) of the serum was added to tubes containing 1ml of Reagent R<sup>uric acid</sup>, then it was mixed well and incubated at 37°C for 10 min. (sample)
- b. An aliquot (15µl) of the standard was added to tubes containing 1ml of Reagent R<sup>uric acid</sup>, then it was mixed well and incubated at 37°C for 10 min (Standard)
- **c.** An aliquot 1 ml of reagent R was added to the tubes and incubated at 37°C for 10 min (Blank).
- **d.** The samples and standard, were read at (550 nm) wavelength against the Blank. The color was stable for at least 30 minutes.

#### **2.4.11.3** Calculation of the results

The concentrations (mg/dl) of uric acid tests were calculated in the samples as follows:

Uric Acid (mg/dl) =	Sample Standi	× 6 Standard,Conc.
---------------------	------------------	--------------------

#### 2.5 Antioxidant enzymes

#### 2.5.1 Glutathione (GSH) (Cusabio, U.S.A.)

#### 2.5.1.1 Principle of the assay

This assay employs the quantitative sandwich enzyme immunoassay technique. Antibody specific for GSH has been pre-coated onto a microplate. Standards and samples are pipetted into the wells and any GSH present is bound by the immobilized antibody. After removing any unbound substances, a biotin-conjugated antibody specific for GSH is added to the wells. After washing, avidin conjugated Horseradish Peroxidase (HRP) is added to the wells. Following a wash to remove any unbound avidin-enzyme reagent, a substrate solution is added to the wells and color develops in proportion to the amount of GSH bound in the initial step. The color development stops and the intensity of the color is measured.

Reagents	Quantity
Assay plate (12 x 8 coated Microwells)	1(96 wells)
Standard (Freeze dried)	2
Biotin-antibody (100 x concentrate)	1 x 120 µl
HRP-avidin (100 x concentrate)	1 x 120 µl
Biotin-antibody Diluent	1 x 10 ml
HRP-avidin Diluent	1 x 10 ml
Sample Diluent	1 x 20 ml
Wash Buffer (25 x concentrate)	1 x 20 ml
TMB Substrate	1 x 10 ml
Stop Solution	1 x 10 ml
Adhesive Strip (For 96 wells)	4
Instruction manual	1

#### 2.5.1.2 Kit components for detection of glutathione (GSH):

#### 2.5.1.3 Preparation of Solutions

1. **Biotin-antibody** (1x) - the vial was centrifuged before opening. Biotinantibody was diluted to a 100-fold dilution. A suggested 100-fold dilution is 10  $\mu$ l of Biotin-antibody + 990  $\mu$ l of Biotin-antibody Diluent.

2. **HRP-avidin** (1x) - the vial was centrifuged before opening. HRP-avidin was diluted to a 100-fold dilution. Which is 10  $\mu$ l of HRP-avidin + 990  $\mu$ l of HRP-avidin Diluent.

3. Wash Buffer(1x) - If crystals were formed in the concentrate, they were warmed up to room temperature and mixed gently until the crystals completely dissolved. A20 ml of Wash Buffer Concentrate (25 x) was diluted into distilled water to prepare 500 ml of Wash Buffer (1 x).

#### 4. Standard

The standard was centrifuged at 6000-10000rpm for 30s. The Standard was reconstituted with 1.0 ml of Sample Diluent. This reconstitution produces a stock solution of 50  $\mu$ g/ml. The standard was mixed to ensure a complete reconstitution and allow the standard to sit for a minimum of 15

minutes with gentle agitation prior to making dilutions. A 250  $\mu$ l of Sample Diluent was pipetted into each tube. The stock solution was used to produce a 2-fold dilution series. Each tube was mixed thoroughly before the next transfer. The undiluted Standard served as the high standard (50 $\mu$ g/ml). The sample Diluent served as the zero standard (0  $\mu$ g/ml).

#### 2.5.1.4 GSH Assay Procedure

All reagents and samples were brought to room temperature before use. The sample was centrifuged again after thawing before the assay. All samples and standards were assayed in duplicate.

- 1. All reagents, working standards, and samples were prepared as directed in the previous sections.
- The number of wells to be used was determined according to the Assay Layout Sheet and put any remaining wells and the desiccant were put back into the pouch, ziploc was sealed, stored unused wells at 4°C.
- 3. one hundred  $\mu$ l of standard and serum per well were added, covered with the adhesive strip provided, and incubated for 2 hours at 37°C. A plate lay out is provided to record standards and samples assayed.
- 4. The liquid of each well was removed without washing.
- 5. one hundred  $\mu$ l of Biotin-antibody (1x) was added to each well. covered with a new adhesive strip. Then incubated for 1 hour at 37°C.
- 6. Each well was aspirated and washed, repeating the process two times for a total of three washes. Washing was done by filling each well with Wash Buffer (200μl) using a squirt bottle, multi-channel pipette, manifold dispenser, or autowasher, and let it stand for 2 minutes, complete removal of liquid at each step is essential to good performance. After the last wash, any remaining wash Buffer was removed by aspirating ordecanting. The plate was inverted and blotted it against clean paper towels.

- 7. one hundred  $\mu$ l of HRP-avidin (1x) was added to each well. The microtiter plate was covered with a new adhesive strip and incubated for 1 hour at  $37^{\circ}$ C.
- 8. The aspiration/wash was processed for five times as in step 6.
- Ninety μl of DTMB Substrate was added to each well, incubated for 15-30 minutes at 37°C, and protected from light.
- 10. Fifty  $\mu$ l of Stop Solution was added to each well, and the plate was gently tapped to ensure a thorough mixing.
- 11. The optical density of each well was determined within 5 minutes, using a microplate reader set to 450 nm. If a wavelength correction is available, set to 540 nm. The readings at 540 nm was substracted from the readings at 450 nm. This subtraction will correct the optical imperfections in the plate.

#### **2.5.1.5** Calculation of the result:

Using the professional soft "Curve Expert 1.3" to make a standard curve is recommended (figure 2-2). The duplicate readings were averaged for each standard and the sample and the average zero standard optical density were subtracted. A standard curve was constructed by plotting the mean absorbance for each standard on the x-axis against the concentration on the y-axis and a best fit curve was drawn through the points on the graph. The data may be linearized by plotting the log of the GSH concentrations versus the log of the O.D. and the best fit line can be determined by regression analysis.



Figure (2.2) Standard curve of total glutathione (GSH)

#### 2.5.2 Malondialdehyde (MDA) (Cusabio, U.S.A.)

#### 2.5.2.1 Principle of the assay

The microtiter plate provided in this kit has been pre-coated with an antibody specific to MDA.

Standards or samples are then added to the appropriate microtiter plate wells with a biotin-conjugated polyclonal antibody preparation specific for MDA and Avidin conjugated to Horseradish Peroxidase (HRP) is added to each microplate well and incubated. Then a TMB (3,3'5, 5' tetramethyl-benzidine) substrate solution is added to each well. Only those wells that contain MDA, biotin-conjugated antibody and enzyme-conjugated Avidin will exhibit a change in color.

The enzyme-substrate reaction is terminated by the addition of a sulphuric acid solution and the color change is measured spectrophotometrically at a wavelength of 450 nm  $\pm$  2 nm. The concentration of MDA in the samples is then determined by comparing the O.D. of the samples to the standard curve.

The standard curve concentrations used for the ELISA's were 20 nmol/ml, 10 nmol/ml, 5 nmol/ml, 2.5 nmol/ml, 1.25 nmol/ml, 0.625 nmol/ml,0.312 nmol/ml.

2.5.2.2 Kit components	for detection of	Malondialchehyche	(MDA)
------------------------	------------------	-------------------	-------

Reagent	Quantity
Assay plate	1
Standard	2
Sample Diluent	1 x 20 ml
Biotin-antibody Diluent	1 x 10 ml
HRP-avidin Diluent	1 x 10 ml
Biotin-antibody	1 x 120µl
HRP-avidin	1 x 120µl
Wash Buffer	1 x 20 ml
	(25×concentrate)
TMB Substrate	1 x 10 ml
Stop Solution	1 x 10 ml

#### **2.5.2.3 Preparation of Solutions**

All reagents were brought to room temperature before use.

- Wash Buffer The solution was warmed up to room temperature and mixed gently until the crystals were completely dissolved. 20 ml of Wash Buffer Concentrate was diluted into distilled water to prepare 500 ml of Wash Buffer.
- **2. Standard** The Standard was reconstituted with 1.0 ml of Sample Diluent. This reconstitution produced a stock solution of 20000 pmol/ml. The standard was allowed to sit for a minimum of 15 minutes with gentle agitation prior to making serial dilutions. The Sample Diluent serves as the zero standard (0 pmol/ml).
- **3. Biotin-antibody** The working concentration specified on the vial label was diluted using Biotin-antibody Diluent(1:100), respectively.
- **4. HRP-avidin** The working concentration specified on the vial label using HRP-avidin was diluted Diluent(1:100), respectively.

#### 2.5.2.4 MDA Assay Procedure:

- All reagents were brought and samples to room temperature before use. All samples, standards, and controls were assayed in duplicate.
- 1. one hundred  $\mu$ l of Standard, Blank, or serum Sample were added per well, covered with the adhesive strip and incubated for 2 hours at 37° C.
- 2. The liquid was removed from each well without washing.
- 3. one hundred of Biotin-antibody working solution was added to each well and incubated for 1 hour at 37°C.
- 4. Each well was aspirated and washed three times for a total of three washes. The wash was done by filling each well with Wash Buffer (200µl) using a squirt bottle. Complete removal of liquid at each step is essential to good performance. After the last wash, any remaining Wash

Buffer was removed by aspirating or decanting. The plate was inverted and blotted it against clean paper towels.

- 100µl of HRP-avidin working solution was added to each well. The microtiter plate was covered with a new adhesive strip, and incubated for 1 hour at 37°C.
- 6. The aspiration and washing was repeated three times as step 4.
- 90μl of TMB Substrate was added to each well and incubated for 30 minutes at 37°C.
- 8. 50µl of Stop Solution was added to each well.
- 9. The optical density of each well was determined within 30 minutes, using a microplate reader set to 450 nm.

#### **2.5.2.5** Calculation of the result:

The duplicate readings for each standard, control, and sample were averaged and subtracted from the average zero standard optical density. A standard curve was created by plotting the mean absorbance for each standard on the y-axis against the concentration on the x-axis and draw a best fit curve through the points on the graph. The data may be linearized by plotting the log of the MDA concentrations versus the log of the O.D. and the best fit line can be determined by regression analysis. If samples were diluted, the concentration read from the standard curve was multiplied by the dilution factor. (figure 2-3)


Figure (2.3) Standard curve of Malondialdehyde (MDA)

#### 2.6 Immunophenotyping:

In this study, Immunophenotyping CD5, CD38 and Zap-70 expression were investigated by using fully equipped desktop four –color (Ibrahim *et al.*, 2001) flow cytometry (FCM). CyFlow Cube features a modular optical concept. This allows using different lasers as light sources

(www.partec.com/applications.html accessed at July,10,2013).

The CyFlow Cube allows easy optimization of the optics for any application by simple exchange of optical filters and mirrors.

Data acquisition, instrument control, and data analysis are controlled and performed by the CyView software.

#### -Antibody labeling (PARTEC. CyFlow®)

Antibody labelling was done by mixing 100 microlitre of whole blood with conjugated antibodies (10 microlitres) in a test tube, mixed thoroughly. Incubated for 15 minutes in the dark at room temperature.

#### -Leukocyte fixation

For leukocyte fixation, 100 microlitre of reagent A was added and mixed thoroughly and incubated for 10 min in the dark.

#### -Erythrocyte lysis

For erythrocyte lysis, 2.5ml of reagent B was added ,shaked gently and incubated for 20min in the dark. Then the sample was analysed on the flowcytometer. Some samples after fixation were stored at 2-8°C, protected from light, up to 24hr until analysis.

Flow cytometry data was analyzed in bivariateplots of two- or three-colour analyses with the application of electronic gates based on the scatter characteristic of cells. The measurement of the intensity of staining of cells by flow cytometry provide an absolute value for the light intensity. The measurement was performed by comparing cell fluorescence with an external standard by using different commercially available beads in kits, which usually comprised two tubes. One tube contains four types of beads with four different levels of fluorescence uptake: one very dim, one very bright and two intermediate; the other tube contains blank (non fluorescent beads) (Matutes *et al.*, 2011).

The instrument set up was so that the fluorescence signal of the tube with the blank (unlabelled) beads is located in the region between 0 and  $10^1$  and four other peaks of fluorescence are seen along the axis of the relevant fluorochrome. The fluorescence voltage is established, and these settings maintained throughout the rest of the analysis of the unknown samples (Matutes *et al.*, 2011).

The samples for a particular monoclonal Ab, run with the fluorescence settings obtained from beads stained with the corresponding monoclonal antibody, so that one fluorescence standard curve obtained for each monoclonal antibody. The data obtained from the flow cytometer and the standard curve, was automatically produced as shown in the Figure (2.4). The identification of cells was performed using forward scatter (FSC) versus side scatter (SSC) parameters . Antigen expression was considered to be positive when the percentage of positive cells was equal or greater than 20% (Bain *et al.*, 2010).



Figure (2.4) The forward and side scatter light signals

(leach et al., 2013)

#### 2.7 Interleukins

#### 2.7.1 Interleukin 6 detection (R&D Systems USA)

#### 2.7.1.1 Principle of the assay

This assay employs the quantitative sandwich enzyme immunoassay technique. A monoclonal antibody specific for human IL-6 has been precoated onto a microplate. Standards and samples are pipetted into the wells and any IL-6 present is bound by the immobilized antibody. After washing away any unbound substances, an enzyme-linked polyclonal antibody specific for human IL-6 is added to the wells. Following a wash to remove any unbound antibody-enzyme reagent, a substrate solution is added to the wells and color develops in proportion to the amount of IL-6 bound in the initial step. The color development is stopped and the intensity of the color is measured.

Kit component	Description			
Interleukin 6 microplate	96 well polystyrene microplate (12 strips of 8 wells) coated with a monoclonal antibody specific for human IL-6.			
IL-6 Standard	1.5 ng/vial of recombinant human IL- 6 in a buffered protein base with preservatives; lyophilized.			
IL-6 Conjugate	21 mL/vial of polyclonal antibody specific for human IL-6 conjugated to horseradish peroxidase with preservatives			
Assay Diluent RD1W	11 mL/vial of a buffered protein base with preservatives.			
Calibrator Diluent RD6F	21 mL/vial of animal serum with preservatives. For serum/plasma samples.			
Calibrator Diluent RD5T	21 mL/vial of a buffered protein base			

2.7.1.2 Kit components for detection Interleukin-6:

	with preservatives. For cell culture
	supernate samples.
Washer buffer concentrate	21 mL/vial of a 25-fold concentrated
	solution of buffered surfactant with
	preservative. May turn yellow over
	time.
Color reagent A	12 mL/vial of stabilized hydrogen
	peroxide
Color reagent B	12 mL/vial of stabilized chromogen
	(tetramethylbenzidine).
Stop solution	6 mL/vial of 2 N sulfuric acid.

#### 2.7.1.3 Preparation of Solutions

1. **Poly propylene tubes** were used in this procedure.

2. **Washing solution:** An aliquot (20 ml) of washing concentrate was diluted up to 500 ml with distilled water.

3. **Substrate solution:** Color Reagents A and B was mixed together in equal volumes within 15 minutes of use and protected from light. 200  $\mu$ L of the resultant mixture is required per well.

4. **IL-6 standard**: The lyophilized IL-6 standard was reconstituted with 5.0 mL of Calibrator Diluent RD6F.This reconstitution produces a stock solution of 300 pg/mL. The standard was left at least 15 minutes with gentle agitation before making dilutions.

#### 2.7.1.4 Assay Procedure ( As manufacture's instruction )

Before carrying out the assay procedure, the kit was left at room temperature (22°C) for 30 minutes to equilibrate, as suggested by the manufacturer. After that, the assay was carried out following the instructions in the kit's leaflet, which are summarized in the following steps:

I- One hindered µl Assay Diluent RD1W was added to each well.

II- Serial concentrations (0, 3.13, 6.25, 12.5, 25, 50 and 100) pg/mL of the standard were made using the assay diluent after reconstitution of standard vial with 1 ml of diluent water.

III- An aliquot (100  $\mu$ l) of the standard or serum sample was added to the well. After that, the well was mixed and the plate was covered and incubated for 2 hours at room temperature.

IV-The wells were washed with four cycles of washing using the washing solution, with the aid of a microtiter plate washer.

V- 200  $\mu$ L of IL-6 Conjugate was add to each well. Then, covered with a new adhesive strip and incubated for 2 hours at room temperature.

VI-The washing step was repeated (step iv).

VII- An aliquot  $(200 \ \mu l)$  of substrate reagent was added to each well, and the plate was covered and incubated in dark for 20 minutes at room temperature.

VIII- An aliquot (50  $\mu$ l) of stop solution was added to each well, and the absorbance was read at a wave length of 570 nm using ELISA reader within 30 minutes after stopping reaction.

#### 2.7.1.5 Calculations:

The sample results were calculated by interpolation from a standard curve that was performed in the same assay as that for the sample Figure (2-5) using a curve fitting equation.



Figure (2-5) Standard curve of Interleukins-6.

#### 2.7.2 Interleukin 10 detection (R&D Systems USA)

#### 2.7.2.1 Principle of the assay

This assay employs the quantitative sandwich enzyme immunoassay technique (ELISA). A monoclonal antibody specific for Interleukin 10 has been pre-coated onto a microplate. Standards and samples are pipetted into the wells and any IL-10 present is bound by the immobilized antibody after washing away any unbound substances, an enzyme –linked monoclonal antibody specific for IL-10 is added the wells. Following a wash to remove any unbound antibody –enzyme reagent a substrate solution is added to the wells and color develops in proportion to the amount of IL-10 bound in the initial step. The color development is stopped and the intensity of the color is measured.

#### 2.7.2.2 Kit components for detection of Interleukin-10:

Kit component	Description		
Interleukin 10 microplate	96 well polystyrene microplate		
	coated with a mouse monoclonal		
	antibody against IL-10		
IL-10 standard	5.0 ng /vial of recombinant human		
	IL-10 in a buffered protein base with		
	preservatives lyophilized		
IL-10 conjugate	21 mL/vial of mouse monoclonal		
	antibody against IL-10 conjugated to		
	horseradish peroxidase with		
	preservatives		
Assay Diluent RD1W	11mL/vial of a buffered protein base		
	with preservatives		
Calibrator Diluent RD6P	21 mL/vial of animal serum with		
	preservatives		
Washer buffer concentrate	21 mL/vial of a 25-fold concentrated		
	solution buffered surfactant with		
	preservatives		
Color reagent A	12 mL/vial of stabilized hydrogen		
	peroxide		
Color reagent B	12 mL/vial of stabilized chromogen		
	(tertamethylbenzidine)		
Stop solution	6 mL/vial of 2 N sulfuric acid		

#### 2.7.2.3 Preparation of Solutions

1. Poly propylene tubes were used in this procedure.

2. **Washing solution:** An aliquot (20 ml) of washing concentrate was diluted up to 500 ml with distilled water.

3. **Substrate solution:** Color reagent A and color reagent B were mixed together in equal volumes within 15 minutes of use. The mixture was protected from light.

4. **IL-10 standard**: The lyophilized IL-10 standard was reconstituted with 1.0 mL of distilled water .This reconstitution produces a stock solution of

5000 pg/mL. The standard was left at least 15 minutes with gentle agitation before making dilutions.

#### 2.7.2.4 Assay Procedure

Before carrying out the assay procedure, the kit was left at room temperature (22°C) for 30 minutes to equilibrate, as suggested by the manufacturer. After that, the assay was carried out following the instructions in the kit's leaflet, which are summarized in the following steps:

I- Fifty (50 µl) Assay Diluent RD1W was added to each well.

II-Serial concentrations (0, 7.8, 15.6, 31,2, 62.5, 125, 250 and 500) pg/ml of the standard were made using the assay diluent after reconstitution of standard vial with 1 ml of diluent water.

III- An aliquot (200  $\mu$ l) of the standard or serum sample was added to the well. After that, the well was mixed and the plate was covered and incubated for 120 minutes at room temperature.

IV-The wells were washed with four cycles of washing using the washing solution, with the aid of a microtiter plate washer.

V- An aliquot (200  $\mu$ l) of conjugate solution was added to each well, and the plate was covered and incubated for 120 minutes at room temperature

VI-The washing step was repeated (step iv).

VII- An aliquot  $(200 \ \mu l)$  of substrate reagent was added to each well, and the plate was covered and incubated in dark for 30 minutes at room temperature.

VIII- An aliquot (50  $\mu$ l) of stop solution was added to each well, and the absorbance was read at a wave length of 450-630 nm using ELISA reader within 30 minutes after stopping reaction.

#### 2.7.2.5 Calculations:

The sample results were calculated by interpolation from a standard curve that was performed in the same assay as that for the sample Figure (2-6), using a curve fitting equation.



Figure.( 2-6) Standard curve of IL-10.

#### 2.8 Molecular study

#### 2.8.1 Separation of mononuclear cells (MELTINYI BIOTEC)

Mononuclear cells (MNCs) were separated from blood sample by density gradient centrifugation according to the protocol described by Markowicz *et al.* (2006), as shown in figure (2-7):

- 1. Fresh EDTA blood was diluted 1:1 in normal saline; mixed gently until it was homogenous.
- 2. The cell suspension was centrifuged in cooling centrifuge (at  $4^{\circ}$  C ,2000 rpm for 10 min) on equal volume of Ficoll-Paque.

3. The upper layer was drawn off using a clean Pasteur pipette, the MNCs rich zone, then this zone was isolated and transferred into a new 10 ml tube and washed twice with normal saline through centrifugation at 2000 rpm for 8 min and 1000 rpm for 10 min, respectively. The final pellet was re-suspended with normal saline and was considered ready for isolation of DNA and determination of IGHV mutational status using RT-PCR and DNA sequencing.





#### 2.8.2 Total RNA Extraction

Total RNA was isolated from lymphocytes(which were isolated in section 2.8.1) according to the protocol of SV total RNA isolation system protocol (Z3105) after modification which supplied by Promega USA.

#### The procedures followed were:

1. One hundred  $\mu$ l of lymphocytes were added to the RNA Lysis Buffer. 175 $\mu$ l of RNA Lysis Buffer were added to the cells. The cells were suspended and by pipetting.

 About 350µl of RNA Dilution Buffer was added and mixed by inverting 3–4 times.

3. The tubes were placed in a water bath at 70°C for 3 minutes. Then centrifuged at 14000 rpm for 10 min. The cleared lysate was transferred to a sterile tube by pipetting.

4. Two hundred  $\mu$ l of 95% ethanol was added to the cleared lysate, and mixed by pipetting 3–4 times. The mixture was transferred to the Spin Column Assembly. Centrifuge at 12,000–14,000 × g for one minute.

5. Spin Basket was taken from the Spin Column Assembly, and discarded the liquid was discarded in the Collection Tube. The Spin Basket was then back into the Collection Tube.  $600\mu$ l of RNA Wash Solution was added to the Spin Column Assembly, centrifuged at 12,000–14,000 × g for 1 minute.

6. The collection Tube was emptied as before and placed it in a rack. For each isolation to be performed, DNase incubation was prepared by mix combining 40 $\mu$ l Yellow Core Buffer, 5 $\mu$ l 0.09M MnCl <sub>2</sub> and 5 $\mu$ l of DNase I enzyme per sample in a sterile tube (in this order). Only the amount of DNase incubation mix required was prepared and pipetted carefully, and mixed by gentle pipetting; without vortex. The DNase I on ice was kept while it is thawed. 50 $\mu$ l of this freshly prepared DNase incubation mix was applied directly to the membrane inside the Spin Basket, and incubated for 15 minutes at 20–25°C.

7. After incubation, 200µl of DNase Stop Solution was added to the Spin Basket, and centrifuged at  $12,000-14,000 \times g$  for 1 minute.

8. Six hundred  $\mu$ l RNA Wash Solution (with ethanol added) was added and centrifuged at 12,000–14,000 ×g for 1 minute. 250 $\mu$ l RNA Wash Solution was added and centrifuged at high speed for 2 minutes.

9. For each sample, one capped 1.5ml Elution Tube were removed. The Spin Basket from the Collection Tube was transferred to the Elution Tube, and 100µl Nuclease-Free Water was added to the membrane. The Spin Basket Assemblies were placed in the centrifuge with the lids of the Elution Tubes facing out then centrifuged at 12,000–14,000 × g for 1 minute. The Spin Basket was removed and discarded. The Elution Tube containing the purified RNA was capped and stored at  $-70^{\circ}$ C.

#### 2.8.3 Determination of RNA Purity and concentration

This method is used to estimate the purity of the RNA by using a NanoDrope Spectrometer.

#### 2.8.4 Partial IgVH Region Amplification and Sequencing

The partial IgVH Region was amplified using of specific primer pair using in RT-PCR reactions which provide a simple and rapid method for preparation of a specific region of cDNA for sequencing.

This part of research was done in ASCO Learning Center/Al-Harthia/Baghdad.

#### Primers

Lyophilized primers were dissolved in a nuclease free water to give a primary concentration of (100  $\mu$ M) (as stock solution). For working solution, 10 $\mu$ l of stock was diluted with 90 $\mu$ l of nuclease free water to get (10  $\mu$ M) as a final concentration. The sequence of these primer was explained in Table: (2-3).

Primer	Sequence	
VH FR2	5' TGGRTCCGMCAGSCYYCNGG '4	
JH JHE	5' ACCTGAGGAGGACGGTGACC '4	200

#### Table (2-3): Primer Sequence used for GSTM1 deletion detections.

RT PCR (Marasca *et al.*, 2005)

One Step Reverse Transcription PCR and specific primers were used as the following calculation and programming: Table(2-4) show Mixture A component.

#### Table(2-4): Mixture A component

Component	Volume (µl)
qPCR Mix	12.5
RT mix	0.5
VH FR2	1
JH JHE	1
Nuclease free water	8
DNA sample	2
Final volume	25

 Table (2-5): PCR program for mixture A.

No	Steps	Temperature $C^{\circ}$	Time	No. Of cycles
1	DNA synthesis	37	15min	
2	Initial Denaturation	95	5min	1 cycle
	Denaturation	94	30sec	
3	Annealing	60	30sec	35cycles
	Extension 1	72	30sec	
4	Final Extension	72	7min	1 cycle
5	Holding	4	-	1 cycle

#### 2.8.5 Agarose Gel Electrophoresis (Sambrook et al., 1989)

After DNA extraction and PCR amplification, Agarose gel electrophoresis was adopted to confirm the presence and integrity of the extracted DNA or amplification. PCR was completely dependable on the extracted DNA criteria.

#### Solutions ( Ready to used)

-1 X TBE buffer.

-Loading dye.

-DNA ladder marker.

-Ethidium bromide (10mg / ml)

#### **A-Preparation of agarose**

1. one hundred ml of 1X TBEwas taken in a beaker.

2. One gm (for 1%) agarose was added to the buffer.

3. The solution was heated to boiling (using water bath) until all the gel particles were dissolved.

4. One  $\mu$ l of Ethidium Bromide (10mg/ml) was added to the agarose.

5. The agarose was stirred in order to get mixed and to avoid bubbles.

6. The solution was allowed to cool down at 50-60C°.

#### B- Casting of the horizontal agarose gel

The agarose solution was poured into the gel tray after both the edges were sealed with cellophane tapes and the agarose was allowed to gel at room temperature for 30 minutes. The comb was carefully removed and the gel was placed in the gel tray. The tray was filled with 1X TBE-electrophoresis buffer until the buffer reached 3-5 mm over the surface of the gel.

#### **C-DNA loading**

Two µl of loading buffer was applied to each 5µl DNA sample, and samples were added carefully to the individual wells. PCR products were loaded directly. Electrical power was turned on at 7v/cm for 1-2 h. DNA moved from Cathode to plus Anode poles. The Ethidium bromide stained bands in gel were visualized using Gel imaging system.

#### 2.8.6 DNA Sequencing

PCR products were performed and sent for sequencing by Macrogen Company/Korea. Data were analysed using immunoglobulins and T cell receptor sequences (IgBLAST).

#### 2.9 Statistical Analysis

The results were analyzed using the statistical analyzing system (SAS 2012).

Each value represents mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). Statistical analyses were performed using student's t-test (for two group analysis). Multiple mean comparisons were made with the one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) using a significant level of P < 0.05. Specific group differences were determined using Tukey's test.



# Results and Discussions

#### 3. Results and Discussion

### 3.1 Age, Gender and Binet stage distribution in CLL patients3.1.1 Age, Gender and Binet stage:

The highest age incidence was between age groups (50-59) yrs. and (60-69) yrs., as approximately (34.5%) of the incidence of the disease occurred at each of those age groups Table (3-1).

 Table (3-1): Age distribution of Iraqi CLL patients of the present study:

	Age group (yrs)					Total
CLL Patients	(40-49)	(50-59)	(60-69)	(70-79)	(80-89)	Number and %
Newly diagnosed	4	7	5	1	1	18 (32.7%)
Old treated	6	12	14	5	-	37 (67.3%)
Total	10	19	19	6	1	55 (100%)

The total CLL patients enrolled in the present study are composed of 40 males (72.27%) and 15 females (27.27%) with higher incidence in male than in female (ratio 2.6:1), as presented in Figure (3-1). Lamanna *et al.* (2011) reported that the incidence ratio of male to female (2.1:1) with the highest incidence occurs also frequently in middle age. Furthermore, Graig *et al.*, (2010), and Freireich, (2010) reported that the incidence of CLL increases with age, and the median age at presentation is (65-70)yrs. They also reported that the male: female ratio is 2:1. Other study reported that CLL is a male-predominant disease, although the reason for this difference is not known (Jemal *et al.*, 2010).



### Figure (3-1) Gender distribution of Iraqi CLL patients of the current study.

The distribution of the patients according to Binet staging is presented in table (3.2) which showed that the highest percent of the patients in this study (60%) fell within Binet stage B of the CLL patients which is considered the intermediate or moderate risk stage in CLL patients, while the lowest percent of the patients (40%) fell within Binet stage C of the CLL patients which is considered the most advanced stage in CLL patients (Rawstron *et al.*, 2002).

As table (3.2) showed, the predominance of stage B of CLL is also applied to both newly diagnosed as well as old treated patients.

CU	Binet	Total	
Patients	B	C number and %	number and %
Newly diagnosed	10 (56%)	8 (44%)	18 (100%)
Old treated	23 (62%)	14 (38%)	37 (100%)
Total	33 (60%)	22 (40%)	55 (100%)

### Table (3.2) Distribution of Iraqi CLL patients according to Binet staging

Clinical staging systems developed by Rai *et al* (1975) and Binet *et al*(1981) were able to predict long-term survival of patients with CLL, but have failed to predict specific disease course in patients with early-stage CLL. Advances in the identification and understanding of genomic and molecular markers are helping better predict disease progression and survival (Damle *et al.*, 1999; Dohner *et al.*, 2000).

#### 3.2 General features:

#### 3.2.1 General features in newly diagnosed CLL patients:

#### 3.2.1.1 Hematological profile:

Complete peripheral blood picture examination in the untreated newly diagnosed CLL patients revealed leukocytosis ( $85.5\pm65.3x \ 10^9$  cells/L), manifested by absolute Lymphocytosis ( $48.99\pm26x \ 10^9$  cells/L). Six patients (6/18) showed WBC values range between ( $85-232 \ x10^9$  cells/L) and lymphocyte count range between ( $30-97x \ 10^9$  cells/L).

Other findings include mild anemia manifested by lowered RBC, Hb and PCV values, lower platelet count and increased ESR level as compared to controls. Seven patients (7/18) showed thrombocytopenia (range between  $51-130 \times 10^9$  cells/L).

The combination therapy administered to those patients was followed up for a median of 4.5 months (range 1-8 months). It managed to normalize WBC and Lymphocytes counts, as well as anemia but failed to correct the

lowered platelet counts as well as the increased ESR values (Table 3-3).

Table	(3-3)	Hematological profile in control and newly diagnosed
		(untreated and treated) Iraqi CLL patients: A follow
		up study.

		CLL Patients		
Donomotor	Control	Newly	Treated	
Farameter	(n=19)	diagnosed	(4.5months)	
		( <b>n=18</b> )	( <b>n=14</b> )	
WBCs $(10^{9}/L)$	6.7±1.39 <sup>a</sup>	85.6±65.38 <sup>b</sup>	17.61±31.36 <sup>a</sup>	
Lymphocytes (10 <sup>9</sup> /L)	2.3±0.64 <sup>a</sup>	48.9±25.99 <sup>b</sup>	14.1±26.96 <sup>a</sup>	
RBCs $(10^{12}/L)$	4.5±0.56 <sup>a</sup>	3.6±0.80 <sup>b</sup>	$4.22 \pm 0.78^{ab}$	
Hb (g/dl)	12.9±1.40 <sup>a</sup>	11.5±1.68 <sup>b</sup>	12.0±1.21 ab	
PCV (%)	40±5.50 <sup>a</sup>	36±4.39 <sup>b</sup>	37±4.86 <sup>ab</sup>	
PLT (10 <sup>9</sup> /L)	320±69 <sup>a</sup>	168±71.31 <sup>b</sup>	142±88 <sup>b</sup>	
ESR(mm/hr.)	15±9.31 <sup>a</sup>	42±15.74 <sup>b</sup>	31±8.13 <sup>b</sup>	

Values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). Value with (a) is normal. Values with different letters within each parameter are significantly different (P<0.05)

It is evident that there is a wide range of variability in each value (for e.g. red cells and platelets count) of the hematological parameter in the newly diagnosed CLL patients. This may be attributed to the fact that some of the patients were with stage B (which is associated with no anemia or thrombocytopenia) and other patients with stage C (which is characterized by anemia and thrombocytopenia) (Graig *et al.*, 2010; Freireich 2010). Therefore, the overall picture reflected an interplay between values attributed to each stage.

#### **3.2.1.2 Biochemical Profile:**

The only significant alterations observed in the untreated CLL patients were those of slight increased total bilirubin, albumin and uric acid levels compared to control subjects. Follow-up analysis of the data obtained from those patients in response to (RFC) chemoimmun therapy for a period range of 1-8 months and a median of 4.5 months revealed mild, yet significant, elevation in serum levels of FBG, Urea, ASTand ALT compared to controls. Furthermore, (RFC) therapy failed to correct the increased albumin and uric acid levels observed in the untreated CLL patients (Table 3-4. A).

Table (3-4. A) Biochemical profiles in control and newly diagnosed(untreated and treated) Iraqi CLLpatients: A followup study.

		CLL Patients		
Parameter	Control	Newly	Treated	
	( <b>n=19</b> )	diagnosed	(4.5months) (n=14)	
		( <b>n=18</b> )	()	
Fasting blood glucose (mg/dl)	87±19.41 <sup>a</sup>	100±44.92 <sup>ab</sup>	111±38.6 <sup>b</sup>	
HbA1c	4.96±0.72 <sup>a</sup>	5.74±2.12 <sup>a</sup>	5.75±1.21 <sup>a</sup>	
Cholesterol (mg/dl)	190±24.86 <sup>a</sup>	220±36.08 <sup>a</sup>	188±54.0 <sup>a</sup>	
Triglycerides (mg/dl)	194±29.12 <sup>a</sup>	186±22.41 <sup>a</sup>	183±21 <sup>a</sup>	
Urea (mg/dl)	32.8±6.80 <sup>a</sup>	38.4±7.74 <sup>ab</sup>	43.2±8.0 <sup>b</sup>	
Creatinine (mg/dl)	0.94±0.17 <sup>a</sup>	1.00±0.51 <sup>a</sup>	1.71±1.55 <sup>a</sup>	
AST(iu)/l	6.15±2,16 <sup>a</sup>	8.15±2.24 <sup>ab</sup>	10.35±3.8 <sup>b</sup>	
ALT (iu)/l	6.89±1.76 <sup>a</sup>	6.47±1.77 <sup>a</sup>	21.14±24.13 <sup>b</sup>	
Total bilirubin (mg/dl)	0.92±0.18 <sup>a</sup>	1.08±0.30 <sup>b</sup>	0.99±0.19 <sup>ab</sup>	
Albumin (gm/l)	42.2±4.98 <sup>a</sup>	52.1±14.56 <sup>b</sup>	51.0±12 <sup>b</sup>	
Uric acid (mg/dl)	5.2±0.99 <sup>a</sup>	7.9±0.70 <sup>b</sup>	7.0±0.89 <sup>b</sup>	

Values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). Value with (a) is normal. Values with different letters within each parameter are significantly different (P<0.05)

With the exception of the alterations in FBG level, the biochemical changes observed in both newly diagnosed and treated CLL patients were within the reference values established by the manufactures of the kits utilized in the present analyses. For example, the normal reference values for total bilirubin, albumin, and uric acid were (0.2-1.0) mg/dl, (35-50) gm/l, and (2.3-8.20) mg/dl, respectively. (Table 3-4. A).

Similarly, the elevated level of AST (normal value 10-50 IU/l), ALT (reference values 8-60 IU/l), and urea (normal value 18-53 mg/dl) observed in the treated CLL patients, yet remained within the reference values published by the kits manufactures (Table 3-4. A).

Accordingly, the above-mentioned alterations may confer no clinically significant abnormalities in both renal and hepatic functions in both newly diagnosed and treated CLL Patients.

Further analyses of the harvested data from the untreated newly diagnosed CLL blood samples revealed that the (5) diabetic patients out of (18) patients (27.8%) with hyperglycemia and increased HbA1c levels (Table 3-4. B). This finding will be discussed within its context together with the comparable changes observed in carbohydrate metabolism in the old treated CLL patients in section 3.2.2.

Table (3-4. B) Fasting blood glucose and HbA1c in control, anduntreated newly diagnosed Iraqi CLL patients

Parameter Control		Newly diagnosed CLL Patients (n=18)		
	(n=19)	Diabetic (n=5)	Non diabetic (n=13)	
Fasting blood glucose (mg/dl)	87±19.41 <sup>a</sup>	154±55.00 <sup>b</sup>	87±19.9 <sup>a</sup>	
HbA1c%	5.0±0.7 <sup>a</sup>	$8.22\pm2.7$ <sup>b</sup>	4.81±0.7 <sup>a</sup>	

Values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). Value with (a) is normal. Values with different letters within each parameter are significantly different (P<0.05)

However, when the present patients were analysed (on the basis of the presence or absence of diabetes) into 2 groups, diabetes did not seem to have confounding effects on other biochemical Parameter and, for that matter, on other studied Parameter (Appendix 2, 3, 4, and 5).

#### **3.2.1.3** Antioxidant profile

The serum level of the antioxidant glutathione (GSH) was significantly decreased (P<0.05), and that of the lipid peroxidation byproduct, malondialdehyde (MDA) was significantly increased (P<0.05) in the untreated CLL patients compared with healthy controls (Table 3-5).

Table (3-5) Antioxidant profile in control and newly diagnosed (untreated and treated) Iraqi CLL patients: A follow up study.

		CLL Patients       Newly     Treated	
Parameter	Control		
	(n=19)	diagnosed	(4.5 months)
		(11=10)	(11=14)
Glutathione (GSH) (µg/ml)	26.45±3.78 <sup>a</sup>	6.45±2.85 <sup>b</sup>	7.52±1.78 <sup>b</sup>
Malondialdehyde MDA (nmol/ml)	2.09±0.94 <sup>a</sup>	4.09±1.08 <sup>b</sup>	3.55±0.80 <sup>c</sup>

Values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). Value with (a) is normal. Values with different letters within each parameter are significantly different (P<0.05)

Glutathione (GSH) is an important non-enzymatic antioxidant preventing damage to important cellular components caused by reactive oxygen species such as free radicals and peroxides (Humphries *et al.*, 2013). GSH protect cells against toxic free radicals involved in the synthesis and repair of DNA, and serves as a reductant antioxidant in oxidation reduction resulting in the formation of oxidized GSH (Wu *et al*, 2004). Therefore, the observed decreased GSH levels in CLL subjects may reflect depletion of non-enzymatic antioxidant reserve and the presence of endogenous oxidative stress. Evidence in available suggesting the presence of increased oxidative stress in CLL (Zhou *et al.*, 2003; Collado *et al.*, 2012; Gangemsi *et al.*, 2012; Gaman *et al.*, 2014).

The decreased serum levels of reduced GSH in the present study agrees with that of Bakan *et al.*, (2003) who reported a lower serum GSH levels in patients with CLL compared with controls. This finding may be attributed to the over-production of ROS in CLL cells. The high ROS content in CLL cells could be pro-tumorigenic, but also increase the susceptibility of cancer cells to cell death above certain threshold levels (Nogueira and Hay, 2013). ROS could facilitate cancer development by direct oxidative damage to DNA, induction of lipid peroxidation or oxidative damage leading to structural alteration in the DNA (Ralph *et al.*, 2012). Furthermore, ROS- induced oxidative stress could also attenuate immune responses by causing dysfunctions and even apoptosis of NK-and t-cells, suggesting its role in immune-escape (Poschke *et al.*, 2011).

Follow-up analysis of untreated CLL patients for a median of 4.5 months of RFC therapy failed to normalize both GSH and MDA levels (Table 3-5), suggesting the persistence of endogenous oxidative stress in the treated CLL patients on one hand, and the lack of antioxidant activity of RFC (Rituximab, Fludarabine, and cyclophosphamide) combination therapy on the other hand. To the best of our knowledge, there is no evidence in the available literature suggesting that these anti-leukemic drugs possess any antioxidant activities. Furthermore, evidence is available demonstrating that rituximab (De Rosa *et al.*, 2015), fludarabine + cyclophosphamide (Goncalves *et al.*, 2009) are capable of inducing ROS-induced oxidative stress in biological systems.

### 3.2.1.4 Immunological profile 3.2.1.4.1 CD Marker

Lymphocytes of the newly diagnosed CLL patients expressed significantly increased expression of CD5, CD38 and Zap-70 compared to healthy controls (Table 3-6; Figure 3.2).

Table	(3-6)	Immunol	ogical	profile	in	control	and	newly	diagno	sed
	(	untreated	and t	reated)	Ira	qi CLL	pati	ents: A	follow	up
	5	study.								

		CLL Patients		
Parameter	Control (n=19)	Newly diagnosed (n=18)	Treated (4.5months) (n=14)	
CD-5 %	7.33±7.31 <sup>a</sup>	69.73±14.83 <sup>b</sup>	51.14±15.04 <sup>b</sup>	
CD-38 %	$5.46 \pm 6.80^{a}$	39.92±15.53 <sup>b</sup>	26.34±13.44 <sup>b</sup>	
ZAP-70 %	7.09±8.32 <sup>a</sup>	46.89±19.15 <sup>b</sup>	9.84±12.78 <sup>a</sup>	

Values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). Value with (a) is normal. Values with different letters within each parameter are significantly different (P<0.05)



Figure (3-2) The forward and side scatter light signals of the (CD5, CD38 and ZAP-70) in Iraqi patients with CLL and healthy control.

The range of the percent of expression of CD5 in the untreated CLL patients was between 34% (which is the lowest positive value) and 87% with a mean  $69.73\pm14.83$ , for all the morphologically diagnosed CLL cases which showed positive expression for CD5.

The percent of expression of CD38 range between 28%-75% with a mean of  $39.92\pm15.53$  (two of CLL cases showed negative expression of 20% compared with healthy control), as illustrated in table (3-6).

Regarding the intensity of marker expression, the majority of patients showed moderate intensity of expression for CD38. This agreed with results of Gong *et al.* (2001) who demonstrated that the majority of CLL cases showed either moderate or bright expression of CD38, and moderate CD5 expression (Cabezudo, et. al., 1999), regardless of the stage of the disease , suggesting a lack of relation between the stage of the disease and the intensity of expression. On the other hand, Geisler *et al* (1991) demonstrated that low intensity CD38 was associated with shorter survival in CLL.

Regarding the relation of the marker expression to the clinical and hematological Parameter, (Jurisic, et. al., 2008) showed greater CD5 antigen expression ,with higher peripheral blood lymphocyte count. The finding that CD38 expression associated with higher CD5 expression emphasizes that CD38<sup>+</sup> CLL cases are authentic B-CLL showing a greater disease activity as CD38 had been reported to play a complex role in lymphocyte proliferation (Rossi *et al.*, 2010).

In regards to the ZAP-70 range between (24-90%) with a mean of  $46.89\pm19.15$ , two patients out of 18 were negative (<24%) for ZAP-70 as compared with control.

ZAP-70 positivity (>30%) for previously untreated and asymptomatic patients is associated with a more unfavorable median survival (6–10 years), while a negative ZAP-70 is associated with a median survival of more than 15 years. (Crespo, et. al., 2003; Kröber, et. al., 2006).

#### 3.2.1.4.2 Interleukins

By the same token, serum level of IL-6 and IL-10 were significantly elevated in newly diagnosed CLL patients compared to controls (Table 3-7).

Table (3-7) Proinflammatory Cytokines in control and newly diagnosed(untreated and treated) Iraqi CLLpatients: A follow upstudy.

		CLL Patients	
	Control	Newly	Treated
Parameter	(n=19)	diagnosed	(4.5months) (n=14)
		( <b>n=18</b> )	
IL-6 pg/ml	0.50±0.31 <sup>a</sup>	2.53±1.98 <sup>b</sup>	1.36±0.98 <sup>b</sup>
IL-10 pg/ml	48.31±22.89 <sup>a</sup>	614±301 <sup>b</sup>	101.4±49.3 °

Values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). Value with (a) is normal. Values with different letters within each parameter are significantly different (P<0.05)

The levels of IL-6 in the serum of untreated patients with CLL were increased compared with healthy control, ranged between (1.3-6.9) pg/ml. Various studies reported that IL-6 levels in the serum increase in CLL above the range in normal control subjects, however, leukemic cells do not appear to be the source of IL-6 (Luis *et al.*, 2015). Several investigators have suggested that IL-6 in CLL inhibits proliferation but

prolongs survival (by suppressing apoptosis) of CLL cells (Aderka *et al.*, 1993; Reittie *et al.*, 1996).

The range of the IL-10 expression of the newly diagnosed CLL patients was between (212 pg/ml) value and (987 pg/ml) which is the highest positive value with a mean  $614\pm301$ , with all the morphologically diagnosed CLL cases showed positive expression for IL-10. Various studies reported that IL-10 levels were increased in CLL (Denizot *et al.*, 1999;Vassilakopoulos *et al.*, 2001) and were associated with poor prognosis (Vassilakopoulos *et al.*, 2001). Several studies also revealed a significant elevation in IL-6 and IL-10 plasma levels of CLL patients in comparison to healthy control group, (Fayad *et al.*, 2001; Guney *et al.*, 2009).

Such increase in the level of IL-10 might be due to its production by malignant cells or by different cells of the immune system, including T and B lymphocytes, macrophages and monocytes (Hadi *et al.*, 2013). RFC chemoimmun therapy, for a median of 4.5 months) for the newly diagnosed CLL patients normalized only ZAP-70 levels, but not other Parameter Tables (3-6) and (3-7).

Tsimberidou *et al.*, (2009) demonstrated that the current treatments for CLL (RFC) induce apoptosis in CLL cells but lead to significant immune-suppression and patients often develop drug resistance. Other study on CLL demonstrated that the higher levels of ZAP-70 expression are associated with shorter time to treatment and poorer survival, However, the routine clinical measurement of ZAP-70 expression is difficult and non-standardized (Crespo *et al.*, 2003).

#### **3.2.2** General features in the treated CLL patients:

In addition to the (18) untreated CLL patients, data were also obtained from another 37 CLL patients who were previously diagnosed and received therapy for a period ranged from 4 months - 8.5 years and median of (21.5 months). Unlike the previous group of CLL patients, those treated patients lack pretreatment data concerning the various Parameter investigated in the present study.

In general, detailed analyses of the various studied Parameter revealed that a median of (21.5 months) of therapy produced comparable results to those obtained following a median of 4.5 months of (RFC) chemoimmun therapy to the newly diagnosed CLL patient's data (Tables 3-8, 3-9, 3-10,3-11, and 3-12).

		CLL Patients		
Parameter	Control (n=19)	Newly diagnosed (n=18)	Old treated (21.5 months) (n=37)	
WBCs (10 <sup>9</sup> /L)	6±1.39 <sup>a</sup>	85±65.38 <sup>b</sup>	11±19.61 <sup>a</sup>	
Lymphocytes (10 <sup>9</sup> /L)	2.3±0.64 <sup>a</sup>	48.9±25.99 <sup>b</sup>	5.1±6.77 <sup>a</sup>	
RBCs $(10^{12}/L)$	4.5±0.56 <sup>a</sup>	3.6±0.80 <sup>b</sup>	3.9±0.76 <sup>b</sup>	
Hb (g/dl)	12.9±1.40 <sup>a</sup>	11.5±1.68 <sup>b</sup>	11.9±1.75 <sup>b</sup>	
PCV (%)	40±5.50 <sup>a</sup>	36±4.39 <sup>b</sup>	35±6.23 <sup>b</sup>	
PLT (10 <sup>9</sup> /L)	320±69 <sup>a</sup>	168±71.31 <sup>b</sup>	192±1.73 <sup>b</sup>	
ESR(mm/hr.)	15±9.31 <sup>a</sup>	42±15.74 <sup>b</sup>	28±7.41 °	

Table (3-8) Hematological profile in control, newly diagnosed and oldtreated Iraqi CLLpatients (for a median 21.5 months).

Values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). Value with (a) is normal. Values with different letters within each parameter are significantly different (P<0.05)

#### Table (3-9. A) Biochemical profiles in control, newly diagnosed and old treated Iraqi CLL patients (for a median 21.5 months).

		CLL Patients		
Parameter	Control (n=19)	Newly diagnosed (n=18)	Old treated (21.5 months) (n=37)	
Fasting blood glucose (mg/dl)	87±19.41 <sup>a</sup>	100±44.92 <sup>ab</sup>	122±51.22 <sup>b</sup>	
HbA1c %	4.9±0.72 <sup>a</sup>	5.6±2.06 <sup>ab</sup>	6.8±3.47 <sup>b</sup>	
Cholesterol (mg/dl)	190±24.86 <sup>a</sup>	220±36.08 <sup>a</sup>	216±42.0 <sup>a</sup>	
Triglycerides (mg/dl)	194±29.12	186±22.41 <sup>a</sup>	196±38.0 <sup>a</sup>	
Urea (mg/dl)	32.8±6.80 <sup>a</sup>	38.4±7.74 <sup>b</sup>	38.2±6.47 <sup>b</sup>	
Creatinine (mg/dl)	0.94±0.17 <sup>a</sup>	1.00±0.51 <sup>a</sup>	1.10±0.28 <sup>a</sup>	
AST(iu)/l	6.15±2,16 <sup>a</sup>	8.15±2.24 <sup>ab</sup>	9.68±7.53 <sup>b</sup>	
ALT (iu)/l	6.89±1.76 <sup>a</sup>	6.47±1.77 <sup>a</sup>	8.86±3.44 <sup>b</sup>	
Total bilirubin (mg/dl)	0.92±0.17 <sup>a</sup>	1.08±0.30 <sup>b</sup>	1.12±0.16 <sup>b</sup>	
Albumin (gm/l)	42.2±4.98 <sup>a</sup>	52.1±14.56 <sup>b</sup>	50.8±11.62 <sup>b</sup>	
Uric acid (mg/dl)	5.20±0.99 <sup>a</sup>	7.98±0.70 <sup>b</sup>	7.08±0.80 <sup>b</sup>	

Values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). Value with (a) is normal. Values with different letters within each parameter are significantly different (P<0.05)

Analysis of the biochemical data of the old treated CLL patients revealed that (11) diabetic out of 37(29.1%) of an old patients showed hyperglycemia and elevated HbA1c levels, thus supporting the presence of diabetes type II (based on patients history), among these patients. (Table 3-9. B).

Parameter	Control	Old treated CLL patients Median (21.5) months		
	(n=19)	Diabetic (n=11)	Nondiabetic (n=26)	
Fasting blood glucose (mg/dl)	87±19.41 <sup>a</sup>	185±48.29 <sup>b</sup>	87±24.39 <sup>a</sup>	
HbA1c%	5.0±0.7 <sup>a</sup>	10.7±3.4 <sup>b</sup>	4.9±0.74 <sup>a</sup>	

### Table (3-9. B) Fasting blood glucose and HbA1c in control, Diabetic,and euglycemic old treated Iraqi CLL patients

Values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). Value with (a) is normal. Values with different letters within each parameter are significantly different (P<0.05)

Collectively, (16) out of (55) CLL patients involved in this study (both untreated newly diagnosed and old treated) showed type II diabetes, with increased of (29%). This percentage is slightly higher than that reported by Sawitsky *et al.*, (1977) who observed a prevalence of (22%) of CLL patients with diabetes mellitus prior to therapy.

The reason for this high prevalence in Iraqi patients is unknown, however, it may be explained by the finding of Castillo *et al.*, (2012) who suggested that the increased risk of leukemia seemed to be distinct depending on the geographic area of study. They reported that the risk of leukemia is elevated in Asian and American not in European studies.

On the other hand, Habib and Rojna (2013) reported that, overall, (8-18)% of cancer patients have diabetes.

Several lines of evidence are available in the literature documenting the comorbidity of diabetes (especially type II diabetes) with different types of cancers (Giovannucci *et al.*, 2010; Habib and Rojna, 2013; Xu *et al.*, 2014; Gristina *et al.*, 2015), as well as comorbidity of diabetes with different types of leukemia, including chronic myeloid leukemia (CML)

(Breccia *et al.*, 2005; Ono *et al.*, 2012; Racil *et al.*, 2013), acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) (Yetgin *et al.*, 1998; Suzuki *et al.*, 2011) as well as chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) (Fortuny *et al.*, 2005; Khan *et al.*, 2008; Castillo *et al.*, 2012).

The above-mentioned epidemiologic studies, based on cohort studies and meta analyses, were consistent in their suggestion that diabetes, especially type II DM, is associated with increased risk of cancer. However, the exact pathophysiological mechanism(s) responsible for such association remains unsettled.

Several possibilities have been postulated to explain the likely mechanism(s) involved in promoting incidence of cancer in diabetes. First, the possibility of a direct causal relationship between type II diabetes and CLL has been excluded by Khan *et al.*, (2008) who hypothesized that diabetes may not play a causal role in the etiology of CLL. Instead, they suggested that underlying pathophysiological mechanism(s) of both disorders may include shared genetic or environmental susceptibility factors.

Second, Giovannucci *et al.*, (2010) suggested that cancer incidence is associated with diabetes as well as diabetes risk factors or diabetes treatment.

Third, the possibility of an indirect biological link between diabetes and cancer received much attention. Among these biological links were hyperglycemia, HbA1c, insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia, increased production of inflammatory cytokines, and over-production of insulin-like growth factor in type II diabetes that could favor malignant transformation of cells and also progression of tumors (Reviewed by Giovannucci *et al.*, 2010; Xu *et al.*, 2014; Gristina *et al.*, 2015).

Some of these biological links, such as HbA1c, was suggested as a potential risk for different types of cancers independent of diabetes (de Beer and Liebenberg, 2014; Muc-Wierzgon *et al.*, 2014).

Needless to say, the limitation of the present study is the small number of patients involved, a fact that limits my ability to draw firm conclusions about either the possible mechanisms responsible for the comorbidity of diabetes and CLL or the clinical significance of the elevated HbA1c in the present study. Therefore, further studies are warranted using large number of patients to investigate whether or not diabetes, or for that matter, HbA1c could be utilized as a potential risk factor for the incidence of CLL in Iraqi patients.

Table (3-10) Antioxidant profile in control, newly diagnosed and oldtreated Iraqi CLLpatients (for a median 21.5 months).

		CLL Patients		
Parameter	Control (n=19)	Newly diagnosed (n=18)	Old treated (21.5 months) (n=37)	
Glutathione (GSH) (µg/ml)	26.45±3.78 <sup>a</sup>	6.45±2.85 <sup>b</sup>	7.52±1.78 <sup>b</sup>	
Malondialdehyde MDA (nmol/ml)	2.09±0.94 <sup>a</sup>	4.09±1.08 <sup>b</sup>	3.24±1.78 °	

Values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). Value with (a) is normal. Values with different letters within each parameter are significantly different (P<0.05)

Table (3-11) Immunological profile in control, newly diagnosed and<br/>old treated Iraqi CLL patients (for a median 21.5<br/>months).

		CLL Patients	
Parameter	Control	Newly	Old treated
	(n=19)	diagnosed (n=18)	(21.5 months) (n=37)
CD-5 %	7.33±7.31 <sup>a</sup>	69.73±14.83 <sup>b</sup>	69.76±15.6 <sup>b</sup>
CD-38 %	5.46±6.80 <sup>a</sup>	39.92±15.53 <sup>b</sup>	33.07±18.97 <sup>b</sup>
ZAP-70 %	7.09±8.32 <sup>a</sup>	46.89±19.15 <sup>b</sup>	7.99±10.50 <sup>a</sup>

Values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). Value with (a) is normal. Values with different letters within each parameter are significantly different (P<0.05)

## Table (3-12) Proinflammatory Cytokines profile in control, newlydiagnosed and old treated Iraqi CLLpatients (for amedian 21.5 months).

	Control (n=19)	CLL Patients		
Parameter		Newly Diagnosed (n=18)	Old treated (21.5 months) (n=37)	
IL-6 pg/ml	0.50±0.31 <sup>a</sup>	2.53±1.98 <sup>b</sup>	2.07±1.67 <sup>b</sup>	
IL-10 pg/ml	48.31±23.89 <sup>a</sup>	614±301 <sup>b</sup>	85.5±63.4 °	

Values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). Value with (a) is normal. Values with different letters within each parameter are significantly different (P<0.05)

#### 3.3 Molecular Profile in CLL patients:

This part of research has been conducted on the partial IgVH region with amplified 240 bp using specific primers VH FR2 and JH JHE, after converted RNA (total) being extracted from MNCs to cDNA in one step RT-PCR, for preparation the specific region for sequencing. Twenty subjects were randomly selected and involved in this experiment, eight newly diagnosed CLL patients (4 males and 4 females) and eight old treated CLL patients who are currently receiving treatment, (4 males and 4 females), and four healthy control (2 males and 2 females), which they are one from male and female. (Figure 3-3).



Figure (3-3): Gel electrophoresis for PCR amplification of IGHV gene showing band with molecular size (240bp). Electrophoresis was performed on 1.5 % agarose gel and run with a 100-volt current for 2 hrs. Lane M:100 bp ladder. From 1 to 15 lane were patients and control samples. -ve: negative control.

In normal B-cells, any immune complex or antigen induced germinal center GC enlargement formation of new ones as small B-cells surrounding GC, appearance of memory B-cells and development of Ig production cells of high affinity. During this particularly frenetic bout of cell division, somatic hypermutation of B-cell Ig genes occurs encoded
by unmutated germ-line genes represent a form of evolutionary memory so-called 'natural antibody'. Randomly, some mutated daughter cells will have higher affinity for antigen, some the same or lower and others perhaps none at all. Similarly, mutations in the framework regions may be 'silent' or, if they disrupt the folding of the protein, give rise to nonfunctional molecules (Küppers, 2004; Dooley *et al.*, 2006).

Clones use either mutated or unmutated IGHV genes (Fais *et al.*, 1998), with distinct clinical courses, the IGHV repertoire in CLL is not random and differs between U-CLL and M-CLL as well as between CLL cells and normal B cells ( kipps *et al.*, 2000).

Mutations of VH genes of Ig are identified by comparing DNA sequences of genes in B cells with corresponding genes in the germline. DNA sequences of B cells differing by  $\Box 2\%$  from its germline counterpart are considered mutated (Schroeder *et al.*, 1994).

Extensive molecular investigations of the B cell receptor (BCR) indicated that 60%–65% of CLLs carry immunoglobulin heavy-chain variable (IGHV) genes with evidence of somatic hypermutation in their variable regions, a process that occurs in the germinal center and may modify BCR affinity for antigens (Klein, et. al., 2008).

IGHV unmutated CLL cells are typically BCR signaling competent whereas IGHV mutated CLL cells respond weakly or not at all to BCR crosslinking induced by anti IgM antibodies (Tsimberidou *et al.*, 2009).

The mutational status of IgVH is also associated with specific genomic aberrations; for instance, del (17p13) or del (11q23) occurs more frequently in patients with unmutated IgVH CLL (unmut-IgVH), whereas mutations such as 13q- as sole aberrancy are generally associated with mutated IgVH (mut-IgVH) CLL (Krober *et al.*, 2006).

#### **3.3.1 DNA Sequencing**

Evaluation of biological prognosticators was centralized in few reference laboratories, IGHV mutational status was performed as previously reported (Bomben *et al.*, 2009).

The immunoglobulins expressed by CLL B cells are highly restricted, suggesting they are selected for binding either self or foreign antigen of the immunoglobulin heavy-chain variable (IGHV) genes expressed in CLL (Mauerer *et al.*, 2005).

In general, CLL patients that express unmutated Ig heavy chain (IGHV) genes have a worse prognosis than those who express mutated IGHV genes (Tsimberidou *et al.*, 2009)

For DNA sequencing, PCR products were performed and send to Macrogen Company/Korea. Data were analysed using immunoglobulins and T cell receptor sequences database provided from NCBI using IgBLAST tool.

Results of sequencing reveled that healthy controls showed unmutated IGVH, figure (3-4).



Figure (3-4) Mutated and unmutated IGVH in Iraqi CLL patients with healthy controls.

Furthermore, figure (3-5) showed that healthy controls have sequencing of IGVH completely identical to immunoglobulin and T-cell receptor (IgBLAST).



## Figure (3-5): Sequence analysis summary of IGVH in Iraqi healthy control (IgBLAST)

Results of IGVH sequencing the newly diagnosed untreated CLL patients revealed that, 3 (37.5%) out of (8) have mutated IGHV genes, at the position (FR3-IMGT) with identity (99.1%) (Figure 3-4, 3-6). As following:

**A-Mismatch** one base from fragment length (207)bp at a total identity (99.4%).

B-Mismatch one base from fragment length (203)bp at a total identity (99.4%).

C- **Mismatch** one base from fragment length (191)bp at a total identity (99.3%).

Sample A	from	to	length	matches	mismatches	gaps	identity(	(%)	
FR3-IMGT	44	157	114	113	1	0	99.1	5	K N T CCAAGAACA
Total			165	164	1	0	99.4		G к <u>р</u> т
			-	Length=	207				
Sample B	from	to	length	matches	mismatches	gaps	identity()	8)	
FR3-IMGT	40	153	114	113	1	0	99.1	5'	TCACCAACA
Total			161	160	1	0	99.4	_	TIT
				Length=2	203				
									Ŷ
	from	n to	length	matches	mismatches	gaps	identity	(%)	K N T CCAAGAACA
Sample C	28	141	114	113	1	0	99.1		G
Sample C FR3-IMGT			149	148	1	0	99.3		кыт
Sample C FR3-IMGT Total									

## Figure (3-6): Sequence analysis summary of IGVH in the newly diagnosed untreated Iraqi CLL patients (IgBLAST)

DNA sequence in the treated CLL patients revealed that, four of them (50%) have mutated IGHV genes, at the position (FR3-IMGT) with identity (99.1%)(Figure 3-7). As following:

A-Mismatch one base from fragment length (185)bp at a total identity (99.4%).

**B**-Mismatch one base from fragment length (198)bp at a total identity (99.4%).

C- Mismatch one base from fragment length (180)bp at a total identity (99.4%).

**D**- Mismatch one base from fragment length (186)bp at a total identity (99.3%).

											₿	
S	Sample A	from	to	length	matches	mismatches	gaps	identity(	<b>%)</b>	v	v	·
F	R3-IMGT	42	155	114	113	1	0	99.1	5'	777. 7	220	sca.
Г	Total			163	162	1	0	99.4	7			с
					Length=	185				K	N	Q
											Ŷ	
\$	Sample B	from	to	length	matches	mismatches	gaps	identity(	30	т	*	Y
F	R3-IMGT	35	148	114	113	1	0	99.1	5'	CAI	'AA'	l'AC
ſ	Total			156	155	1	0	99.4		• • •	.т.	• • •
Γ					Length=	198				т	Y	Y
									Г		п	
	Sample(	fro	n to	lengt	matche	smismatches	gaps	identity	(30)	т	₽	т
	Sample ( FR3-IMG	fror 42	n to 155	length 5 114	matches	s mismatches 1	gaps 0	identity 99.1	·(%)	T ' CA		T
	Sample ( FR3-IMG Total	fro 42	n to 155	length 5 114 163	matche 113 162	s mismatches 1 1	gaps 0 0	identity 99.1 99.4	, (%) 5	т ' СА' 		T ACA( T
-	Sample ( FR3-IMG Total	fro 42	n to 155	length 114 163	matches 113 162 Length	s mismatches 1 1 =180	gaps 0 0	identity 99.1 99.4	,( <u>%)</u> : 5	T ' CA  T		T ACA( T T
-	Sample ( FR3-IMG Total	fro 42	n to 155	length 5 114 163	113 162 Length	s mismatches 1 1 =180	gaps 0 0	s identity 99.1 99.4	,(%) 5	T 'CA' T		T ACAO T T
-	Sample ( FR3-IMG Total Sample D	fron 42	n to 155	length 5 114 163	matches 113 162 Length matches	s mismatches	gaps 0 0	identity 99.1 99.4	(3) 5 (3) (3)	T 'CA' T		T ACAO T T
	Sample ( FR3-IMG1 Total Sample D FR3-IMG1	from from 25	n to 155	length 114 163	matches 113 162 Length matches 113	s mismatches 1 =180 s mismatches 1	gaps 0 0	identity 99.1 99.4 identity 99.1	(%)	T 'CA' T T		T ACAO T T
-	Sample ( FR3-IMG1 Total Sample D FR3-IMG1 Total	from from 25	n to 155	length 114 163	matches 113 162 Length matches 113 145	s mismatches 1 =180 s mismatches 1 1	gaps 0 0 0	identity 99.1 99.4 identity 99.1 99.3	(%) 5 (%) 5	T 'CA T T		T ACA( T T Y Y

#### Figure (3-7): Sequence analysis summary of IGVH in the treated Iraqi CLL patients (IgBLAST)

However, CD38 expression and IgVH mutation status are less highly associated (Thunberg *et al.*, 2001). CD38 expression may change over the disease course (Hamblin *et al.*, 2000). Currently, the best surrogate marker of IgVH mutation status is ZAP70. The expression of ZAP70 in CLL cells has been shown to correlate well with unmutated IgVH genes and poor clinical outcome (Crespo *et al.*, 2003). ZAP70 expression with IgVH mutation status ranges from 75 to 90% and its expression seems to be stable over time (Orchard *et al.*, 2004).

#### 3.3.2 Molecular analysis of genetic using RT-PCR

Because these studies have focused on different prognostic factors, it is not surprising that they have identified independent sets of potential biomarkers. Novel biologic and genetic markers are providing tools to aid in the better prediction of responses, disease progression, and survival in patients with CLL. Unmut-IgVH is clearly an independent predictor of outcome in CLL patients. The correlation between unmut-IgVH and an increased risk for clonal evolution suggests that the presence of unmut-VH is required to induce karyotypic instability (Tobin *et al.*, 2003).

Unmut-IgVH does not appear to independently predict for chemoresistance, but patients with unmut-IgVH CLL are reported to have shorter remissions, the prognosis of unmut-IgVH patients remains poor, even after high dose chemotherapy (Lin *et al.*, 2007).

#### **3.4 Evaluation of laboratory Data:**

Analysis of the present data using the coefficient of variation gave values that covered the range of (1%-100%), although the majority of them were within the acceptable values (between 5% and 15) (Snedecor and Cochran, 1976), indicating the presence of large variability among the laboratory data. Variability in the present data could be caused by two types of factors. The first, are common factors that are likely to apply to both control and leukemic groups, such as experimental error as well as the biological variation in the values of any of the measured Parameter. The second factors could be attributed to abnormalities restricted to the leukemic state and it is severity (notably the stage of the disease).

It was clear that leukemic data were not uniform or classical but, in fact, varied considerably and covered a range from mild abnormalities to severe ones. The presence of such variations in the leukemic patients in the present study is likely an important factor responsible for the finding that the coefficient of variation was higher in the leukemic patients than in control subjects.

Therefore, although I acknowledge the presence of considerable variability in the presence data, this has not prevented the detection of many highly significant differences between control and leukemic groups.

# Conclusions and

## Recommendations

#### Conclusions

The present study reached the following conclusions:

- 1. Hyperglycemia and elevated HbA1c level (suggestive of diabetes) were present in approximately 29% of the CLL patients, regardless of the disease stage and the duration of combination therapy (Rituximab, Fludarabine and cyclophosphamide) (RFC), thereby confirming the comorbidity of diabetes with CLL state. This finding may suggest the presence of a possible biologic link, such as HbA1c, between the two conditions through, as yet, unknown mechanism(s).
- 2. The reduction in the serum levels of glutathione, along with the elevation in serum MDA levels of CLL patients suggest the presence of an increased endogenous oxidative stress in CLL patients.
- 3. The inability of (RFC) chemotherapy to normalize both serum GSH and MDA levels in treated CLL patients is suggestive of a lack of an antioxidant activity of these drugs, and the persistence of endogenous oxidative stress in treated CLL patients.
- 4. The serum levels of IL-6 and IL-10 are higher in CLL patients compared to control. Furthermore, the expressions of CD5, CD38, and ZAP-70 were also higher in CLL patients than in controls. RFC therapy managed only to normalize ZAP-70 expression.
- 5. The fact that FRC therapy managed to normalize both absolute lymphocyte count and ZAP-70 expression in CLL patients suggests a possible correlation between those two parameters.
- 6. Sequence analysis of IGVH gene revealed that 3 out of the 8 tested newly Diagnosed CLL patients and 4 out 8 tested treated CLL patients had mutated IGVH, while none of the 4 tested healthy controls showed mutated IGVH.

#### Recommendations

Using a large number of patients, further studies are needed to investigate :

- The role of environmental and genetic factors in the severity of CLL in Iraqi Patients.
- The profile of immunophenotypes and cytokines in CLL patients to include more immune profiles that may have a potential in CLL treatment.
- The detailed antioxidant profile in CLL patients, and to assess whether or not the inclusion of some natural antioxidant nutrients, e.g. vitamin E or C, with the standard RFC chemotherapy can augment the efficacy of RFC therapy in CLL patients.
- The detailed biochemical profile concerning carbohydrate metabolism in diabetic CLL patients in order to support or nullify the hypothesis that diabetes may increase the incidence of CLL. Also, to investigate whether or not elevated HbA1c levels could be utilized as a potential risk factor for the incidence of CLL in Iraqi patients.
- The degree of correlation between the various studied parameters in the present study.
- The present studied parameters in each stage of the CLL, i.e., stages A, B and C, in an attempt to determine if there is a stage dependent alterations in these parameters.

Reference

And

Appendix

#### -A-

- Aderka D, Maor Y, Novick D, et al. Interleukin-6 inhibits the proliferation of B-chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells that is induced by tumor necrosis factor-alpha or -beta. Blood. 1993;81:2076-2084.

Admirand JH, Rassidakis GZ, Abruzzo LV, et al. Immunohistochemical detection of ZAP-70 in 341 cases of non-Hodgkin and Hodgkin lymphoma.
 Mod Pathol. 2004; 17:954–61. [PubMed: 15133473].

Abdel-Ghafar AA, El Telbany MAS, Mahmoud HM, et al.,
 Immunophenotyping of chronic B-cell neoplasms: flow cytometry versus
 Immunohistochemistry. Hematology Reports. 2012; 4:e3 6-11.

- Arrigo AP: Gene expression and the thiol redox state. Free Radic Biol Med 1999, 27:936–944.

- Athanasiadou A. Clinical, immunophenotypic, and molecular profiling of trisomy 12 in chronic lymphocytic leukemia and comparison with other karyotypic subgroups defined by cytogenetic analysis. Cancer Genet Cytogenet 2006; 168(2): 109–119.

#### -B-

- Bakan N, Taysis S, Yailmaz O, et al. Glutathione peroxidase, glutathione reductase, CU-Zn superoxide dismutase activities, glutathione, nitric oxide, and MDA concentrations in serum of patients with CLL. Clin chim Acta. 2003: 338 143-9.

- Bain BJ. Leukemia diagnosis.4<sup>th</sup> edition. Blackwell publishing, UK, 2010:p 65-74.

- Banchereau, J.1., Pascual, V. and O'Garra, A. From IL-2 to IL-37: the expanding spectrum of anti-inflammatory cytokines. Nat Immunol., (2012). 13: 925-931.

- Barcos M, Lane W, Gomez G et al. An autopsy study of 1206 acute and chronic leukemias (1958 to 1982). Cancer 1987; 60: 827–837.

- Barham D, Trinder P. An improved color reagent for the determination of blood glucose by the oxidase system. Analyst 1972;97:142-5.

- Binet JL, Auquier A, Dighiero G, Chastang C, Piguet H, Goasguen J,Vaugier G, Potron G, Colona P, Oberling F, Thomas M, Tchernia G,Jacquillat C, Boivin P, Lesty C, Duault MT, Monconduit M, BelabbesS, Gremy F: A new prognostic classification of chronic lymphocyticleukemia derived from multivariate survival analysis. Cancer 1981,48:198–206.

- Blum KA, Ruppert AS, Woyach JA, et al. Risk factors for tumor lysis syndrome in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia treated with the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor, flavopiridol. Leukemia. 2011; 25:1444–1451. [PubMed: 21606960].

- Bomben R, et al., : Molecular and clinical features of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia with stereotyped B cell receptors: results from an Italian multicentre study. Br J Haematol 2009, 144(4):492-506.

- Boudville N, Latham B, Cordingly F et al. Renal failure in a patient with leukaemic infiltration of the kidney and polyomavirus infection. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2001; 16: 1059–1061.

- Brown JR , MD, PhD. Inherited predisposition to chronic lymphocytic leukemia,Expert Review of Hematology. October 2008; Vol. 1, No. 1 : Pages 51-61.

- Breccia M, Muscaritoli M, Alimena G. Reduction of glycoslated haemoglobin with stable insulin level in a  $Ph^+$  CML diabetic patient responsive to imatinib, Haematological (2005): 90 $\otimes$ 6) e 61.

Burger JA, Tsukada N, Burger M, Zvaifler NJ, Dell'Aquila M, Kipps TJ.
 Blood-derived nurse-like cells protect chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells
 from spontaneous apoptosis through stromal cell-derived factor-1. Blood.
 2000; 96:2655–2663. [PubMed: 11023495].

- Burger M, et al. Small peptide inhibitors of the CXCR4 chemokine receptor (CD184) antagonize the activation, migration, and antiapoptotic responses of CXCL12 in chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells. Blood. 2005; 106(5):1824–30. [PubMed: 15905192].

- Bustin, S.A. Quantification of mRNA using real time revease transcription PCR (RT-PCR): trends and problems .J.Mol .Endocrinol, (2002). .29(1):23-29.

- Byrd JC, Flynn JM. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia. In: Niederhuber JE, Armitage JO, Doroshow JH, Kastan MB, Tepper JE, eds. *Abeloff's Clinical Oncology*. 5th ed. Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier Churchill Livingstone; 2014:chap 102.

#### *-C-*

- Cabezudo E, Carrara P, et al.Quantitative analysis of CD79b, CD5 and CD19 in mature B-cell lymphoproliferative disorders, Haematologica. 1999 May;84(5):413-8.

- Calin GA, Ferracin M, Cimmino A, Di Leva G, Shimizu M, Wojcik SE, Iorio MV, Visone R, Sever NI, Fabbri M, Iuliano R, Palumbo T, Pichiorri F, Roldo C, Garzon R, Sevignani C, Rassenti L, Alder H, Volinia S, Liu CG, Kipps TJ, Negrini M, Croce CM: A microRNA signature associated with prognosis and progression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. N Engl J Med 2005, 353:1793-1801.

- Cartwright RA, Bernard SM. Bird CC. et al., CLL: case control epidemiological study in Yorkshine. (1987), Bo. J. Cancer 56 (1):79-82.

- Castillo JJ<sup>1</sup>, Mull N, Reagan JLIncreased incidence of non-Hodgkin lymphoma, leukemia, and myeloma in patients with diabetes mellitus type 2: a meta-analysis of observational studies. Blood: 119(21):4845-4850.

Catovsky D, Montserrat E. Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia and other
 B-cell disorders. In: Hoffbrand AV,Catovsky D, et al (ed). Postgraduate
 Haematology. 6<sup>th</sup> edition.UK: Blackwell Publishing; 2011.p:530-556.

Chaganti RS, Nanjangud G. Cytogenetics of lymphoma. In: Mauch PM,
 Armitage JO, Coiffier B, Dalla-Favera R, Harris NL, eds. Non-Hodgkin's
 Lymphomas. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2004:809 824.

- Chen L, Apgar J, Huynh L, et al. ZAP-70 directly enhances IgM signaling in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood. 2005;105: 2036-2041.

- Chen L, Widhopf G, Huynh L, Rassenti L, Rai KR, Weiss A, Kipps TJ. Expression of ZAP-70 is associated with increased B-cell receptor signaling in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood. 2002; 100:4609–4614. [PubMed: 12393534].

 Cherie H. Dunphy. Applications of Flow Cytometry and immunohistochemistry to Diagnostic Hematopathology. Arch Pathol Lab Med. Vol 128; September 2004:1004-1022.

Cheson BD. Etiology and management of tumor lysis syndrome in patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Clin Adv Hematol Oncol. 2009; 7:263–271. [PubMed: 19521331].

- Chiorazzi N, Ferrarini M. Evolving view of the in-vivo kinetics of chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells. Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program. 2006:273–278. 512. [PubMed: 17124072].

Chiorazzi N, Rai KR, Ferrarini M. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia. The
 New England journal of medicine. 2005; 352(8):804–815. [PubMed: 15728813].

- R. Collado, I. Oliver, C. Tormos et al., "Early ROS-mediated DNA damage and oxidative stress biomarkers in Monoclonal B Lymphocytosis," Cancer Letters, vol. 317, no. 2, pp. 144–149, 2012.

- Crespo M, Bosch F, Villamor N, et al. ZAP-70 expression as a surrogate for immunoglobulinvariable-region mutations in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2003; 348:1764–1775. [PubMed: 12724482].

- Conklin KA. Chemotherapy-associated oxidative stress: impact on chemotherapeutic effectiveness. Integr Cancer Ther. 2004; 3: 294-300.

- Crespo M, Bosch F, Villamor N, et al. ZAP-70 expression as a surrogate for immunoglobulinvariable-region mutations in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2003; 348:1764–1775. [PubMed: 12724482].

- Cuthill K, Devereux S. How I treat patients with relapsed chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. Br J Haematol. 2013;163:423–35.

#### -D-

- Da'as N, Polliack A, Cohen Y, Amir G, Darmon D, Kleinman Y, Goldfarb AW, Ben-Yehuda D: Kidney involvement and renal manifestations in nonHodgkin's lymphoma and lymphocytic leukemial a retrospective study in 700 patients. Eur J Haematol 2001, 67(3):158-164.

Damle RN, Wasil T, Fais F, et al. Ig V gene mutation status and CD38 expression as novel prognostic indicators in chronic lymphocytic leukemia.
 Blood. 1999; 94:1840–1847. [PubMed: 10477712] 16.

- Deaglio S, Capobianco A, Bergui L, Durig J, Morabito F, Duhrsen U, Malavasi F. CD38 is a signaling molecule in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells. Blood. 2003; 102:2146–2155. [PubMed: 12763926].

- Dearden C. Disease-Specific Complications of ChronicLymphocytic Leukemia, American Society of Hematology. 2008; p:450-456.

- De Beer JC, and Liebenberg L. Doescacer risk increase with HbA1c independent of diabetes? Br.J. Cancer .(2014), 110:2361-2368.

- Del Principe MI, Del Poeta G, Buccisano F, Maurillo L, Venditti A, Zucchetto A, Marini R, Niscola P, Consalvo MA, Mazzone C, Ottaviani L, Panetta P, Bruno A, Bomben R, Suppo G, Degan M, Gattei V, de Fabritiis P, Cantonetti M, Lo Coco F, Del Principe D, Amadori S: Clinical significance of ZAP-70 protein expression in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood 2006, 108:853-861.

Denizot Y.; Turlure P.; Borsessoule D.; Trimoreau F.; Praloran V.(1999):Serum IL10&IL13 concentrations in patients with haematological malignancies .Cytokine 11:634-635.

– De Rosa A, Zappavigna S, Villa MR, et al. Prognostic role of translocator protein and oxidative stress markers in CLL patients treated with bendamustine plus rituximab. Oncology Lett. 2015: 9: 1327-32.

DeVita VT, Lawrence TS, Rosenberg SA, DePinho RA and Weinberg
 RA: DeVita, Hellman, and Rosenberg's Cancer: Principles and Practice of
 Oncology. 8th edition. Lippncott Williams & Wilkins, 2009.

- Dhot, C.P.; Maj, D.S.; Brig., G.S. Collection, separation, enumeration and cryopreservation of umbilical cord blood haematopietic stem cells .An experimental study. MJAFI, (2003).59 (4):298-301.

– DiLillo DJ, Matsushita T, Tedder TF. B10 cells and regulatory B cells balance immune responses during inflammation, autoimmunity, and cancer. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2010; 1183:38–57. [PubMed: 20146707].

DJurdjevic P, Zelen I, Ristic P, et al. Oxidative stress accelerates spontaneous apoptosis of B-CLL lymphocyte. J BOUN. 2009: 14: 281-7.
 [PMID: 19650179].

- Dohner H, Stilgenbauer S, Benner A, et al. Genomic aberrations and survival in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2000; 343:1910–1916. [PubMed: 11136261].

- Dooley, H., and Flajnik, M. F. Antibody repertoire development in cartilaginous fish. Dev. Comp. Immunol. (2006). 30, 43–56.

#### -*E*-

- Esterbauer H.Dieber-Rotheneder M; Striegl G; et al., Am J Clin Nutr. 1991 Jan; 53(1 Suppl):314S-321S. Role of vitamin E in preventing the oxidation of low-density lipoprotein.

– Estella Matutes, Barbara J Bain, and Andrew Wotherspoon. The molecular basis of lymphoma. : In An Atlas of Investigation and Diagnosis lymphoid malignancy. Clinical Publishing Oxford; 2007:pp:1-14.

#### -F-

- Fayad L.; Keating MJ ; Reuben JM ; O'Brien S. ; Lee BN ; Lerner S. and Kurzrock R. Interleukin-6 and interleukin-10 levels in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: correlation with phenotypic characteristics and outcome. Blood , (2001) , 97:256–263.

- Finkel T, Holbrook NJ: Oxidants, oxidative stress and the biology of ageing. Nature 2000, 408:239–247.

- Fiona E. Craig and Kenneth A. Foon .Flowcytometric immunophenotyping for hematologic neoplasms. BLOOD. 15 April 2008-volume 111; number 8:3941-3967.

Flckiger AC, Duran I, Banchereau J. Interleukin-10 induces apoptotic
 cell death of B-chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells. J Exp Med. 1994; 179:91 99.

- Fortuny J, Benavente Y, Bosch R, et al., type II diabetes mellitus, its treatment and risk for lymphoma (2005), Eur J cancer 41(12):1782-1787.

- Freireich EJ. Leukemias. In: The Merck Manual of Diagnosis and therapy. Edited by Porter RS; Kaplan TL (19 ed.). Mercck Sharp and Dohme Corp. NJ. Chpt . (2010), 117:pp:1010-1012.

#### -G-

- Gale RP, Cozen W, Goodman MT, Wang FF and Bernstein L: Decreased chronic lymphocytic leukemia incidence in Asians in Los Angeles County. Leuk Res 24: 665-669, 2000.

- Gaman AM, Buga AM, et al. the role of oxidative stress and the effects of antioxidants on the incidence of infectious complications of CLL. Oxidative Med. Cell. Longevity 2014: Article ID 158135:1-6.

- Gangemi S., Allegra A., Aguennouz M. et al. Relationship between advanced oxidation protein productions, advance glycation end productions, and S-nitrosylated proteins with biological risk and MDR-1polymorphism in patients affected by B-CLL. Cancer Invest. 2012: 30: 20-6. [PubMed: 22236186].

- Geisler CH, Larsen JK, Hansen NE, et al. Prognosticimportance of flow cytometricimmunophenotyping of 540consecutive patients with B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia, Blood. 1991;78:1795-1802.

Gertz MA. Managing tumor lysis syndrome in 2010. Leuk Lymphoma.
2010; 51:179–180. [PubMed: 20038233].

- Ghosh, V. 2010; (2012). What are Interleukins.

- Giovannucci E, Harlen DM, Archer MC et al., diabetes and cancer: a consensus report. CA cancer J Clin. (2010), 60(4):207-221.

- Gong JZ, Lagoo AS, et al.Value of CD38 determination by flow cytometry in differentiating mantle cell lymphoma from chronic lymphocytic leukemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma,Am J ClinPathol. 2001 Dec;116(6):893-7.

- Gorgun G, et al. E(mu)-TCL1 mice represent a model for immunotherapeutic reversal of chronic lymphocytic leukemia-induced T-cell dysfunction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009; 106(15): 6250–5. [PubMed: 19332800].

- Gorgun G, et al. E(mu)-TCL1 mice represent a model for immunotherapeutic reversal of chronic lymphocytic leukemia-induced T-cell dysfunction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009; 106(15): 6250–5. [PubMed: 19332800].

Graig JIO, McClelland DBL, Watson HG (2010). Blood diseases. IN:
 Davidsons Principles and Practice of Medcine. Edited by Colledge NR;Walker
 BR, Ralston SH. (21 ed.). Churchill Livingstone Elsevier. Edinburgh. Chpt
 24:pp 1035-1036.

- Gristina V, Cupri MG, Torchio M, et al., Diabetes and cancer: A critical appraisal of the pathogenetic and therapeutic links (Review). Biomedical Reports. (2015), 3:131-136.

- Guevara M, Arroyo V, Rodés J . The liver in urogenital diseases. In: Rodés J, Benhaumou JP, Blei AT, Reichen J, Rizzetto M, editors. Textbook of Hepatology. 3rd ed. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing, 2007: 1653-1661.

- Guney N.; Soydinc HO ; Basaran M. ; Bavbek S. ; Derin D. ;Camlica H. ; Yasasever V. ; Topuz E.(2009):Asian Pacific J Cancer Prev,10, 669-674.

#### -H-

- Habib S.L. and Rojna M. Diabetes and risk of cancer ISRN oncology. (2013). Article ID 583786.

- Hadi D.; Shani W. ; Asaad A. and Alaa H. Abed. Serum levels of interleukin-6 and interleukin-10 in adult newly diagnosed Iraqi Non Hodgkin's

lymphoma patients. European Journal of Experimental Biology .(2013): 3(5):441-446.

- C. Haferlach, F. Dicker, T. Weiss et al., "Toward a comprehensive prognostic scoring system in chronic lymphocytic leukemia based on a combination of genetic parameters," Genes Chromosomes and Cancer, vol. 49, no. 9, pp. 851–859, 2010.

- Hallek M, Cheson BD, et al. Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia: a report from the International Workshop on Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia updating the National Cancer Institute– Working Group 1996 guidelines, Blood. June 15, 2008; vol. 111 (no12): page 5446-5456.

- Halliwell, B. Biochemistry of oxidative stress. J. Biochemical Society Transfections, (2007). 35: 1147-1150.

- Halliwell B, Gutteridge J: Free radicals in biology and medicine. 3rd edition. Oxford: Clarendon; 1999.

Hamblin T, Davis Z, Gardiner A, Oscier D, Stevenson F. Unmutated Ig
 V(H) genes are associated with a more aggressive form of chronic lymphocytic
 leukemia. Blood. 1999; 94:1848–1854. [PubMed: 10477713].

Hamblin TJ, Orchard JA, Gardiner A, Oscier DG, Davis Z, Stevenson
 FK: Immunoglobulin V genes and CD38 expression in CLL. Blood 2000,
 95:2455–2457.

- S. Hewamana, C. Pepper, C. Jenkins, and C. Rowntree, "Acute renal failure as the presenting feature of leukaemic infiltration in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia," Clinical and Experimental Nephrology, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 179–181, 2009.

- E. A. Hileman, G. Achanta, and P. Huang, "Superoxide dismutase: an emerging target for cancer therapeutics," Expert Opinion on Therapeutic Targets, vol. 5, no. 6, pp. 697–710, 2001.

- Humphries C. Adoptive cell therapy: Honing that killer instinct. Nature. 2013; 504:S13-15.

#### -J-

– Jablonska E, Kiersnowska-Rogowska B, Rogowski F, Parfienczyk A, Puzewska W, Bukin M. TNF family molecules in the serum of patients with B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia (B-CLL). Leuk Lymphoma. 2005;46(9):1307-1312.

- Jaffe ES. The 2008 WHO classification of lymphomas: implications for clinical practice and translational research. Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program. 2009:523-531.

- Jemal A, Siegel R, Xu J, Ward E. Cancer statistics, 2010. CA Cancer J Clin. 2010; 60:277–300. [PubMed: 20610543].

– Jitschin R, Hofmann AD, Bruns H, Giessl A, Bricks J, Berger J, Saul D, Eckart MJ, Mackensen A, Mougiakakos D: Mitochondrial metabolism contributes to oxidative stress and reveals therapeutic targets in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood 2014, 123:2663–2672.

- Jones DP: Radical-free biology of oxidative stress. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2008, 295:C849–C868.

- N. A. Junglee, S. Shrikanth, and J. R. Seale, "Rapidly progressive renal failure due to chronic lymphocytic leukemia—response to chlorambucil," Indian Journal of Nephrology, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 217–220, 2012.

- Jurisic V, Colovic N, Kraguljac N et al.Analysis of CD23 antigen expression in B-chronic lymphocyticleukaemia and its correlation with clinical parameters, Medical Oncology . September 2008; Volume 25, Issue(3): pp 315-322.

- Ibrahim S, Keating M , et al.CD38 expression as an important prognostic factor in B-cell chroniclymphocytic leukemia, Blood Journal. 1 July 2001;vol. 98(no1) :p 181-186.

#### -*K*-

- Kantor, A. B., Merrill, C. E., Herzenberg, L. A., and Hillson, J. L. An unbiased analysis of V(H)-D-J(H) sequences from B-1a, B-1b, and conventional B cells. J. Immunol. (1997). 158, 1175–1186.

- Kater AP, Evers LM, Remmerswaal EB, Jaspers A, Oosterwijk MF, van Lier RA, van Oers MH, Eldering E. CD40 stimulation of B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukaemia cells enhances the antiapoptotic profile, but also Bid expression and cells remain susceptible to autologous cytotoxic Tlymphocyte attack. Br J Haematol. 2004; 127:404–415. [PubMed: 15521917].

- Kay NE, Shanafelt TD, Strege AK, Lee YK, Bone ND, Raza A. Bone biopsy derived marrow stromal elements rescue chronic lymphocytic leukemia B-cells from spontaneous and drug induced cell death and facilitates an "angiogenic switch". Leuk Res. 2007.

- khan AE, Gallo V, Linseisen et al., Diabetes and the risk of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma and multiple myeloma in the European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition. Haematologica. (2008). 93(6):842-850.

Kipps TJ. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Curr Opin Hematol. 2000;
7:223–34. [PubMed: 10882178].

Kitabayashi A, Kirokawa M, Miura AB. The role of interleukin-10 (IL 10) in chronic B-lymphocytic leukemia: IL-10 prevents leukemic cells from apoptotic cell death. Int J Hematol. 1995;62:99-106.

- Klein U, Dalla-Favera R. Germinal centres: role in B-cell physiology and malignancy, Nat Rev Immunol. 2008;8(1):22–33.

- Kröber A, Bloehdorn J, Hafner S, et al.: Additional genetic high-risk features such as 11q deletion, 17p deletion, and V3-21 usage characterize discordance of ZAP-70 and VH mutation status in chronic lymphocytic leukemia, J ClinOncol . 2006; 24 (6): 969-75.

- Kumar B, Koul S, Khandrika L, Meacham RB, Koul HK: Oxidative stress is inherent in prostate cancer cells and is required for aggressive phenotype. Cancer Res 2008, 68:1777–1785.

- Kumar S, Yedjou CG, Tchounwou PB: Arsenic trioxide induces oxidative stress, DNA damage, and mitochondrial pathway of apoptosis in human leukemia (HL-60) cells. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 2014, 33:42.

Küppers R, Rajewsky K. Developmental and functional biology of B
 lymphocytes. In: Mauch PM, Armitage JO, Coiffier B, Dalla- Favera R, Harris
 NL, eds. Non-Hodgkin's Lymphomas. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams
 & Wilkins; 2004:771-786.

- M. C. Kyrtsonis, E. Koulieris, V. Bartzis et al., "Monoclonal immunoglobulin," in Multiple Myeloma—A Quick Reflection on the Fast Progress, R. Hajek, Ed., 2013.

#### -L-

- Lagneaux L, Delforge A, Bron D, De Bruyn C, Stryckmans P. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells but not normal B cells are rescued from apoptosis by contact with normal bone marrow stromal cells. Blood. 1998; 91:2387–2396. [PubMed: 9516138].

- Lamanna N, Weiss MA, Dunleavy K. Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia and Hairy-Cell Leukemia, Cancer Network. November 2011.Viewed 25 April 2013 at http://www.cancernetwork.com/. - Landry WD, Woolley JF and Cotter TG. Imatinib and Nilotinib inhibit bcr-abl-induced ROS through targeted degradation of the NADPH oxidase subunit p22phox. Leuk Res. Fe; (2013). 37(2):183-9. D.

Lanham S, Hamblin T, Oscier D, Ibbotson R, Stevenson F, Packham G.
 Differential signaling via surface IgM is associated with VH gene mutational status and CD38 expression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood. 2003; 101:1087–1093. [PubMed: 12393552].

- Leach, m., Drummond, m., and Doig, A. Practical Flow Cytometry in Haemattology Diagnosis (2013).

- Lee BN, Estrov Z, Huh Y, et al. Peripheral blood normal polyclonal B cells from patients with B-CLL produce B-cell stimulatory cytokines [abstract 2758]. Proc Am Assoc Cancer Res. 1998;36.

Lichtman MA, Beutler E, KippsT, et al. Williams Hematology .7th
 Edition. McGraw-Hill Medical; Chronic lymphocytic leukemia. 2007.
 :pp1343-1383.

- Lien YH, Lai LW: Pathogenesis, diagnosis and management of paraneoplastic glomerulonephritis. Nat Rev Nephrol 2011, 7(2):85-95.

- Lin KI, Tam CS, Abruzzo LV, et al. IgVH mutational status does not affect complete remission rate but is associated with reduced remission duration in CLL patients treated with fludarabine, cyclophosphamide and rituximab (FCR)- based therapy [abstract]. Blood. 2007;110:232a. Abstract 753.

Lobetti-Bodoni C, Bertoni F, Stussi G, et al. The changing paradigm of chronic lymphocytic leukemia management. Eur J Intern Med. 2013;24 : 401–10.

- Luis Fayad, Michael J, et al., Interleukin-6 and interleukin-10 levels in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: correlation with phenotypic characteristics and outcome, From www.bloodjournal.org by guest on August 6, 2015: NEOPLASIA.

- Lyakhovich VV, Vavilin VA, Zenkov NK, Menshchikova EB. Active defense under oxidative stress. The antioxidant responsive element. Biochemistry (Moscow) 2006;71:962–74.

#### -М-

- Malavasi F, Deaglio S, Damle R, Cutrona G, Ferrarini M, Chiorazzi N. CD38 and chronic lymphocytic leukemia: a decade later. Blood. 2011;118(13):3470-3478.

- Matutes E, Morilla R, et al. Immunophenotyping. In :Bain BJ, Lewis SM. Dacie and LewisPracticalHaematology 11<sup>th</sup> edition. Churchill Livingstone Elsevier; 2011:p368.

- Matutes E, PolliackA.Morphological and immunophenotypic features of chronic lymphocytic leukemia, Rev ClinExpHematol .2000 ; 4: p22-47.

- Mauerer K, Zahrieh D, Gorgun G, Li A, Zhou J, et al. Immunoglobulin gene segment usage, location and immunogenicity in mutated and unmutated chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. Br J Haematol. (2005), 129: 499–510.

- Mauro F, Foa R, Cerretti R, et al. Autoimmune hemolytic anemia in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: clinical, therapeutic, and prognostic features. Blood. 2000; 95:2786–2792. [PubMed: 10779422].

- Merbl, Y., Zucker-Toledano, M., Quintana, F. J., and Cohen, I. R. Newborn humans manifest autoantibodies to defined self molecules detected by antigen microarray informatics. J. Clin. Invest. (2007). 117, 712–718.

- Miao Jonasson J, Cederholm J, Eliasson B, et al., HbA1c and cancer risk in patients with type II diabetes- A nationwide population-Based prospective cohort study in Sweden Plos ONE. (2012). (7):6:e 38784.

Mir M A, MD, FACP.Besa EC(ed), MD. Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia.Medscape. Viewed 10 April 2013 at http://emedicine.medscape.com/article/199313-overview.

- Moreton P, Kennedy B, et al. Eradication of Minimal Residual Disease in B-Cell Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia After Alemtuzumab Therapy Is Associated With Prolonged Survival, Journal of clinical oncology.2005 May 1;23(13):2971-9.

– Muller-Hermelink H, Montserrat E, Catovsky D, Harris N. Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma. In: Jaffe ES, Stein H, Vardiman JW, editors. World Health Organization classification of tumours: pathology and genetics of tumours of hematopoietic and lymphoid tissues. Lyon: IARC Press; 2001. p. 127-30.

– Muller-Hermelink H, Montserrat E, Catovsky D, Harris N. Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma. In: Jaffe ES, Stein H, Vardiman JW, editors. World Health Organization classification of tumours: pathology and genetics of tumours of hematopoietic and lymphoid tissues. Lyon: IARC Press; 2001. p. 127-30.

 Mut-Salud N, Alvarez PJ, Garrido JM, et al. Antioxidant intake and antitumor therapy: Toward Nutritional recommendations for optimal results.
 Oxid Med. Cell. Longevity 2016: volume 2016: Article ID 6719534: 1-19.

#### -N-

- NarcisoNC, Naglis M and Simon G, et al. "Partition and Turnover of Glutathione Reductase from Saccharomyces cerevisiae: a Proteomic Approach". Journal of Proteome Research. (2013). 12 (6): 2885–94.

- Nathan C: Specificity of a third kind: reactive oxygen and nitrogen intermediates in cell signaling. J Clin Invest 2003, 111:769–778.

- Nishiura T, Suzuki K, Kawaguchi T, Nakao H, Kawamura N, Taniguchi M, Kanayama Y, Yonezawa T, Iizuka S, and Taniguchi N. Elevated serum manganese superoxide dismutase in acute leukemias. Cancer Lett 62: 211–215, 1992.

 Nogueira V, Nissim Hay. Molecular pathways: reactive oxygen species homeostasis in cancer cells and implications for cancer therapy. Clin Cancer Res. 2013: 19 4309-14.

#### -0-

- A. M. Oltra, F. Carbonell, C. Tormos, A. Iradi, and G. T. Saez, "Antioxidant enzyme activities and the production of MDA and 8-oxo-dG in chronic lymphocytic leukemia," Free Radical Biology & Medicine, vol. 30, no. 11, pp. 1286–1292, 2001.

- Ono K, Suzushima H, Watanabe Y, et al., Rapid amelioration of hyperglycemia facilitated by Dasatinib in a CML patient with type II diabetes mellitus. Intern (2012), 51:2763-2766.

Orchard JA, Ibbotson RE, Davis Z, Wiestner A, Rosenwald A, Thomas
 PW, Hamblin TJ, Staudt LM, Oscier DG: ZAP-70 expression and prognosis in
 chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. Lancet 2004, 363:105–111.

Ortolani, Claudio.CD38 Antigen: In Claudio Ortolani. Flow cytometry of hematological malignancies, first edition .John Wiley & Sons .2011; pp: 68-69.

#### -P-

Panayiotidis P, Jones D, Ganeshaguru K, Foroni L, Hoffbrand AV.
 Human bone marrow stromal cells prevent apoptosis and support the survival of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia cells in vitro. Br J Haematol. 1996; 92:97–103. [PubMed: 8562418].

- Pan JW, Cook LS, Schwartz SM and Weis NS: Incidence of leukemia in Asian migrants to the United States and their descendants. Cancer Causes Control 13: 791-795, 2002.

- PARTEC. CyFlow<sup>®</sup>. Erythrocyte Lysing Reagent Kit for wash and no wash procedures. Product Data Sheet.

- Peklak-Scott C, Townsend AJ, Morrow CS. Dynamics of glutathione conjugation and conjugate efflux in detoxification of the carcinogen, 4-nitroquinoline 1-oxide: contributions of glutathione, glutathione S-transferase, and MRP1. Biochemistry 2005;44:4426–33.

- Pettitt AR, Dreger P, et al. Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia, Lymphoma Association .Produced 03.02.2012.

- Mc Pherson, M.J and MØller, S.G. PCR the basic background to bench .Cron well Press, Trowbridge, U.K (2001).

- Poeta G D, Maurillo L, et al. Clinical significance of CD38 expression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia,Blood Journal. 2001; 98: 2633-2639.

Pompella A, Visvikis A, Paolicchi A, Tata V, Casini AF. "The changing faces of glutathione, a cellular protagonist". Biochemical Pharmacology. (2003). 66 (8): 1499–503.

- Poschke I, Mougiakakos D, Kiessling R. Camouflage and sabotage: tumor escape from the immune system. Cancer Immunol Immunother. 2011;60(8):1161-1171.

- Pospisilova S, Gonzalez D, et al. ERIC recommendations on TP53 mutation analysis in chronic lymphocytic leukemia, Leukemia. 2012;26(7):1458–1461.

#### -R-

- Racil Z, Razga F, Drapalova J, et al., . Mechanism of impaired glucose metabolism during nilotinib therapy in patient with CML. Haematology (2013): 98:e 124.

- Rai KR and Keating MJ: Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia. Chapter 127. Cancer Medicine. 6th edition. BC Decker, Hamilton, ON, 2000. - Rai KR, Sawitsky A, Cronkite EP, Chanana AD, Levy RN, PasternackBS: Clinical staging of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood 1975,46:219–234.

Ralph S, Rodriguez-Enviquez S, Neuzil J, et al. The causes of revisited:
 "mitochondrial malignancy" and ROS-induced oncogenic transformation-why
 mitochondria are targets for cancer therapy. Mol Aspicts Med. 2010: 31: 145 70.

- Rassenti LZ, et al. ZAP-70 compared with immunoglobulin heavy-chain gene mutation status as a predictor of disease progression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2004; 351(9): 893–901. [PubMed: 15329427].

- Rawstron AC, Green MJ, Kuzmicki A, Kennedy B, Fenton JA, Evans PA, et al. Monoclonal B lymphocytes with the characteristics of "indolent" chronic lymphocytic leukemia are present in 3.5% of adults with normal blood counts. Blood 2002;100:635-9.

- Reittie JE, Yong KL, Panayiotidis P, Hoffbrand AV. Interleukin-6 inhibits apoptosis and tumour necrosis factor induced proliferation of B-chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leuk Lymphoma. 1996;22:83-90.

- Renschler MF: The emerging role of reactive oxygen species in cancer therapy. Eur J Cancer 2004, 40:1934–1940.

- Robak E. Skin lesions in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Leuk Lymphoma. 2007; 48:855–865. [PubMed: 17487727].

- Robak T, Blonski JZ, Kasznicki M, et al. Cladribine with or without prednisone in the treatment of previously treated and untreated B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia-updated results of the multicentre study of 378 patients. Br J Haematol. 2000; 108:357–368. [PubMed: 10691866].

 Ristow M, Zarse K: How increased oxidative stress promotes longevity and metabolic health: The concept of mitochondrial hormesis (mitohormesis).
 Exp Gerontol 2010, 45:410–418. - Rosenwald A, Alizadeh AA, Widhopf G, Simon R, Davis RE, Yu X, Yang L, Pickeral OK, Rassenti LZ, Powell J, Botstein D, Byrd JC, Grever MR, Cheson BD, Chiorazzi N, Wilson WH, Kipps TJ, Brown PO, Staudt LM: Relation of gene expression phenotype to immunoglobulin mutation genotype in B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. J Exp Med 2001, 194:1639-1647.

- Rossi FM, Del Principe MI, Rossi D, Irno Consalvo M, Luciano F, Zucchetto A, Bulian P, Bomben R, Dal Bo M, Fangazio M, Benedetti D, Degan M, Gaidano G, Del Poeta G, Gattei V: Prognostic impact of ZAP-70 expression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: mean fluorescence intensity T/B ratio versus percentage of positive cells. J Transl Med 2010, 8:23.

– D. Rossi, S. Rasi, V. Spina et al., "Integrated mutational and cytogenetic analysis identifies new prognostic subgroups in chronic lymphocytic leukemia," Blood, vol. 121, no. 8, pp. 1403–1412, 2013.

Rozman C, Montserrat E. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia. N Engl J Med.
 1995;333:1052-1057.

#### -S-

Sambrook, J.; Maniatis, T.; Fritsch, E.F. Molecular cloning: A labrotray Manual.cold spring harbor labrotray press, Cold Spring Harbor, N.Y. (1989).

- Sandes AF, de Lourdes Chauffaille M, Oliveira CR, Maekawa Y, Tamashiro N, Takao TT, et al. CD200 has an important role in the differential diagnosis of mature B-cell neoplasms by multiparameter flow cytometry. Cytometry Part B, Clinical cytometry. (2013).

- Sawtisky A, Ri KR, Glidewell O, et al., comparison of daily versus in the treatment of patients with CLL .Blood, (1977), 50:6:1049-1059.

- Schroeder HW Jr, Dighiero G. The pathogenesis of chronic lymphocytic leukemia: analysis of the antibody repertoire. Immunol Today. 1994;15:288-294.

- Schulz A, Toedt G, Zenz T, Stilgenbauer S, Lichter P, Seiffert M. Inflammatory cytokines and signaling pathways are associated with survival of primary chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells in vitro: a dominant role of CCL2. Haematologica. 2011;96(3):408-416.

- Schwartz J, Shamsuddin A. The effects of leukemic infiltrates in various organs in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Hum Pathol 1981; 12: 432–440.

- Shalev, I., Schmelzle, M., Robson, S.C. and Levy, G. Making sense of regulatory T cell suppressive function. Semin Immunol., (2011). 23: 282-292.

- Schweighoffer E, Vanes L, Mathiot A, Nakamura T, Tybulewicz VL. Unexpected requirement for ZAP-70 in pre-B cell development and allelic exclusion. Immunity. 2003; 18:523–33. [PubMed: 12705855].

- Simons A, Shaffer LG, Hastings RJ. Cytogenetic Nomenclature: Changes in the ISCN 2013 Compared to the 2009 Edition. Cytogenetic and genome research. (2013).

- Snedecor GW and Cochran WG. Statistical Methods. Iowa State University Press. Ames. (1976).

- Soldevila G, Raman C, Lozano F. The immunomodulatory properties of the CD5 lymphocyte receptor in health and disease. Curr Opin Immunol. 2011; 23(3):310-318.

- Stilgenbauer S, Döhner K, Bentz M, Lichter P, Döhner H: Molecular cytogenetic analysis of B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Ann Hematol 1998, 76:101-110.

Summersgill B, Thornton P, Atkinson S, Matutes E, Shipley J, Catovsky
 D, Houlston RS, Yuille MR: Chromosomal imbalances in familial chronic
 lymphocytic leukaemia: a comparative genomic hybridisation analysis.
 Leukemia 2002, 16:1229-1232.

- SUZUKI Y, SCHICHISHIMA T, YAMASHIRO Y. ET AL., APATIENT WITH AML PRESENTING WITH AN EXTREMELY HIGH LEVEL (21.0%) OF HBA1C. ANN CLIN BIOCH:(2011), 48(PT5): 474-7. (PMID:21606072).

- Swerdlow S.H., Campo E., Harris N.L., Jaffe E.S., Pileri S.A., Stein H., et al. Introduction and overview of the classification of the lymphoid neoplasms. In WHO Classification of Tumours of Haematopoietic and Lymphoid Tissues. 4th ed. Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) 2008; (157-166).

#### -*T*-

- Tang-Feldman, Y.J., Lochhead, G.R., Lochhead, S.R., Yu, C. and Pomeroy, C. Interleukin-10 repletion suppresses pro-inflammatory cytokines and decreases liver pathology without altering viral replication in murine cytomegalovirus (MCMV)-infected IL-10 knockout mice. Inflamm Res. (2011). 60: 233-243.

- Tiu RV, Mountantonakis SE, Dunbar AJ, Schreiber MJ Jr. Tumor lysis syndrome. Semin Thromb Hemost. 2007; 33:397–407. [PubMed: 17525897].

- Tobin G, Thunberg U, Johnson A, et al. Chronic lymphocytic leukemias utilizing the VH3-21 gene display highly restricted Vlambda2–14 gene use and homologous CDR3s: implicating recognition of a common antigen epitope. Blood. 2003; 101:4952–4957. [PubMed: 12586612].

- Tosi P, Barosi G, Lazzaro C, Liso V, Marchetti M, Morra E, et al. Consensus conference on the management of tumor lysis syndrome. Haematologica. 2008; 93:1877–1885. [PubMed: 18838473].

- Tracotham D, Alexandre J, Huang P, et al. targeting cancer cells by ROS-mediated mechanisms: a radical therapeutic approach? Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2009: 8: 579-91.

- Troutt, A.B.; McHeyzer-Williams, M.G.; Pulendran, B. and Nossal, G.J.V. Ligation-anchored PCR: A simple amplification technique with single-sided specificity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. (1992). 89: 9823–9825.

- AM Tsimberidou, Wen S, McLaughlin P, et al. Other malignancies in chronic lymphocytic leukemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma. J Clin Oncol. 2009; 27:904–910. [PubMed: 19114699].

- M. Tsimberidou, S. Wen, S. O'Brien et al., "Assessment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia and small lymphocytic lymphoma by absolute lymphocyte counts in 2,126 patients: 20 years of experience at the University of Texas M.D. Anderson Cancer Center," Journal of Clinical Oncology, vol. 25, no. 29, pp. 4648–4656, 2007.

- Tsukada N, Burger JA, Zvaifler NJet al. Distinctive features of "nurselike" cells that differentiate in the context of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Blood. 2002; 99:1030–1037. [PubMed: 11807009].

#### -*V*-

Valko M, Leibfritz D, Moncol J, Cronin MT, Mazur M, Telser J: Free radicals and antioxidants in normal physiological functions and human disease.
 Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2007, 39:44–84.

- Valko M, Rhodes CJ, Moncol J, Izakovic M, Mazur M: Free radicals, metals and antioxidants in oxidative stress-induced cancer. Chem Biol Interact 2006, 160:1–40.

- Van Kooten C, Rensink I, Aarden L, van Oers R. Effect of IL-4 and IL-6 on the proliferation and differentation of B-chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells. Leu kemia 1993: 7: 618–24.

- Van Snick J. Interleukin-6: an overview. Annu Rev Immunol. 1990;8:253-278.

- Vassilakopoulos TP ; Nadali G.; Angelopoulou MK ; Siakantaris MP ; Dimopoulou MN ; Kontopidou FN ; Rassidakis GZ ; Doussis-Anagnostopoulou IA ; Hatzioannou M. ; Vaiopoulos G. Serum interleukin-10 levels are an independent prognostic factor Haematologia. (2001): 86:274–281.

#### -U-

- Udensi and Tchounwou Journal of Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research (2014) 33:106 DOI 10.1186/s13046-014-0106-5.

#### -*W*-

- Wadhwa PD, Morrison VA. Infectious complications of chronic lymphocytic leukemia, SeminOncol. 2006 Apr;33(2):240-9.

- Weinberg F, Chandel NS: Reactive oxygen species-dependent signaling regulates cancer. Cell Mol Life Sci 2009, 66:3663–3673.

- Wierda, W.G.; Admirand, J. H. and O'Brien, S.M. Chronic lymphocytic leukemia: clinical features and making the diagnosis. In: Sekeres, M.A.; Kalaycio, M.E. and Brian J. Bolwell, B.J. (Eds.). Clinical Malignant Hematology. McGraw-Hill Inc. USA. (2007). pp: 225-234.

- Wiestner A, Rosenwald A, Barry TS, et al. ZAP-70 expression identifies a chronic lymphocytic leukemia subtype with unmutated immunoglobulin genes, inferior clinical outcome, and distinct gene expression profile. Blood. 2003; 101(12):4944–4951. [PubMed: 12595313].

– J. Y. Wilputte, J. P. Martinet, P. Nguyen, P. Damoiseaux, J. Rahier, and A. Geubel, "Chronic lymphocytic leukemia with portal hypertension and without liver involvement: a case report underlining the roles of increased spleno-portal blood flow and "protective" sinusoidal vasoconstriction," Acta GastroEnterologica Belgica, vol. 66, no. 4, pp. 303–306, 2003.

- Wojciech Gorczyca. Introduction. In Flow cytometry in neoplastic hematology morphologic and immunophenotypic correlation .second edition Taylor & Francis Group,CRC Press. Boca Raton, FL, USA. 2010; pp: 1-17.

- Wu G, Fang YZ, Yang S, Lupton JR, Turner ND. (2004). Glutathione Metabolism and Its Implications for Health. J Nutr; 134:489-92.

- www.partec.com/applications.html accessed at July,10,2013.

#### -X-

- Xu C-X, Zhu H-H, Zhu Y-M. Diseases and cancer: Associations, mechanisms, and implications for medical practice. Word J diabetes (2014):5:372-80

#### -Y-

- Yaghmaie, M.; Ghaffari, S.; Ghavamazadeh, A.; Alimoghaddam, K.; Jahani, M.; Mousavi, S.A.; Irvani, M.; Bahar, B.; Biordi, I. Frequency of BCR-ABL fusion transcript in Iranian patients with chronic myeloid leukemia. (2008). 11(3):274-251.

- Yamauchi T, Nowak BJ, Keating MJ, Plunkett W. DNA repair initiated in chronic lymphocytic leukemia lymphocytes by 4hydroperoxycyclophosphamide is inhibited by fludarabine and clofarabine. Clin Cancer Res. 2001; 17:3580–3589.

- Yetgin S, Yelcin SS, Ozbek N. Clinical value of glycated hemoglobin and frucosamine in the long-term glycemic control of children with AML, (1998).

- Yogo Y, Sugimoto C, Zhong S et al. Evolution of the BK polyomavirus: epidemiological, anthropological and clinical implications. Rev Med Virol 2009; 19: 185–199.
- Zelen I, Djurdjevic P, Popovic S, et al. Antioxidant enzymes activities and plasma levels of oxidative stress markers in B-CLL. J BOUN. 2010: 15:330-6. [PMID: 20658731].

- Zent CS, Ding W, Schwager SM, et al. The prognostic significance of cytopenia in chronic lymphocytic leukemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma (CLL). Br J Haematol 2008;141:615–621. [PubMed: 18373706].

- Zent CS, MD ,Kay NE, MD.Autoimmune Complications in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia (CLL), Best Pract Res ClinHaematol. 2010 March; 23(1): 47–59.

- Zhou Y, Hileman EO, Plunkett W, Keating MJ, Huang P. Free radical stress in chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells and its role in cellular sensitivity to ROS-generating anticancer agents. Blood. 2003;101(10):4098-4104

- De Zwart LL; Meerman JM, Commandeue JM, et al. Biomarkers of free radical damage applications in experimental animals and in humans. Free radic Biol Med. 1999; 26: 202-26.

Subject oN :( )

Date: / /20 -Subject name: (). **2- Age:** () years. **1- Gender:** 3- Old CLL: (): Type of treatment: chemotherapy (). **NEW CLL case** (): No treatment before. Healthy Control: (). 4- Staging at diagnosis (Binet system): **Binet stage A** (), Binet stage B (), **Binet stage C( ). 5-Dress:** phone no. () years: 6- Duration of disease: () Months. 7-Any other diseases: -Diabetes (): Duration of diabetes: - High Blood Pressure (): **Obesity** : ( ), Smoking (). 9- History of present illness yes: (): NO(). **10- Investigations:** 

NO.	Tests	Results
1		
2		
4		
5		
6		

Clinical examination: (	).	Presence of hepatomegaly:	().
Presence of LN enlargement: (	).	Presence of splenomegaly:	().

 Hematological profile in control, old treated diabetic and non diabetic CLL patients.

		Old treated CLL Patients		
Parameters	Control(n=19)	Diabetic(n=11)	Non Diabetic (n=26)	
WBCs (10 <sup>9</sup> /L)	6.7±1.39 <sup>a</sup>	6.7±4.97	14.1±23.68 <sup>a</sup>	
Lymphocytes (10 <sup>9</sup> /L)	2.3±0.64 <sup>a</sup>	4.3±5.17 <sup>a</sup>	5.6±7.54 <sup>a</sup>	
RBCs $(10^{12}/L)$	4.5±0.56 <sup>a</sup>	4.0±0.63 <sup>ab</sup>	3.9±0.83 <sup>b</sup>	
Hb (g/dl)	12.97±1.40 <sup>a</sup>	11.51±1.19 <sup>b</sup>	12.09±1.67 <sup>ab</sup>	
PCV (%)	40±5.5 <sup>a</sup>	35±6.32 <sup>a</sup>	36±6.27 <sup>a</sup>	
PLT (10 <sup>9</sup> /L)	320±69 <sup>a</sup>	159±81 <sup>b</sup>	199±67 <sup>b</sup>	
ESR(mm/hr.)	15±9.31 <sup>a</sup>	30±3.75 <sup>b</sup>	27±8.67 <sup>b</sup>	

Values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). Value with (a) is normal. Values with different letters within each parameter are significantly different (P<0.05)

 Biochemical profiles in control, old treated diabetic and non diabetic CLL patients.

		Old treated CLL Patients		
Parameters	Control	Diabetic	Non Diabetic	
	( <b>n=19</b> )	(n=11)	(n=26)	
Cholesterol (mg/dl)	190±24.86 <sup>a</sup>	220±37.69 <sup>a</sup>	212±44.50 <sup>a</sup>	
Triglycerides (mg/dl)	194±29.12	188±21.91 <sup>a</sup>	200±44.65 <sup>a</sup>	
Blood urea (mg/dl)	32±6.80 <sup>a</sup>	40±5.15 <sup>b</sup>	36±5.54 <sup>ab</sup>	
S. Creatinine (mg/dl)	0.94±0.17 <sup>a</sup>	1.19±0.31 <sup>b</sup>	1.06±0.26 <sup>ab</sup>	
AST(iu)	6.15±2.16 <sup>a</sup>	9.30±4.32	9.88±8.83 <sup>a</sup>	
ALT (iu)	6.89±1.76 <sup>a</sup>	10.0±4.88 <sup>b</sup>	8.28±2.30 <sup>ab</sup>	
Total serum bilirubin (mg/dl)	0.92±3.05 <sup>a</sup>	1.11±2.95 <sup>b</sup>	1.12±2.79 <sup>b</sup>	
Albumin (gm/l)	42±4.98 <sup>a</sup>	48±10.65 b	52±12.23 <sup>b</sup>	
Serum uric acid (mg/dl)	5.2±0.99 <sup>a</sup>	7.0±077 <sup>b</sup>	7.1±0.83 <sup>b</sup>	

Values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). Value with (a) is normal. Values with different letters within each parameter are significantly different (P<0.05)

 Antioxidant profile in control, old treated diabetic and non diabetic CLL patients.

		Old treated CLL Patients		
Parameters	Control (n=19)	Diabetic (n=13)	Non Diabetic (n=24)	
Glutathione (GSH) (µg/ml)	26.45±3.78 <sup>a</sup>	7.45±2.85 <sup>b</sup>	8.52±1.78 <sup>b</sup>	
Malondialdehyde MDA (nmol/ml)	2.09±0.94 <sup>a</sup>	3.09±1.08 <sup>b</sup>	4.24±1.78 <sup>c</sup>	

Values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). Value with (a) is normal. Values with different letters within each parameter are significantly different (P<0.05)

## Immunological profile in control, old treated diabetic and non diabetic CLL patients.

	Control (n=19)	Treated CLL Patients		
Parameters		Diabetic	Non Diabetic	
		(n=13)	(n=24)	
CD-5 %	7.33±7.31 <sup>a</sup>	71.0±18.49 <sup>b</sup>	69.12±14.30 <sup>b</sup>	
CD-38 %	5.46±6.80 <sup>a</sup>	32.69±17.70 <sup>b</sup>	33.28±19.95 b	
ZAP-70 %	7.09±8.32 <sup>a</sup>	9.96±10.0 <sup>a</sup>	6.84±10.68 <sup>a</sup>	

Values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). Value with (a) is normal. Values with different letters within each parameter are significantly different (P<0.05)

 Proinflammatory Cytokines profile in control, old treated diabetic and non diabetic CLL patients.

Demonstration	Control (n=19)	Treated CLL Patients	
Parameters		Diabetic (n=13)	Non Diabetic (n=24)
IL-6 pg/ml	0.50±0.31 <sup>a</sup>	1.60±1.24 <sup>ab</sup>	2.32±1.83 <sup>b</sup>
IL-10 pg/ml	48.31±23.89 <sup>a</sup>	100.46±85.78 <sup>b</sup>	77.2±48.44 <sup>ab</sup>

Values are expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD). Value with (a) is normal. Values with different letters within each parameter are significantly different (P<0.05)

## اللخص

سرطان الدم اللمفاوي المزمن هو خلايا دم لمفاويه خبيثة [مونوكلونل] تتميز بتراكمها بمراحلها الصغيرة والناضجة في الدم ونخاع العظام والأنسجة الأخرى، و هذه الخلايا اللمفيه من فئة B تتطور وتتكاثر بطريقة خاطئة مما يؤدي إلى اضطراب في المناعة، وعادة ما تتميز هذه الخلايا عن بعضها بالمستضدات اللمفاوية المرتبطة، الفروع CD5,CD38 and) (2AP-70 لطريقة مستخدمة للكشف عنها هي جهاز التدفق الخلوي.

الهدف من هذه الدراسة هو القحري عن التغيرات في التحاليل المناعية والكيمياء الحيوية ، والجزيئية في مرضى سرطان الدم اللمفاوي المزمن لمرضى العراقيين بهذا المرض.

وأجريت هذه الدراسة على ( 55) مريض بسرطان الدم اللمفاوي المزمن في المركز الوطني لبحوث وعلاج إمراض الدم في الجامعة ألمستنصريه.

حيث أن المرضى قد شملوا (18) مريض مصاب حديثا، من ضمنهم (12) رجل و (6) نساء، بمتوسط عمر (25±12) سنه ومعدل عمر (40-80) سنه. وحسب نظام التدرج ل- Binet في مرضى سرطان الدم اللمفاوي المزمن ، كان (10) من المرضى هم ضمن المستوى (8) و(8) من المرضى هم ضمن المستوى ( $\mathbf{C}$ ). و شملت هذه الدراسة أيضا ( $\mathbf{75}$ ) مريض بسرطان الدم اللمفاوي المزمن معالج، من ضمنهم (28) رجل و (9) نساء بمتوسط عمر (57 ± 9) سنه ومعدل عمر ( $\mathbf{75}$ -17) سنه. وأيضا ( $\mathbf{25}$ ) مريض من هذه ألمجموعه كانوا ضمن المستوى ( $\mathbf{B}$ ) و (14) من المرضى ضمن المستوى ( $\mathbf{75}$ ) مريض من هذه ألمجموعه كانوا ضمن وكذلك تضمنت الدراسة أيضا 19 شخص طبيعي أصحاء من ضمنهم تسعه رجال و عشرة نساء بمتوسط عمر ( $\mathbf{16}$  ± 17) سنه ومعدل عمر ( $\mathbf{70}$ ) سبب نظام التدرج إلى الم

وقد أظهرت فحوصات صورة الدم الكاملة لمرضى سرطان الدم اللمفاوي المزمن للهصاب حديثا زيادة واضحة في عدد كريات الدم البيضاء مع فقر دم خفيف الشدة و قله في عدد الصفائح الدموية مع زيادة ملحوظة بمعدل ترسيب الكريات الدم الحمراء بالمقارنة مع القراءات للأشخاص الأصحاء. و بعد متابعه نتائج التحاليل إلى المرضى المصابين حديثا بعد أعطائهم جرع العلاج من ((Rituximab, Fludarabine, Cyclophosphamide (RFC)) بفترة زمنية (1-8) شهر و بمعدل (4.5) شهر.

وقد لوحظ ان التغيرات الهامة في الاختبارات الكيمياحيوي في المصابين حديثا كانت زيادة في مستوى الألبومين و حامض اليوريك في بلازما الدم و و جد أيضا أن العلاج (RFC) لم يرجعهما إلى المستوى الطبيعي بالمقارنة مع الأصحاء. وأوضحت النتائج ايضا وجود انخفاض هام في مستويات الكلوتاثيون في البلازما للأشخاص المصابين حديثا بالمرض. علاوة على ذلك، وجد أيضا زيادة همة من المستوى الأساسي للمالوندايالديهايد MDA، حيث ان العلاج (RFC) لم العلاج (RFC) لم في مستويات الكلوتاثيون في المقارنة مع الأصحاء. وأوضحت النتائج ايضا وجود انخفاض هام في مستويات الكلوتاثيون في البلازما للأشخاص المصابين حديثا بالمرض. علاوة على ذلك، وجد أيضا زيادة هامة من المستوى الأساسي للمالوندايالديهايد MDA، حيث ان العلاج (RFC) لم يستطع من معادلتهما، مما يشير إلى وجود إلى زيادة في مستوى الأكسدة الداخلي في مرضى سرطان الدم اللمفاوي المزمن. وعلاوة على ذلك، فقد اظهر خمسة مرضى

من (18) المشخصين حديثا (27.8٪) بانهم مصابين بالسكري (النوع الثاني)، حيث تبين بان لديهم زيادة هامة في سكر الدم ومستوى HbA1c في الخلايا الحمراء.

وأظهرت الفروع اللمفاوية ( CD5 و CD38 وZAP-70 ) زيادة هامة في الأشخاص المصابين حديثا بالمرض، ,ويماثلها بالزيادة ( IL-6 و IL-10) في بلازما الدم للأشخاص المصابين حديثا. حيث إن العلاج (RFC) لم يستطع سوى ارجاع الزيادة في إنتاج ZAP-70 فقط الى المستوى الطبيعي.

وأما نتائج التحليل الجزيئي في RT-PCR أظهرت بان هنالك 3/ 8لديهم طفرة في glvH من الأشخاص المصابين حديثًا بالمرض، و 8/4 لديهم طفرة في IgVH من المعالجين، ولم تظهر أي طفرة ملحوظة في الأشخاص الطبيعيين.

وهنالك أيضا 37 مريض معالج قديما من مرضى سرطان الدم اللمفاوي المزمن لفترة تمتد من 4 أشهر إلى 8.5 سنة وبمعدل 21.5 شهر، اظهروا نتائج مشابه إلى نتائج المرضى المصابين حديثا والمتابعين بالفترة (4.5) شهر بواسطة العلاج (RFC).

وعلاوة على ذلك، فقد اظهر (11) مريضا من أصل 37 (29.7) من المعالجين بانهم مصابين بالسكري النوع الثاني حيث اظهروا ارتفاع السكر في الدم وفي مستويات HbA1c في الكريات الدم الحمراء بالمقارنة مع مستوى سكر الدم في اقرانهم غير المصابين بالسكري من المعالجين.

وبالاستنتاج، فان هذه الدراسة أظهرت وجود مختلف التغيرات في المقاييس المناعية والكيمياحيوية، والجزيئية في مرضى سرطان الدم اللمفاوي المزمن. والاستنتاج المثير للاهتمام كان وجود (16) من أصل ( 55) مريض بسرطان الدم اللمفاوي المزمن (أي 29٪) لديهم مرض السكري من النوع الثاني و المتميز بارتفاع في الكلوكوز في الدم و HbA1c في خلايا الدم الحمراء. وتوصي هذه الدراسه بلجراء الهزيد من الدراسات لتقييم أهميتها السريرية وعما إذا كان ممكنا أو لم يكن ممكنا اعتبار ارتفاع مستوى HbA1c كعامل خطورة لحدوث

جمهورية العراق وزارة التعليم العالي والبحث العلمي جامعة النهرين كلية العلوم قسم التقانة الإحيائية



## التغيرات الكيموحيوية والمناعية والجزيئية لمرضى أبيضاض الدم اللمفاوي المزمن لعينة من المرضى العراقيين

أطروحة

مقدمة إلى كلية العلوم/ جامعة النهرين الحجزء من متطلبات نيل درجة دكتوراه فلسفة في علوم التقانة الإحيائيّ

من قبل

## حيدر صادق عبد الحسن الظاهري

بكالوريوس في التقانة الإحيائية - جامعة النهرين-2003 ماجستير في التقانة الإحيائية - جامعة النهرين- 2007

أشرف عليها

الأستاذ الدكتور **صالح احمد وو هيب**  الأستاذ الدكتور علاء فاضل علوان

حزیران ۲۰۱۶م

رمضان 1437هـ